SANTA CRUZ MID-COUNTY GROUNDWATER AGENCY
Board of Directors Regular Meeting
Thursday, March 18, 2021 at 7:00 p.m.
In response to COVID-19, on March 17, 2020, the Governor issued Executive
Order N-29-20 which waived certain provisions of the Brown Act and allowed
public meetings to be conducted via teleconferencing or other electronic means.
The information below provides an opportunity for members of the Board and the
public to participate in a simultaneous webcast or to join by telephone.
Webcast (audio and video): https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/375647605
To dial in by phone: United States: +1 (408) 650-3123
Access Code: 375-647-605

AGENDA
1.

Call to Order

2.

Roll Call

3.

Oral Communications Related to Items Not on the Agenda
Issues within the purview of the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency
(MGA). Guidelines attached.

4.

Consent Agenda
4.1 Approve November 19, 2020 Board Meeting Minutes (no memo)
4.2 Acknowledge Member Agency Board Appointments (Page 11)
Staff Recommendation
4.3 Accept Audited 2019/2020 Financial Statements (Page 12)
Staff Recommendation
4.4 Adopt Board Meeting Schedule for 2021 (Page 35)
Staff Recommendation
4.5 Approve Purchase and Filing of Official Bond for MGA Treasurer
(Page 36) Staff Recommendation
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5.

6.

General Business
5.1 Approve Submittal of the Santa Cruz Mid-County Basin Water
Year 2020 Annual Report to the Department of Water Resources
(Page 37) Staff Recommendation
5.2 Review Budget for Fiscal Year 2020-21 and Preliminary Budget for
2021-20225.
(Page 52) Staff Recommendation
5.3 Approve Monitoring and Data Management Fund Agreement
Between MGA and the County of Santa Cruz
(Page 63) Staff Recommendation
5.4 Approve Formation of a Temporary Committee on Consultant
Selection for Non-De Minimis Metering Program
(Page 94) Staff Recommendation
5.5 Provide Direction on Proposed Amendments to Governance
Documents and Agency Staffing
(Page 97) Staff Recommendation
5.6 Adopt MGA Board Resolution for ACWA/JPIA Nomination
(Page 184) Staff Recommendation
Informational Updates
6.1 Treasurer’s Report (Page 189)
6.2 Staff Reports
6.2.1 Oral Reports
 Reminder on filing of 2020 Form 700
 Staff report to Board on Key Person Insurance
 Staff update on Data Management System
 Other

7.

Future Agenda Items

8.

Written Communications and Submitted Materials (Page 196)
8.1 Email communications from Becky Steinbruner dated November
22, 2020

9.

Adjournment

Next Board Meeting: June 17, 2021
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GUIDANCE FOR WRITTEN AND ORAL COMMUNICATIONS AND DISABILITY ACCESS
WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS
Written communications to the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency (MGA) Board may be submitted
as follows:
• Via email: comment@midcountygroundwater.org
• Via mail or hand delivery: MGA Board of Directors, c/o Emma Olin, 5180 Soquel Drive, Soquel, CA
95073
Deadlines for Submittal:
• Written communications received by 4:00 p.m. on the Tuesday of the week prior to a regularly
scheduled (Thursday) Board meeting will be posted on the MGA website and included in the Board
meeting materials packet.
• Written communications received after the 4:00 p.m. deadline will be posted on the MGA website and
Board members informed of the communications at the earliest opportunity.
• Written communications received after the Board meeting materials packet has been distributed will
be posted on the MGA website and Board members informed of the communications at the earliest
opportunity.
• Please note, communications received after 9:00am the day before the Board Meeting may not have
time to reach Board members, nor be read by them prior to consideration of an item.
• Written communications received at a Board meeting will be distributed to Board members and posted
on the MGA website at the earliest possibility.
Any written communication submitted to the Board will be made available on the MGA website
at http://www.midcountygroundwater.org/committee-meetings and constitutes a public record. Please do not
include any private information in your communication that you do not want made available to the public.
ORAL COMMUNICATIONS
MGA Board meeting agendas set aside time for oral communications regarding items not on the agenda but
within the purview of the MGA. Oral communications are also heard during the consideration of an agenda
item.
Organized groups wishing to make an oral presentation to the Board may contact Laura Partch at 831-6622053 or admin@midcountygroundwater.org, preferably at least two weeks prior to the meeting.
Anyone wishing to provide public comment should come to the front of the room to be recognized by the Board
Chair. Individual comments are limited to three (3) minutes; a maximum time of 15 minutes is set aside each
time for oral communications. The time limits may be increased or decreased at the Board Chair’s discretion.
Speakers must address the entire Board; dialogue is not permitted between speakers and other members of the
public or Board members, or among Board members.
While the Board may not take any action based upon oral communications, an issue raised during oral
communications may be placed on the agenda for a future Board meeting.
DISABILITY ACCESS: Please contact Laura Partch at admin@midcountygroundwater.org or 831-662-2053
for information or to request an accommodation.
Revised November 19, 2020
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SANTA CRUZ MID-COUNTY GROUNDWATER AGENCY
Board of Directors Remote-Access Meeting
Thursday, November 19, 2020 – 7:00 p.m.

DRAFT MINUTES
1.

Call to Order

The meeting was called to order at 7:00 by Chair LaHue.
2.

Roll Call

Directors present: Curt Abramson, David Baskin, Bruce Daniels, Zach Friend, Jon
Kennedy, Jim Kerr, Tom LaHue, Cynthia Mathews, and Marco Romanini.
Alternate Director present: Allyson Violante.
Directors absent: John Leopold and Rob Marani.
Staff present: Ralph Bracamonte, Ron Duncan, Rosemary Menard, John Ricker, Tim
Carson, Sierra Ryan, Leslie Strohm, Laura Partch.
Others present: Becky Steinbruner and one other member of the public.
The Chair thanked and acknowledged the significant contributions of departing
Board member Cynthia Mathews and Executive Team member John Ricker.
Staff noted the meeting was being conducted remotely pursuant to COVID-19 public
health orders and provided directions and guidance for board and public
participation.
3.

Oral Communications Related to Items Not on the Agenda

Becky Steinbruner asked the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency (MGA)
to pursue grant money from the Department of Water Resources (DWR) for a
rudimentary version of the SkyTem survey, and provide more information to private
well owners both in general and through a workshop with the Local Agency
Formation Commission (LAFCO).
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4.

Consent Agenda
4.1 Approve Minutes from September 17, 2020, Board Meeting (no memo)
4.2 Biennial Review of Conflict of Interest Code
4.3 Approve Guidance for Public Participation in Santa Cruz Mid-County
Groundwater Agency (MGA) Board Meetings

Public Comment:
Becky Steinbruner requested clarifications on Items 4.2 and 4.3.
MOTION: Director Daniels; Second, Director Mathews. To approve the consent
agenda. Motion passed unanimously by roll call vote.
5.

General Business
5.1 Approve Consultant Selection and Planning and Technical Services for
Groundwater Sustainability Plan Implementation and Reporting
Professional Services Agreement

Staff report that in September 2020, the MGA issued a Request for Statements of
Qualifications (RFQ) from qualified consultants to provide Planning and Technical
Services for the Groundwater Sustainability Plan (GSP) implementation and
reporting. Staff reported the RFQ was sent to ten firms and posted on the MGA
website. The purpose of the RFQ is to select a consultant to enter into a multi-year
agreement to perform services, including four main tasks: 1) annual reporting, 2)
GSP technical support, 3) Sustainable Groundwater Management Act (SGMA)
program development and DWR consultation, and 4) periodic (5-year) reporting. A
single responsive submittal was received from the firm Montgomery & Associates
(M&A). After a thorough review of the Statement of Qualifications and checking
references, M&A was determined to be highly qualified and possessing the required
experience.
The proposed approach is to enter into a multi-year Professional Services
Agreement (PSA) for planning and technical services, initially for three years.
Provided performance is satisfactory, the PSA would be extended to five years,
through the completion of the 5-Year GSP update and the submittal of the annual
report due in April 2025.
The overall scope of services is known, but all specific tasks are not yet identified.
The PSA will be amended multiple times over the years as new tasks are identified
and specific tasks refined. The initial scope of work covers the remainder of the
current fiscal year and work will include completion of the Year 2 annual report due
in January, technical support tasks, ongoing consultation with DWR, and SGMA
developments.
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Board Comment:
A discussion was held in response to a question on the possibility of the MGA
obtaining key person insurance, separate from the contract, to protect against costs
incurred by the potential loss of key M&A personnel.
•

Staff responded this concern could be addressed by contract, but that M&A
has deep expertise and would have the capacity to complete the contract.

Public Comment:
Becky Steinbruner requested that speakers identify themselves before speaking,
requested additional information, supported pursuing key person insurance, and
noted a discrepancy about the amount included in the motion.
•

Staff responded that the M&A total is in the motion. The contract includes a
subcontractor; the motion should be for the contract amount of $127,120.

MOTION: Director Mathews; Second, Director Baskin. To approve the
recommended actions to select the consultant (M&A) to provide planning and
technical services for the Groundwater Sustainability Plan and the
Professional Services Agreement in the amount as amended ($127,120), and to
ask staff to investigate possible actions regarding key personnel coverage.
Motion passed by unanimous roll call vote.
5.2 Amend Procurement Policy to Include Local Business Preference
Staff noted the Board had requested staff return with an Amended Procurement
Policy that included a local preference. Staff found the best model was from the
City of Santa Cruz. The motion is to amend the MGA Procurement Policy.
Board Questions:
Information was requested on the mechanics of the local preference.
•

Staff stated it was for scoring competitive bids.

Public Comment:
Becky Steinbruner requested local vendors be prohibited from subcontracting to
non-local vendors.
Board Comment:
A request was made for the experience of staff with local preferences.
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•

Staff stated the City of Santa Cruz (City) local preference pertains to goods
and services, not professional services, and that the City has a separate local
preference for construction projects. For professional services, agencies
typically have a score sheet on a variety of items.

•

Staff noted that the MGA has very few contracts, and most of the contracts
are qualifications-based selections which are excepted from the policy. It is
understood the intent is to support local businesses, and staff will adhere to
the local business preference as applicable towards that intent.

MOTION: Director Mathews; Second, Director Kennedy. To adopt the amended
Procurement Policy. Motion passed by unanimous roll call vote.
5.3 Approve Resolution to Apply for Proposition 68 Implementation Grant,
Round 1, through the Sustainable Groundwater Management Grant
Program
Staff announced that DWR recently announced a grant funding opportunity
through its Sustainable Groundwater Management Program, with grant awards of
$2 million to $5 million. The grant requires a local cost share funding match of 25%
of the total project cost. Staff will be meeting soon to evaluate possible
projects/activities that may be a good fit for this round of funding. A Board
resolution approving the submittal of the grant application is required with the
application. Applications are due in January, and the next Board meeting is in
March, so staff is requesting the Board approve the resolution to maintain the
option of applying for funds pending further staff review.
Board Comment:
Sustainability of the Santa Cruz Mid-County Basin (Basin) depends upon member
agency projects; if these efforts don’t meet the GSP’s sustainability goals, the state
could take control of Basin management. This funding could be an MGA
contribution to support those projects.
Public comment.
Becky Steinbruner opposed the MGA pursuing these grant funds and disagreed
with the prior comment, stating that since the GSP has been submitted to DWR and
is being implemented, the state would not take over Basin management.
Board discussion:
A discussion was held on the role of the MGA. The Board previously determined
that while the MGA reserves the right to do projects if necessary in the future, at
present the MGA does not intend to implement projects as the individual member
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agencies will have the lead role in implementing projects to achieve sustainability
in the Basin. The MGA is, however, expected to pursue funding opportunities such
as grants to support the GSP objectives. Concerns were raised, however, about
approving a grant application that requires significant matching funds without
having any details on the potential proposed projects. It was suggested the Board
could be informed once potential projects are evaluated, prior to submitting an
application, perhaps through a report or a special meeting could be called.
MOTION: Director Baskin; Second, Director Mathews. To adopt Resolution No.
20-01 to authorize the submittal of an application and the execution of an
agreement with the State of California for a Sustainable Groundwater Planning
Program - Round 1 Grant. Motion passed by roll call vote [8:1]. Director
Romanini voted NO.
5.4 Affirm the Approach to Near-Term Groundwater Sustainability Plan
(GSP) Implementation Activities for Basin Monitoring and Data
Management
Staff noted that the GSP identified the need for monitoring network improvements
and a Data Management System (DMS).
Monitoring activities in the Basin are currently being led by the member agencies,
with an extensive network of approximately 170 wells that are routinely monitored.
The MGA is also currently funding streamflow monitoring in the Soquel Creek
Watershed through a contract with Trout Unlimited.
Monitoring improvements include the installation of two deep water coastal
monitoring wells, neither of which are grant funded. One was recently completed
by the City, and the other is planned by the Soquel Creek Water District (SqCWD).
The DWR Grant will be funding installation of new shallow monitoring wells,
streamflow gauges, the implementation of a groundwater extraction metering
program and the development of the DMS.
The DMS is for the MGA and Santa Margarita Groundwater Agency (SMGWA), and
conceptually will cover the entire county. The County has agreed to a scope of work
and budget with Kisters North America for the DMS. The MGA’s DWR grant fund
will cover $95,000 of that cost. The contract is going to the County in December,
and the work should be completed by the end of June.
On the monitoring system, the County has released an RFP with tasks including
site selection for new stream gages and shallow water wells, as well as work with
landowners on landowner agreements. The consultant will not do the installations,
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but will help with the siting, design, specs, and will oversee the contracts to install
the wells, and train staff. A contract is expected to go to the County in early 2021.
For the well metering program, the MGA will be developing a non de minimis well
metering program for the rest of the Basin. Based upon data in the GSP, it will
likely impact less than 50 parcels. County staff, with input from private well
owners representatives, will be outlining this program in early 2021 and preparing
an RFP. Development of the program will include an opportunity for public input.
Public comment:
Becky Steinbruner supported grant funding for monitoring, asked why Pajaro
Valley Water Management Agency (PV Water) was not participating, and asked
about property owners who choose not to participate in a well metering program.
•

Staff responded that PV Water has attended DMS meetings from the outset
and is following the DMS work to stay informed as they are interested and
see potential benefits in collaboration. PV Water is not joining the current
DMS collaboration because their current system does not need updating.

MOTION: Director Mathews; Second, Director Baskin. To affirm the approach
proposed for the near-term Groundwater Sustainability Plan (GSP)
implementation activities related to the Basin Monitoring Network and the
development of a Data Management System. Motion passed unanimously by
roll call vote.
6.

Informational Updates
6.1 Treasurer’s Report

Responding to a question about a net loss for the year, the Treasurer explained
there were no member agency contributions in 2020, that the MGA had been using
reserves, but grant revenues are now coming in and the cash position is strong.
Public comment: None.
6.2 Staff Reports
6.2.1 Oral Reports
Staff reported it is working on amendments to the Joint Powers Agreement and
Bylaws. Draft revisions will come to the Board in March, and a final version will
come to the Board in June.

Page 9 of 199

Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency
Board Meeting Minutes – November 19, 2020
Page 7 of 7
The City of Santa Cruz was congratulated for obtaining millions of dollars in lowinterest loans for infrastructure improvements.
6.2.2 Proposed Board meeting dates for 2021
A change to one meeting date was requested due to a conflict with a religious
holiday. The revised schedule will return to the Board in March for approval.
6.2.3 MGA Letter of Support for RCD Grant Application
7.

Future Agenda Items

Requests for the agenda to include page numbers and hyperlink for agenda items
and staff recommendations.
Becky Steinbruner requested a Board workshop with Dr. Helen Dahlke (UC Davis),
on her work in the central valley, and with Dr. Andy Fisher (UC Santa Cruz).
8.

Written Communications and Submitted Materials

No comments.
9.
Adjournment
The meeting was adjourned at 8:35.
Next Board Meeting: March 18, 2021
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March 18, 2021
MEMO TO THE MGA BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Subject:

Agenda Item 4.2

Title:

Acknowledge Member Agency Board Appointments

The Joint Powers Agreement of the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency
provides for each member agency to appoint two directors and one alternate director
to the Board of Directors. The current member agency appointments are:
Soquel Creek Water District
• Tom LaHue
• Bruce Jaffe
• Rachél Lather (Alternate)
City of Santa Cruz
• Justin Cummings
• David Baskin
• Doug Engfer (Alternate)
Central Water District
• Robert Marani
• Marco Romanini
• John Benich (Alternate)
County of Santa Cruz
• Zach Friend
• Manu Koenig
• Allyson Violante (Alternate)
Recommended Board Action:
1. Informational, no action necessary.
By

___________________________________
Tim Carson
Program Director
Regional Water Management Foundation
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March 18, 2021
MEMO TO THE MGA BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Subject:

Agenda Item 4.3

Title:

Accept Audited 2019/20 Financial Statements

Attachments:
1. Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency Annual Financial Report for the
Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019
2. Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency Management Report, June 30,
2020
Attached for the Board’s review is the Agency’s Annual Financial Report for fiscal
year 2019/20, as well as the Management Report prepared by our new audit firm
Davis Farr, LLP. The financial report is prepared in accordance with Government
Accounting Standards. The Agency received an unqualified opinion, meaning the
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency as of June 30, 2020, and the results
of its operations and its cash flows are in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles.

Recommended Board Action:
1. By MOTION, accept the Financial Report for the period ending June 30,
2020.

By

___________________________________
Leslie Strohm
Treasurer
Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency
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Agenda Item 4.3.1

SANTA CRUZ MID-COUNTY GROUNDWATER AGENCY
Annual Financial Report
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020
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Board of Directors as of June 30, 2020
Name
Tom LaHue
Cynthia Mathews

Title

Member Agency

Chairman
Vice Chairman

Current
Term

Soquel Creek Water District 03/20 - 03/24
City of Santa Cruz

03/20 - 03/24

Jim Kerr

Secretary

Private Well Representative

Undesignated

Jon Kennedy

Director

Private Well Representative

Undesignated

Curt Abramson

Director

Private Well Representative

Undesignated

Bruce Daniels

Director

Soquel Creek Water District 03/18 - 03/22

David Baskin

Director

City of Santa Cruz

Robert Marani

Director

Central Water District

03/20 - 03/24

Marco Romanini

Director

Central Water District

03/18 - 03/22

Zach Friend

Director

County of Santa Cruz

03/20 - 03/24

John Leopold

Director

County of Santa Cruz

03/18 - 03/22

03/18 - 03/22

Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency
Leslie Strohm, Treasurer
5180 Soquel Drive
Soquel, California 95073
(831) 475-8500
www.midcountygroundwater.org
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SANTA CRUZ MID-COUNTY GROUNDWATER AGENCY
Annual Financial Report
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020
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SANTA CRUZ MID-COUNTY GROUNDWATER AGENCY
Annual Financial Report
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report
Governing Board
Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency
Santa Cruz, California
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities of the
Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency (the “Agency”) as of and for the year ended June
30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
Agency’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America; standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the State
Controller’s Minimum Audit Requirements for California Special Districts. Those standards
require that we plan and perform our audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial position of the business-type activities of the Santa Cruz
Mid-County Groundwater Agency, as of June 30, 2020, and the respective changes in financial
position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
1
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Emphasis of Matter
The financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2019 reflect certain prior period
adjustments as descried further in note 3 to the financial statements. Our opinion is not
modified with respect to this matter.
Report on Summarized Comparative Information
The financial statements of the Agency for the year-ended June 30, 2019 were audited by
other auditors whose report dated December 11, 2019 expressed an unmodified opinion on
those financial statements. In our opinion, the summarized comparative information
presented herein as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019 is consistent, in all material
respects, with the audited financial statements from which it has been derived.
Other Matter
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential
part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to
the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about
the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge
we obtained during our audits of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide
us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
December 23, 2020, on our consideration of the Agency’s internal control over financial
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Agency’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral
part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
the Agency’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Irvine, California
December 23, 2020

2
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Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020
As management of the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency (Agency), we offer
readers of the Agency’s financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the
financial activities and performance of the Agency for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2020
and 2019. Please read it in conjunction with additional information that we have furnished in
the accompanying basic financial statements, which follow this section.
Financial Highlights

•

The Agency’s net position increased 243.44% or $1,394,298 to $1,967,046. In fiscal
year 2019, the Agency’s net position increased 75.88% or $247,110 to $572,748.

•

The Agency’s total revenues decreased 45.36% or $540,005 to $650,415. In fiscal
year 2019, the Agency’s total revenues increased 105.75% or $611,834 to
$1,190,420.

•

The Agency’s total expenses decreased 48.54% or $457,883 to $485,427. In fiscal
year 2019, the Agency’s total expenses increased 24.79% or $187,404 to $943,310.

Using This Financial Report
This annual report consists of a series of financial statements. The Statements of Net Position
and the Statements of Activities provide information about the activities and performance of
the Agency using accounting methods similar to those used by private sector companies. The
Statements of Net Position includes all of the Agency’s investments in resources (assets),
deferred outflows of resources, obligations to creditors (liabilities), and deferred inflows of
resources. It also provides the basis for computing a rate of return, evaluating the capital
structure of the Agency and assessing the liquidity and financial flexibility of the Agency. All
of the current year’s revenue and expenses are accounted for in the Statements of Activities.
These statements measure the success of the Agency’s operations and can be used to
determine the Agency’s profitability and credit worthiness.
Financial Analysis of the Agency
Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities
One of the most important questions asked about the Agency’s finances is, “Is the Agency
better off or worse off as a result of this year’s activities?” A Statement of Net Position and a
Statement of Activities report information about the Agency in a way that helps answer this
question.
These statements include all assets and deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred
inflows of resources, using the accrual basis of accounting, which is similar to the accounting
used by most private sector companies. All of the current year’s revenues and expenses are
taken into account regardless of when the cash is received or paid.
These two statements report the Agency’s net position and changes in them. One can think
of the Agency’s net position – the difference between assets and deferred outflows of
resources less liabilities and deferred inflows of resources – as one way to measure the
Agency’s financial health, or financial position. Over time, increases or decreases in the
Agency’s net position are one indicator of whether its financial health is improving or
deteriorating. However, one will need to consider other non-financial factors, such as changes
in the organizational agreements to assess the overall health of the Agency in future periods.
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data
provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the basic
financial statements can be found on pages 9 through 11.

3
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Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020
Statement of Net Position
Condensed Statement of Net Position
2020
2019
Assets:
Current Assets

Change

$ 2,006,514

798,974

1,207,540

Total assets

2,006,514

798,974

1,207,540

Liabilities:
Current liabilities

39,468

226,226

(186,758)

39,468

226,226

(186,758)

1,967,046

572,748

1,394,298

$ 1,967,046

572,748

1,394,298

Total liabilities
Net Position:
Unrestricted
Total net position

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s
financial position. In the case of the Agency, assets exceeded liabilities by $1,967,046 and
572,748 as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
2020
2019
Change
Revenues:
Operating revenues

650,415

1,190,420

(540,005)

Total revenues

$

650,415

1,190,420

(540,005)

Expenses:
Operating expenses

485,427

943,310

(457,883)

Total expenses

485,427

943,310

(457,883)

Non-operating revenues:
Grant revenue
Total non-operating revenues
Changes in net position
Net position, beginning of year
Prior period adjustment
Net position, end of year

205,793
205,793

-

205,793

-

205,793

370,781

247,110

123,671

572,748
1,023,517

325,638
-

247,110
1,023,517

$ 1,967,046

572,748

1,394,298

The statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position show how the
government’s net position changed during the fiscal years. In the case of the Agency, net
position increased 243.44% or $1,394,298 to $1,967,046, as a result of ongoing operations.
In fiscal year 2019, the Agency’s net position increased 75.88% or $247,110 to $572,748, as
a result of ongoing operations.
Total revenues decreased 45.36% or $540,005 to $650,415, due primarily to an increase in
dues contributed by each member agencies. In fiscal year 2019, total revenues increased
105.75% or $611,834 to $1,190,420, due primarily to an increase in dues contributed by each
member agencies.

4
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Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020
For the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the operating revenues of $650,415 and
$1,190,420, respectively, consist of the dues contributed by each member agency. Each
member agencies are invoiced a percentage of the projected budget for the fiscal year based
on the following schedule:
Member Agency

2020

Soquel Creek Water District
Central Water District
City of Santa Cruz
County of Santa Cruz
Total

2019

70%
10
10
10

70%
10
10
10

100%

100%

Total expenses decreased 48.54% or $457,883 to $485,427, due primarily to decreases of
$455,942 in groundwater management expense and $1,941 in general and administrative
expense. In fiscal year 2019, total expenses increased 24.79% or $187,404 to $943,310, due
primarily to increases of $118,559 in groundwater management expense and $68,845 in
general and administrative expense.
Conditions Affecting Current Financial Position
Management is unaware of any conditions which could have a significant impact on the
Agency’s current financial position, net position, or operating results in terms of past, present,
and future.
Requests for Information
The Agency’s basic financial statements are designed to present users with a general overview
of the Agency’s finances and to demonstrate the Agency’s accountability. If you have any
questions about the report or need additional information, please contact the Agency’s
Treasurer, Leslie Strohm at Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency, 5180 Soquel Drive,
Soquel CA 95073 or (831) 475-8500.

5
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SANTA CRUZ MID-COUNTY GROUNDWATER AGENCY
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2020

2020
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalent (Note 2)
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Total current assets

$

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Total current liabilities
Net position:
Unrestricted
Total net position

$

6

2019

1,891,207
113,549
1,758
2,006,514

797,575
1,399
798,974

39,468
39,468

226,226
226,226

1,967,046
1,967,046

572,748
572,748
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SANTA CRUZ MID-COUNTY GROUNDWATER AGENCY
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

2020
Operating revenues:
Membership revenue

$

2019

650,415

1,190,420

650,415

1,190,420

135,501
349,926

591,443
351,867

Total operating expenses

485,427

943,310

Total operating income

164,988

247,110

205,793

-

Total non-operating revenues

205,793

-

Change in net position

370,781

247,110

572,748
1,023,517

325,638
-

Total operating revenues
Operating expenses:
Groundwater management
General and administrative

Non-operating revenues:
Grant revenue

Net position, beginning of period
Prior period adjustment (Note 3)
Net position, end of period

$

7

1,967,046

$

572,748
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SANTA CRUZ MID-COUNTY GROUNDWATER AGENCY
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

2020
Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash receipts from members
Payments to vendors for materials and services

$

Net cash provided by operating activities

650,415
(672,544)

2019
1,190,420
(1,096,290)

(22,129)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Grant revenue

1,115,761

-

1,115,761

-

1,093,632

94,130

797,575

703,445

$

1,891,207

797,575

$

164,988

247,110

Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

94,130

Reconciliation of operating income(loss) to net cash
provided by(used) in operating activities:
Operating income(loss)
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) in assets:
Prepaid expenses
Increase(decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable
Net cash provided by operating activities

$

(359)

(1,118)

(186,758)

(151,862)

(22,129)

94,130

Noncash Investing, Capital and Financing Activities:
There were no significant noncash investing, capital or financing activities during the year ended
June 30, 2020.

8

Page 26 of 199

SANTA CRUZ MID-COUNTY GOUNDWATER AGENCY
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020
(1)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
A. Organization and Operations of the Reporting Entity
On March 17, 2016, the Central Water District, the City of Santa Cruz, the County of Santa
Cruz, and the Soquel Creek Water District (Members) entered into a joint powers agreement
creating the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency (Agency). Each Member is a local
agency, as defined by the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act of 2014 (SGMA), duly
organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of California, and each
Member can exercise powers related to groundwater management. The purpose of the
agreement is to create a groundwater sustainability agency by June 30, 2017 to manage
groundwater basins designated by the California Department of Water Resources as medium
and high priority basins. The Agency is a basin consolidation of all or parts of four existing
groundwater basins: Soquel Valley, West Santa Cruz Terrace, Santa Cruz Purisima Formation,
and Pajaro Valley Groundwater Basins.
Under the Joint Exercise of Powers Act of 2000 (Act), including the Marks-Roos Local Bond
Pooling Act of 1985 (Government Code sections 6584, et seq.), the Agency is authorized to
issue bonds, and under certain circumstances, to purchase bonds issued by, or to make loans
to, the Members for financing public capital improvements, working capital, liability and other
insurance needs or projects whenever doing so results in significant public benefits, as
determined by the Members. The Act further authorizes and empowers joint powers
authorities to sell bonds that are issued or purchased to public or private purchasers at public
or negotiated sales.
SGMA requires the adoption of a groundwater sustainability plan (GSP) by January 31, 2020,
for all medium and high priority basins identified as being subject to critical conditions of
overdraft. The Members will develop the GSP and manage the Basin pursuant to SGMA.
The term of the agreement shall remain in effect until terminated by unanimous written
consent of all Members, except during the outstanding term of any Agency indebtedness.
Upon termination of the agreement, the assets shall be distributed in proportion to the
contributions of each Member agency.
B. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus
The Agency is accounted for as an enterprise fund in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental units. Enterprise funds are used to
account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to a private
business enterprise, where the expenses, of providing goods and services to the general public
are recovered through user charges, or where the governing body has decided that periodic
determination of revenue earned, expenses incurred, and net income is appropriate for capital
maintenance, public policy, management control, or other purposes. Because the Agency is
accounted for as an enterprise fund, the Agency uses the economic resources measurement
focus and the accrual basis of accounting for financial statement reporting purposes.
Revenues are recognized in the accounting period in which they are earned, and expenses
are recognized in the period incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows take place.
With the measurement focus, all assets and liabilities associated with the operation of these
funds are included in the Statement of Net Position.
C. Financial Reporting
The Agency’s basic financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). The Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.
9
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SANTA CRUZ MID-COUNTY GOUNDWATER AGENCY
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements (Continued)
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020
(1)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
D. Assets, Liabilities, and Net Position
1. Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported changes in the Agency’s
net position during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
2. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Substantially, all of the Agency’s cash is held in a financial institution bank account. The
Agency considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less to
be cash equivalents.
3. Revenue Recognition
Membership dues are recognized as revenue at the time each member agency is invoiced or
when a resolution is approved by the Board during the year.
4. Net Position/Fund Balances
The financial statements utilize a net position presentation. Net position categories are follows:

•

Net investment in capital assets – consists of capital assets, net of accumulated
depreciation and reduced by any outstanding debt against the acquisition,
construction or improvement of those assets.

•

Restricted net position – consists of constraints placed on net position use
through external constraints imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws
or regulations of other governments or constraints imposed by law through
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

•

Unrestricted net position – consists of the net position balance that does not
meet the definition of restricted or net investment in capital assets components of
net position.

(2) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents as of June 30, 2020 is classified in the accompanying financial
statements as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

1,891,207

Cash and cash equivalents as of June 30, 2020 consists of the following:
Deposits with financial institutions

$

1,891,207
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SANTA CRUZ MID-COUNTY GOUNDWATER AGENCY
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements (Continued)
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020
(2) Cash and Cash Equivalents (Continued)
Custodial Credit Risk
Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository
financial institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able
to recover collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.
The California Government Code and the Agency’s investment policy do not contain legal or
policy requirements that would limit the exposure to custodial credit risk for deposits, other
than the following provision for deposits: The California Government Code requires that a
financial institution secure deposits made by state or local governmental units by pledging
securities in an undivided collateral pool held by a depository regulated under state law
(unless so waived by the governmental unit). The market value of the pledged securities in
the collateral pool must equal at least 110% of the total amount deposited by public agencies.
As of June 30, 2020, bank balances are federally insured up to $250,000. The remaining
balance is collateralized in accordance with the Code; however, the collateralized securities
are not held in the Agency’s name.
(3) Restatement of Net Position
A prior period adjustment was recorded to recognize grant revenues relating to prior periods. The
Agency recorded the following prior period adjustment:
Net position as previously reported at June 30, 2019
Prior period revenues
Net position as restated at June 30, 2019

$

572,748
1,023,517
$1,596,265

(4) Contingencies
Litigation
In the ordinary course of operations, the Agency is subject to claims and litigation from outside
parties. After consultation with legal counsel, the Agency believes the ultimate outcome of
such matters, if any, will not materially affect its financial condition.
(5) Subsequent Events
Events occurring after June 30, 2020 have been evaluated for possible adjustment to the
financial statements or disclosure as of December 23, 2020, which is the date the financial
statements were available to be issued.
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other
Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards
Governing Board
Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency
Santa Cruz, California
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial
statements of the Santa Cruz Mid- County Groundwater Agency (Agency) as of and for the
year ended June 30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprises the Agency’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report
thereon dated December 23, 2020.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audits of the financial statements, we considered the
Agency’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our
opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Agency’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Agency’s internal control.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be
prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with
governance.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control
that might be material weaknesses or, significant deficiencies. Given these limitations,
during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to
be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been
identified.
Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Agency’s financial statements
are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which
could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.
However, providing opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our
12
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audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed
no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under
Government Auditing Standards.
Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part
of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the
entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for
any other purpose.

Irvine, California
December 23, 2020

13
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Agenda Item 4.3.2

To the Board of Directors
Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency
Soquel, CA
We have audited the financial statements of the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater
Agency (the “Agency”) for the year ended June 30, 2020. Professional standards require
that we provide you with information about our responsibilities under generally accepted
auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards, as well as certain information
related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. We have communicated such
information in our engagement letter to you dated April 6, 2020. Professional standards also
require that we communicate to you the following information related to our audit.
Significant Audit Findings
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The
significant accounting policies used by the Agency are described in Note 1 to the financial
statements. No new accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies
was not changed during the year ended June 30, 2020. We noted no transactions entered
into by the Agency during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or
consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in
the proper period.
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by
management and are based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and
current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are
particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because of
the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those expected.
The most sensitive estimates affecting the Agency’s financial statements were:
-

Estimates involving which revenues to be accrued as of the year end.

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the estimates in determining
that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.
The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear.
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit
We encountered no difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing
our audit.
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements
identified during the audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them
to the appropriate level of management. The following material misstatement detected as a
result of audit procedures were corrected by management: to correct beginning net position
for grant revenue previously unrecorded that should have been recognized in prior year.
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Board of Directors
Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency
Page Two
Disagreements with Management
For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting,
reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be
significant to the financial statements or the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that
no such disagreements arose during the course of our audit.
Management Representations
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the
management representation letter dated December 23, 2020.
Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing
and accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a
consultation involves application of an accounting principle to Agency’s financial statements
or a determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those
statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us
to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no
such consultations with other accountants.
Other Audit Findings or Issues
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles
and auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as Agency’s auditors.
However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship
and our responses were not a condition to our retention.
Other Matters
We applied certain limited procedures to Management’s Discussion and Analysis, which is
required supplementary information (RSI) that supplements the basic financial statements.
Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of preparing
the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI.
Restriction on Use
This information is intended solely for the use of the Board of Directors and management of
the Agency and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these
specified parties.

Irvine, California
December 23, 2020
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March 18, 2021
MEMO TO THE MGA BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Subject:

Agenda Item 4.4

Title:

Adopt Board Meeting Schedule for 2021

The Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency (MGA) Bylaws provide that the
regular meeting schedule of the Board of Directors is to be adopted by the Board after
January 1st of each year. Paragraph 8.2 of the MGA Joint Powers Agreement
requires that the Board meet at least quarterly.
Staff proposes the following dates for MGA Board meetings in 2021: March 18th,
June 17th, September 9th, and December 16th.
Recommended Board Action:
1. By Motion, adopt the Board meeting schedule for 2021.

By

___________________________________
Tim Carson
Program Director
Regional Water Management Foundation
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March 18, 2021
MEMO TO THE MGA BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Subject:

Agenda Item 4.5

Title:

Approve Purchase and Filing of Official Bond for MGA Treasurer

BACKGROUND
California Joint Powers Agreements are governed by Government Code 6505 et seq.
Government Code Section 6505.1 states that the contracting parties to a joint powers
agreement shall designate the public office or officers or person or persons who have
charge of, handle, or have access to any property of the agency, and requires the
public officer or officers or person or persons to file an official bond in an amount to
be fixed by the contracting parties.
The Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency (MGA) Bylaws state that the
Treasurer shall be the depository and have custody of all the money of the MGA, and
shall provide strict accountability of the funds in accordance with, and perform all
functions required by, Government Code Sections 6505 and 6505.5. (Section 6.2.) The
Bylaws appoint the Finance Manager of the Soquel Creek Water District as the MGA
Treasurer (Section 6.2.1).
DISCUSSION
Pursuant to Government Code Section 6505.1, staff recommends that the Board
approve the purchase and filing of the official bond for the MGA Treasurer. Based on
the MGA annual budget and level of expenditures, staff recommends the purchase of
a bond in the amount of $50,000. The MGA’s insurance provider, ACWA JPIA, has a
relationship with Alliant Crime Insurance Program, which offers coverage at $4.00
per $1,000. The estimated annual expense for the bond is $200.00.
Recommended Board Action:
1.

By MOTION, establish the amount of the official bond for the MGA
Treasurer at $50,000 and direct the purchase of the bond.

By

___________________________________
Tim Carson
Program Director
Regional Water Management Foundation
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March 18, 2021
MEMO TO THE MGA BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Subject:

Agenda Item 5.1

Title:

Approve Submittal of the Santa Cruz Mid-County Basin Water Year
2020 Annual Report to the Department of Water Resources

Attachment:

1. Draft Santa Cruz Mid-County Basin Water Year 2020 Annual Report
2. Draft Appendix A
3. Draft Appendix B
4. Submittal Letter to DWR
5. Montgomery & Associates Presentation on the 2020 Annual Report

BACKGROUND
The Groundwater Sustainability Plan (GSP) for the Santa Cruz Mid-County Basin
(Basin) was adopted by the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency (MGA) in
November 2019, and submitted to the Department of Water Resources (DWR) in
January, 2020.
Following adoption of a GSP, the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act (SGMA)
requires Groundwater Sustainability Agencies (GSAs) to submit an Annual Report
to Department of Water Resources (DWR) by April 1 of each year. The Annual Report
is to provide data on groundwater conditions and a narrative description of progress
that has been made toward implementation of the GSP in the prior water year.
The First Annual Report for Water Year 2019, covering the period from October 1,
2018 to September 30, 2019, was prepared by Montgomery & Associates, submitted
to DWR on April 1, 2020, and is available on the MGA website.
The Second Annual Report for Water Year 2020, for the period from October 1, 2019
to September 30, 2020, also prepared by Montgomery and Associates, is due to DWR
by April 1, 2021. The draft Report is posted on the MGA website.
DISCUSSION
The Executive Summary of the Annual Report presents the following information.
As described in the GSP, DWR lists the Basin as a high priority basin in critical
overdraft. The high priority designation indicates that water users in the Basin have
high dependence on groundwater. The Basin is listed in critical overdraft principally
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Board of Directors
March 18, 2021
Page 2 of 3
because active seawater intrusion impacts its productive aquifers as a result of
historical over-pumping.
Although Water Year 2020 was classified as a dry year, there were encouraging
increases in five-year moving average groundwater elevations along the coast that
are used as a proxy for seawater intrusion sustainable management criteria.
Increased groundwater elevations at the coast are attributable to 1) average
groundwater extraction over the most recent seven years being 2,100 acre-feet per
year less than prior years, and 2) redistribution of pumping away from the coast being
successful in contributing to increased groundwater elevations. There are still options
for pumping redistribution by Soquel Creek Water District (SqCWD) once a future
supply well is drilled at Cunnison Lane.
Despite improving groundwater conditions at the coast, undesirable results for
seawater intrusion continue to occur based on sustainable management criteria for
coastal groundwater elevations. This means the Basin remains in a state of critical
overdraft, but the MGA has until 2040 to continue to increase groundwater elevations
until there are no more undesirable results.
Chloride concentrations at two monitoring wells (SC-A2RB and SC-A5B) were
consistently above measurable objectives for seawater intrusion. This indicates that
there is inland movement of seawater intrusion that may lead to undesirable results
and therefore trigger early management action. The recommended action is a change
in current operations by reducing pumping at SqCWD’s Seascape well and possibly
also their San Andreas well, the nearest municipal wells to these two monitoring
wells.
Net groundwater pumping remains greater than sustainable yields in two of three
aquifer groups: Aromas Red Sands and Purisima F aquifer group and Purisima DEF,
BC, A, and AA aquifer group. Projects included in the GSP to reduce net groundwater
pumping in order to achieve sustainability are expected to reduce net extraction of
groundwater once they are implemented. Work to plan and implement these projects
continued in 2020. The projects include Pure Water Soquel, Aquifer Storage and
Recovery (ASR), Water Transfers / In-Lieu Groundwater Recharge, and Distributed
Storm Water Managed Aquifer Recharge.
Recommended Board Actions:
1. By MOTION, receive the Santa Cruz Mid-County Basin Water Year 2020
Annual Report, and
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Board of Directors
March 18, 2021
Page 3 of 3
2. By MOTION, approve the submittal of a transmittal letter and the Santa Cruz
Mid-County Basin Water Year 2020 Annual Report from the MGA Basin Point
of Contact to DWR in accordance with California Code of Regulations, Tit. 23,
secs. 353.4 and 356.2.

By

___________________________________
Tim Carson
Program Director
Regional Water Management Foundation

Prepared on behalf of the MGA Member Agency Executive Team: Ron Duncan,
Ralph Bracamonte, Rosemary Menard, and Sierra Ryan.
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Agenda Item 5.1.4

April 1, 2021
To: California Department of Water Resources
From: Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency
Subject: Submittal of Second Annual Report for the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency
The Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency (MGA) is the Groundwater Sustainability Agency for
the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Basin (Basin) number 3-001. The Basin is classified by the
California Department of Water Resources (DWR) as a high priority basin in a state of critical overdraft.
The MGA formed in March 2016 as a Joint Powers Authority, with four member agencies: Central Water
District, City of Santa Cruz, County of Santa Cruz, and Soquel Creek Water District. The MGA Board of
Directors includes two representatives from each member agency and three private well owner
representatives. The MGA initiated development of the Groundwater Sustainability Plan (GSP) in 2017
to guide ongoing management of the Basin with a goal to achieve and maintain groundwater
sustainability over a 50-year planning and implementation horizon. GSP development was a
collaborative effort among the member agencies and technical consultants, and was informed by input
from resource management agencies, community members, and stakeholders.
The GSP was adopted by the MGA Board on November 21, 2019 and submitted to DWR on January 30,
2020. The first Annual Report was submitted in April 2020.
As required by the California Code of Regulations for Groundwater Sustainability Plans, the MGA is
pleased to submit the second Annual Report to the Department of Water Resources.
Feel free to contact me if you have any questions,

Sierra Ryan
Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency Plan Manager
(831) 454-3133
BasinPOC@midcountygroundwater.org
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Agenda Item 5.1.5

SANTA CRUZ MID-COUNTY BASIN
SECOND ANNUAL REPORT
WATER YEAR 2020
GROUNDWATER SUSTAINABILITY PLAN

Presented by
Georgina King, PG, C.Hg
March Page
25, 2021
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ANNUAL REPORT PURPOSE
▪ Requirement of Water Code §10733.6 and pertains to the Sustainable
Groundwater Management Act (SGMA). Content requirements of the
annual report are outlined in §356.2 of the GSP Regulations
▪ Demonstrate to the CA Department of Water Resources (DWR) during
GSP implementation that progress is being made towards achieving
groundwater sustainability
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REQUIRED ANNUAL REPORT CONTENT

Change of Groundwater in Storage
by Aquifer

Hydrographs – Appendix A
Distribution of Groundwater
Extraction

Contour Maps

• Surface Water Supply
Used for Groundwater
Recharge or In-Lieu Use
• Total Water Use

Change of Groundwater in Storage
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ADAPTIVE MANAGEMENT
GSP Regulations allow for
adaptive management

• Annual Reports
• Five-Year GSP Updates
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SUSTAINABILITY INDICATORS & METRICS

Groundwater
Levels

✓

Proxy

Proxy

✓

✓

Volume of
Groundwater
Extracted

✓
Chloride

Concentration

✓

✓
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MANAGING GROUNDWATER WITH
SUSTAINABLE MANAGEMENT CRITERIA
90

80

Measurable Objective

Measurable Objective

60

Maintain Sustainability for
next 30 years

Operational Flexibility

50

Interim Milestones (5 Years)
40

Minimum Threshold

Minimum Threshold
30

Significant & Unreasonable

20

10

Future

Historical
0

2020

Groundwater Level

70

IM#1

IM#2

IM#3
Sustainable
2040
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MAIN TAKEAWAYS FROM 2 ND ANNUAL REPORT
▪ WY2020 was classified as a DRY
year: 40% of long-term average
precipitation (1942–2020)
▪ Even though it was a dry year,
coastal groundwater elevations
increased as a result of:
▪ Average annual groundwater extraction
over the last seven years is 2,100 acre-feet
less than prior years
▪ Redistributing pumping away from the
coast has been successful
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SEAWATER INTRUSION
SUSTAINABILITY INDICATOR

Soq. Pt

Chloride concentration map
SC-9
SC-3

Soq. Pt
SC-A8

SC-3

SC-9

▪ Groundwater elevations
as a Proxy
▪ Undesirable Results are
based on5-Yr Moving
Average
▪ Chloride isocontour of
250 mg/L
SC-A8
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SEAWATER INTRUSION SUSTAINABILITY INDICATOR
▪ Increased chloride
concentrations in SC-A2RB
and SC-A5B
▪ Indicates that there is
inland movement of
seawater intrusion that
may lead to undesirable
results
▪ May trigger early
management action, such
as reduced pumping at
SqCWD’s Seascape and/or
San Andreas wells (closest
production wells)

Soq. Pt

Soq. Pt

SC-A5
SC-A2

SC-A5
SC-A2
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MAIN TAKEAWAYS FROM 2 ND ANNUAL REPORT
Net groundwater pumping
remains greater than
sustainable yields in two
of three aquifer groups

Aquifer Unit Group

Interim
WY2016Milestone
2020
2025
Five-Year moving average Net Extraction,
acre-feet per year
Minimum
Threshold

Measurable
Objective

WY2020

Net Extraction,
acre-feet per year

Aromas Red Sands and Purisima F

1,740

1,930

1,980

1,680

1,955

Purisima DEF, BC, A and AA

2,280

2,110

2,348

960

2,110

930

720

848

620

733

Tu
Minimum threshold not met
Minimum threshold met

Measurable objective not met
Measurable objective met

▪ Projects to reduce net groundwater pumping once implemented are:
▪ Pure Water Soquel
▪ Work to plan and implement
▪ City of Santa Cruz Aquifer Storage and Recovery
these projects continued in
▪ Water Transfers / In-Lieu Groundwater Recharge
2020
▪ Distributed Storm Water Managed Aquifer Recharge
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QUESTIONS
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March 18, 2021
MEMO TO THE MGA BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Subject:

Agenda Item 5.2

Title:

Review Budget for Fiscal Year 2020-21 and Preliminary Budget for
2021-2022

Attachments:
1. Table 1. Budget Summary FY 2020/21 and proposed FY 2021/22
2. Table 2. Operating Expenses FY 2020/21 and proposed FY 2021/22
The budget for fiscal year 2020-2021 (FY 20/21) and a proposed budget for 2021-2022
(FY 21/22) for the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency (MGA) is presented
in the attached tables and in the supporting narrative. The format of Tables 1 and 2
are consistent with the budget previously presented to the Board.
The FY 20/21 projected operating expenses are based upon the actual expenses
incurred through the first half of the fiscal year (July 1 – December 31) and the
projected expenses for the second half of the fiscal year based upon anticipated
activity. The FY 20/21 projected operating expenses ($443,052) are less than the
amount budgeted ($725,000) principally because the monitoring network expansion
activities will not occur this year. Unspent funds from FY 20/21 will roll over into
Beginning Reserves for FY 21/22. The projected operating expenses for FY 21/22 are
$848,125, an increase over FY 20/21 by $123,125 or 17%. The increase is due to
expenses from the expansion of the monitoring network (installing new
groundwater monitoring wells and stream gauges) that did not occur in FY 20/21
and costs related to coordinating monitoring data and implementing a data
management system.
The following narrative summarizes the MGA’s beginning cash reserves, operating
revenue, operating expenses, and ending reserves.
BEGINNING RESERVES
Beginning cash reserves for the MGA for FY 21/22 are projected to be $1,515,040.
The beginning reserves amount is the surplus of revenue collected from the prior year
over the actual expenses incurred during that year.
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OPERATING REVENUE
Operating revenue consists of awarded grant revenue and agency membership
revenue. In FY 20/21, unlike prior fiscal years, there was no member agency
revenue contribution. Instead, the MGA utilized reserves from prior fiscal years
that accumulated from past unspent MGA membership revenue and grant
reimbursements from the Department of Water Resources (DWR).
The grant funding from DWR, reimbursed in arrears, is for the development and
implementation of the Groundwater Sustainability Plan (GSP). The MGA has an
active grant with DWR for $2,000,000 that funded the development of the GSP and
continues to fund implementation efforts, including expanding the monitoring
network and the Data Management System (DMS). Grant reimbursements received
through FY 19/20 is approximately $1.1 million. For FY 20/21, the anticipated grant
revenue was initially estimated at $500,000, but is now conservatively estimated at
$104,600. Additional grant funds (approximately $800 thousand) will be received as
activities are completed over the next two years. DWR withholds 10% of the award
as a retention until the grant is fully completed and closed-out. The retention
payment of $200,000 (10% of $2 million) is anticipated in FY 22/23.
Membership revenue collected from the member agencies is based on a percentage
allocation of the projected operating expenses for the fiscal year. The percentage
allocation between the member agencies is as follows:
• Soquel Creek Water District: 70%
• Central Water District: 10%
• City of Santa Cruz: 10%
• County of Santa Cruz: 10%
OPERATING EXPENSES
The Operating Expenses are presented in the following budget categories:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Administration
Legal Support
Management and Coordination
Monitoring: Network Expansion, Data Collection, Analysis and
Management
GSP Reporting
Outreach and Education

Administration

Page 53 of 199

Board of Directors
March 18, 2021
Page 3 of 9
This budget category includes costs related to the administration of the MGA,
including administrative staff support, finance staff support and related expenses,
insurance, organizational memberships and conferences, as well as miscellaneous
supplies and materials.
FY 20/21: The total cost of this category is $145,000.
FY 21/22: The proposed cost of this category is $160,000.
Costs include staff support from the Regional Water Management Foundation
(RWMF), a subsidiary of the Community Foundation of Santa Cruz County, to
provide MGA administrative staff support in similar roles and functions as in prior
years. There is a slight increase in administrative staff hours and costs (9%) to
ensure an adequate level of administrative support based upon anticipated needs.
The Soquel Creek Water District (SqCWD) Finance Manager will continue as the
Treasurer for the MGA and will be responsible, with support from the SqCWD
Finance staff, for the accounting and billing functions for the MGA. This budget
category includes finance-related costs including accounting software and the
annual financial audit.
Also included are the annual membership dues for the Association of California
Water Agencies (ACWA) and the annual insurance costs from the Association of
California Water Agencies Joint Powers Insurance Authority (ACWA/JPIA).
The budget includes amounts for miscellaneous office supplies and expenses,
software/online services, professional conference fees (e.g., ACWA), meeting-related
expenses and various other expenses outside of the scope of the other operating
expense categories.
Legal Support
As in prior years, the County of Santa Cruz will provide legal counsel. If legal
counsel specific to groundwater or the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act
(SGMA) is necessary, or if there is a conflict of interest, the MGA will seek other
legal support services.
FY 20/21 and FY 21/22: The $20,000 budget and tasks are the same in both years.
Management and Coordination
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This category includes technical support related to SGMA, groundwater modeling,
and planning and program support for GSP implementation.
Technical Work - SGMA Support:
FY 20/21: The original budget was $10,000; the projected expenses have increased
to $21,000 to allow for additional work by Montgomery & Associates (M&A). In
November 2020, after a competitive selection process, the MGA selected M&A to
provide Planning and Technical Services. Tasks that M&A is anticipated to support
include: coordination with the lead consultant (KISTERS) on the DMS development;
coordination with the lead consultant (Balance Hydrologics, Inc.) on the monitoring
network expansion; planning for next year; and, miscellaneous SGMA tasks that
require technical support that may arise.
FY 21/22: The proposed budget is $35,000. Anticipated services are similar to those
performed in FY 20/21. The increased budget reflects additional technical support,
as needed, to respond to requests for information from DWR related to SGMA
planning and implementation efforts and to respond to DWR comments on the GSP
(timing of comments from DWR is still uncertain).
Groundwater Model
FY 20/21: The budget includes $15,000 for M&A to provide additional groundwater
modeling and simulations to inform planning and management of the Santa Cruz
Mid-County Groundwater Basin (Basin). M&A conducted modeling needed to
prepare the Annual Report but no other modeling simulations are anticipated this
year.
FY 21/22: The budget includes $15,000 for M&A to conduct, if requested,
groundwater modeling simulations not related to the preparation of the Annual
Report (which in FY 21/22 are budgeted under the Annual Report).
Planning and Program Support for GSP Implementation
FY 20/21 and FY 21/22: The $40,000 budget and tasks are the same in both years.
This funding is for MGA member agency staff and RWMF staff to conduct activities,
as the need arises, to support GSP implementation efforts.
Monitoring: Network Expansion, Data Collection, Analysis & Management
Monitoring Network Improvements (stream gauges and shallow groundwater wells)
FY 20/21: $32,000 of the $295,000 budgeted is projected to be spent this year
because work previously anticipated for this year will not occur until next year (FY
21/22). Work is underway with Balance Hydrologics, Inc. leading the preliminary
sites selection evaluations and supporting site/landowner access.
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FY 21/22: $361,125 is budgeted for Balance Hydrologics to lead the stream gauge
deployment and monitoring (rating curve development) at the new stream
monitoring locations and for support on the shallow groundwater well preconstruction and construction activities. Balance Hydrologics will develop the
monitoring well designs and technical specifications, provide bid assistance, provide
construction oversite, and training related to the monitoring instruments. The
County, on behalf of the MGA, will solicit bids from qualified well drilling
contractors to construct the shallow groundwater wells (up to eight locations).
Monitoring: Streamflow Upper Soquel Creek Watershed
FY 20/21: Approximately $13,000 is projected to be expended by Trout Unlimited
(TU) to continue monitoring streamflow at four sites in the Upper Soquel Creek
drainage network. TU will develop and update rating curves and streamflow
datasets for each location and provide the data to the MGA.
FY 21/22: $5,000 is budgeted for TU to complete its monitoring and final reporting
in the Upper Soquel Creek drainage network.
Data Coordination & Data Management System
This work includes conducting a data management assessment and developing the
DMS for GSP-related data sets of monitoring metrics, such as groundwater
elevation, total groundwater pumping, groundwater quality, groundwater
extractions, and related surface water indicators such as flow. Following a
competitive selection process, in December 2020 the County of Santa Cruz (on
behalf of the MGA) awarded a contract to KISTERS North America, Inc. to
implement its WISKI (Water Information Systems by KISTERS) system to serve as
the DMS. The MGA is collaborating with the neighboring Groundwater
Sustainability Agency (GSA), the Santa Margarita Groundwater Agency (SMGWA),
and the member agencies of both GSAs (Partner Agencies) on the DMS. The MGA
will enter into an initial funding agreement with the County of Santa Cruz for its
proportional share for the KISTERS contract to develop the DMS.
FY 20/21: The $95,000 budgeted for KISTERS to develop the DMS is anticipated to
be expended. Expenses also include the software user license fees and the web
portal. This work is funded by the DWR Sustainable Groundwater Management
Program grant.
FY 21/22: $20,000 is budgeted for software annual support and maintenance fee.
Member agency staff time to operate and maintain the DMS will be in-kind cost
share, however, this may be reassessed in the future pending the level of effort this
requires.
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Groundwater Extraction Metering Program
Consistent with the GSP, this task will support the development and implementation
of a new well metering program to facilitate consistent and reliable reporting of
volumetric data on groundwater usage from certain non-de minimis users (users with
annual groundwater extraction greater than 2 acre-feet) in the Basin. In spring 2021,
the County of Santa Cruz, on behalf of the MGA, will issue a Request for Proposals
for consultant services to lead the development of the metering program for the Basin.
The work will be principally funded by the Sustainable Groundwater Management
Program grant from DWR.
FY 20/21: $27,500 is budgeted for this work; only $5,000 is projected to be expended
this year. The County of Santa Cruz Environmental Health Water Resources
Division staff is coordinating and overseeing this work.
FY 21/22: $50,000 is budgeted principally for a consultant, with limited support
from County staff, to develop the metering program that satisfies the requirements
outlined in the GSP. The consultant, in coordination with the MGA, will develop the
metering program goals, develop a metering plan, and develop the metering
program implementation and reporting system.
GSP Reporting
Groundwater Sustainability Plan Annual Report
Annual reporting on the GSP implementation is a requirement under SGMA. The
Annual Report is due by April 1st. SGMA also requires reporting monitoring data
via the SGMA portal twice per year. In November 2020, the Board approved a
contract with M&A to provide Planning and Technical Services. M&A will prepare
the Annual Report and will compile, format and submit the monitoring data to the
SMGA portal.
FY 20/21: The current budget for this task is $72,000, consistent with M&A’s scope
of work approved by the Board. Preparation of the Annual Report includes the
following tasks and estimated amounts by task.

Task 1.1. Obtain and Evaluate Monitoring Well Data ($21,000)
Task 1.2. Quantify Water Demand and Supply ($7,500)
Task 1.3. Extend Basin Model to Estimate Change of Groundwater in Storage
($28,300)
Task 1.4. Prepare Annual Report ($7,200)
Task 1.5. Upload Monitoring Well Data and Annual Report to SGMA Portal ($4,700)
Task 1.6. Prepare for and Present Annual Report to Board of Directors ($3,500)
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FY 21/22: The proposed budget ($72,000) and scope of work is the same as the prior
fiscal year.
5‐Year GSP Evaluation (2025)
SGMA requires GSAs to evaluate their GSP at least every 5 years and whenever
the GSP is amended. The initial Periodic (5-Year) Evaluation (also referred to as the
5-Year Update) is due to DWR in April 2025. It is anticipated that this work will
initiate in late 2023 or early 2024. The reporting requirements for the 5-Year
Update are presented in the GSP Section 5.3. Consistent with the approach
outlined in MGA’s fall 2020 RFQ for Planning and Technical Services, the 5-Year
Update will be led by a consultant. Pending performance under its current contract,
this work may be led by M&A.
It is important to emphasize that while the reporting requirements are known,
there are key elements about the preparation of the 5-Year Update that are
currently unknown or undecided that will drive its cost. For example, DWR has yet
to comment on the initial GSP; these comments will inform the approach to the 5Year Update. Also, the Board has yet to discuss and determine the preferred
approach on various elements of the 5-Year Update – for example: the approach to
evaluating sustainability indicators; various groundwater modeling considerations
(e.g., extent of model calibrations for new data; potential updates climate change
scenarios; extent of potential project and management action simulations); process
for stakeholder involvement; and other factors that will determine the level of effort
and cost.
While acknowledging there are key uncertainties that will ultimately determine the
cost of the 5-Year Update, a current preliminary estimate of $300,000 assumes the
following: groundwater model calibrations for the new monitoring sites will be
necessary; potential climate change scenario updates; project and management
action simulations; and stakeholder involvement. Due to the cost of the 5-Year
Update, it is proposed to amortize the cost annually beginning in FY 21/22.
FY 20/21: Not included in the FY 20/21 budget.
FY 21/22: The proposed budget of $75,000 amortizes the current estimated cost of
the 5-Year Update ($300,000) over four years from FY 21/22 through FY 24/25.
Community Outreach
FY 20/21: $15,000 is budgeted to continue community outreach and education.
Outreach will occur in a variety of ways, such as: targeted meetings/workshops (e.g.,
stakeholder meeting(s) related to the groundwater extraction metering program),
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maintenance of and updates to the MGA website, developing informational
materials, and meeting-related expenses (e.g., facility rentals, refreshments, other).
FY 21/22: The proposed budget ($15,000) and scope of work for community outreach
is the same as the prior fiscal year.
ENDING RESERVES
General Reserves
Prudent financial management requires that the agency carry a general reserve in
order to help manage cash flow and mitigate the risk of expense overruns in case
actual expenses are greater than anticipated in the budget. Based upon the actual
expenses incurred in the first half the fiscal year and projected expenses in the
second half of the year, the general reserves at the end of FY 20/21 are projected to
be $1,515,040. The actual ending reserves funds will be determined following the
conclusion of the financial statement audit for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021.
Contingency Fund
The contingency fund is set aside to cover unexpected costs. In FY 20/21, the
contingency is 10%; it is calculated based upon total Operating Expense. The
proposed FY 21/22 budget keeps the contingency at 10%.
Member Agency Contribution
No member agency contribution was requested in the current year (FY 20/21) due to
the accumulation of General Reserves. Reimbursements from the DWR grant will
continue to partially offset Operating Costs for the next couple of years. However,
under the MGA’s current grant, on average it takes approximately 9-months from
when an activity occurs until grant reimbursement is received from DWR. Member
Agency contributions will augment Cash Reserves available for covering the
operating expenses.
The proposed budget for FY 21/22 resumes member agency contributions for as a
component of Operating Revenue. For FY 21/22, the proposed total contribution of
the Member Agencies is $300,000.
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The table below presents the proposed contribution total and the amounts for each
member agency in FY 21/22.
FY 2021/22 Proposed Agency Contribution Total
FY 2021/22 Proposed Cost Share Total
Soquel Creek Water District (70%)
Central Water District (10%)
City of Santa Cruz (10%)
County of Santa Cruz (10%)

$300,000
$210,000
$30,000
$30,000
$30,000

Recommended Board Action:
1.

By MOTION, provide the necessary direction to staff to guide the completion
of the FY 21/22 budget.

By

___________________________________
Tim Carson, Program Director
Regional Water Management Foundation

By

___________________________________
Leslie Strohm, Treasurer
Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency

Prepared on behalf of the MGA Member Agency Executive Team: Ron Duncan,
Ralph Bracamonte, Rosemary Menard, and Sierra Ryan.
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Table 1. BUDGET SUMMARY
SANTA CRUZ MID‐COUNTY GROUNDWATER AGENCY
BUDGET SUMMARY
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN RESERVES
FISCAL YEAR 2020/2021 AND PROPOSED FISCAL YEAR 2021/22 BUDGET

2019/20
ACTUALS

2020/21
BUDGET
(Projected)

2020/21
BUDGET

2021/22
BUDGET
(Proposed)

INCREASE
(DECREASE)
OVER PRIOR
YEAR BUDGET

% CHANGE
OVER PRIOR
YEAR BUDGET

Beginning Reserves
Beginning Cash Reserves
Total Beginning Reserves

$
$

572,748 $
572,748 $

1,853,490 $
1,853,490 $

1,853,490 $
1,853,490 $

1,515,040 $
1,515,040 $

(338,450)
(338,450)

‐18%
‐18%

Operating Revenue
Agency Contributions
Grant Funds (Received)
Total Operating Revenue

$
$
$

650,415 $
1,115,761 $
1,766,176 $

‐ $
500,000
500,000 $

‐ $
$104,602 $
104,602 $

300,000 $
196,387 $
496,387 $

300,000
(303,613)
(3,613)

‐61%
‐1%

10%
0%
38%
1%

Operating Expense
Administration
Legal
Management & Coordination
Monitoring
GSP Reporting
Initial GSP (2020)
GSP Annual Report
5‐Year GSP Evaluation (2025)
Outreach & Education
Total Operating Expense
Ending Reserves
Contingency
General Reserve
Total Ending Reserves

$
$
$
$

130,332
9,938
40,825
1,514

$
$
$
$

145,000
20,000
65,000
430,000

$
$
$
$

145,000
20,000
51,000
145,052

$
$
$
$

160,000
20,000
90,000
436,125

$
$
$
$

15,000
‐
25,000
6,125

$
$
$
$
$

221,925
54,985
‐
25,915
485,434

$
$
$
$
$

‐
50,000
‐
15,000
725,000

$
$
$
$
$

‐
72,000
‐
10,000
443,052

$
$
$
$
$

‐
72,000
75,000
15,000
868,125

$
$
$
$
$

‐
22,000
75,000
‐
143,125

0%
20%

14,313
(499,501)
(485,188)

20%
‐32%
‐30%

$

32,521
1,820,970
1,853,490 $

72,500
1,555,990
1,628,490 $

44,305
1,470,735
1,515,040 $

86,813
1,056,490
1,143,302 $

44%
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Table 2. OPERATING EXPENSES
SANTA CRUZ MID‐COUNTY GROUNDWATER AGENCY
OPERATING EXPENSES
FISCAL YEAR 2020/21 AND PROPOSED FISCAL YEAR 2021/22 BUDGET

2019/20
ACTUALS
Operating Expense
Administration
Legal
Management & Coordination

2020/21
BUDGET

2020/21
PROJECTED
TOTALS

2021/22
PROPOSED
TOTALS

INCREASE
(DECREASE)
OVER PRIOR
YEAR
BUDGET

% CHANGE
OVER PRIOR
YEAR BUDGET

$ 130,332 $ 145,000 $
$
9,938 $ 20,000 $

145,000 $
20,000 $

160,000 $
20,000 $

15,000
‐

9%
0%

$ 15,680
10,000
$ 25,145
15,000
$
‐
40,000
subtotal $ 40,825 $ 65,000 $
Monitoring: Network Expansion, Data Collection, Analysis & Management
Monitoring Network Improvements (stream gauges,
wells)
‐
295,000

21,000
‐
30,000
51,000 $

35,000
15,000
40,000
90,000 $

25,000
‐
‐
25,000

28%

Technical Work: SGMA Support
Technical Work: Groundwater Model Simulations
Planning/Program Staff Support

Monitoring: Streamflow Upper Soquel Creek Watershed
Data Coordination & Data Management System
Groundwater Extraction Metering Program

Outreach & Education
Total Operating Expense

361,125

66,125

1,514

12,500

13,052

5,000

(7,500)

‐

95,000

95,000

20,000

(75,000)

5,000
145,052 $

50,000
436,125 $

22,500
6,125

1%

‐
50,000
‐
‐
50,000 $
15,000 $

‐
43,700
28,300
‐
72,000 $
10,000 $

‐
43,700
28,300
75,000
147,000 $
15,000 $

‐
(6,300)
28,300
75,000
97,000
‐

0%

$ 485,434 $ 725,000 $

443,052 $

subtotal $
GSP Reporting
Initial GSP (2020)
Annual Report & Related Data Reporting
Annual Report ‐ Groundwater Modeling
5‐Year GSP Evaluation (2025)

32,000

‐
27,500
1,514 $ 430,000 $

221,925
54,985
‐
‐
subtotal $ 276,910 $
$ 25,915 $

868,125 $ 143,125

16%
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March 18, 2021
MEMO TO THE MGA BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Subject:

Agenda Item 5.3

Title:

Approve Monitoring and Data Management Fund Agreement between
MGA and the County of Santa Cruz

Attachments:
1. County of Santa Cruz Contract with Balance Hydrologics, Inc.
2. Monitoring and Data Management Fund Agreement
BACKGROUND:
At the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency (MGA) Board of Directors
meeting on November 19, 2020, the Board affirmed a Groundwater Sustainability
Plan (GSP) implementation approach for a Data Management System (DMS) and
monitoring in the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Basin (Basin).
The Board memo (Agenda Item 5.4) stated that the MGA planned to collaborate with
the neighboring Groundwater Sustainability Agency (GSA), the Santa Margarita
Groundwater Agency (SMGWA), and the member agencies of each GSA to develop a
Countywide DMS. As the County of Santa Cruz (County) is taking the lead on the
development of the DMS, attached to the memo was the contract entered into between
the County and Kisters North America for the development of the DMS.
The memo also stated that due to the longstanding role of the County in streamflow
monitoring and related efforts, the County would also be the lead agency for an
expanded monitoring network in the Basin. The County has since entered into a
contract with Balance Hydrologics, Inc. for initial work to add new stream monitoring
sites and shallow groundwater monitoring wells (Attachment 1).
DISCUSSION:
The proposed Monitoring and Data Management Fund Agreement between the MGA
and the County (Fund Agreement) is intended to define the roles and responsibilities
of the MGA and the County with regard to consultant led work on both the monitoring
network and the DMS. Pursuant to this agreement, the County will be invoicing the
MGA to fund its share of the work performed by both Kisters and Balance
Hydrologics, Inc. The MGA will be reimbursed for this work through a grant from the
Department of Water Resources which is funding, in part, the Groundwater
Sustainability Plan development and initial implementation activities.
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The Fund Agreement sets out the responsibilities of the County in overseeing the
work on both the monitoring network and the development of the DMS. For services
rendered by the consultants, the County will invoice the MGA for up to $164, 975.20
for work performed by Balance Hydrologics, Inc. on its contract for Basin monitoring,
and up to $96,715 for the work performed by Kisters North America on its contract
to develop of a County-wide DMS. The total amount County will invoice the MGA for
the work performed by both consultants is not to exceed $261,690.20.
Recommended Board Action:
1. BY MOTION, authorize the Board Chair or the General Manager of Soquel Creek
Water District to execute the Fund Agreement with the County of Santa Cruz for
an amount not to exceed $261,690.20; and, authorize the General Manager of
Soquel Creek Water District to sign a purchase order for the County in an amount
not to exceed $261,690.20.

By

___________________________________
Sierra Ryan
Interim Water Resources Manager
Santa Cruz County Environmental Health
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37.a
Approved 1/26/2021
Board of Supervisors
Contract No.21H0197
DOC-2021-61

Independent Contractor Agreement

PARTIES

This Contract is entered into between the following Parties:
The COUNTY OF SANTA CRUZ through the
HEALTH SERVICES AGENCY- Environmental Health
P.O. Box 962, Santa Cruz, CA 95061-0962

Agenda Item 5.3.1

Name: Balance Hydrologics, Inc.
Address: 800 Bancroft Way, Suite 101
Berkeley, CA 94710

SUBJ.

Hereinafter called COUNTY.
Hereinafter called CONTRACTOR.
Subject of Contract: Stream Gaging, monitoring well design and technical specifications, bid assisstance,
construction oversite, training. All work is specific to the Data Management System for the Santa Cruz MidCounty Groundwater Agency.

RECITALS

WHEREAS CONTRACTOR possesses certain skills, experience, education and competency to perform the
special services required by this Contract and COUNTY desires to engage CONTRACTOR for such special
services upon the terms provided; and
WHEREAS pursuant to the provisions of California Government Code, Section 31000, the BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS of COUNTY is authorized to enter into an agreement for such services.
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto do mutually agree to the terms as set forth in the following Exhibits.
Should a conflict arise between the language in any of the Exhibits, the order of precedence is as follows:
Exhibit X, C, D, H, B, A, F.

SIGNATURES

TERM

EXHIBITS

CHECK BOX IF ATTACHED

EXHIBIT
A

TITLE
Scope of Services

B

Budget, Fiscal and Payment Provisions

C

Standard County / Agency Provisions

D

Standard (Division) Provisions

F

Medi-Cal Administrative Activities

H

HIPAA/Business Services

X

Revisions

The term of this Contract is from February 1, 2021 through
1/14/2021

APPROVALS

2/1/2021

CONTRACTOR

COUNTY

Balance Hydrologics, Inc

HEALTH SERVICES AGENCY

Date

Date

1/14/2021

Approved as to Form:

Suffix:

1/07/2021 (AMS# 10095)
_________________________________

Office of the County Counsel
Approved as to Insurances:

1/8/2021
Date

01

GL Key:
135461
GL Object: 62381
JL Key:
Amount:
164,975.20

1/07/2021 (AMS# 10095)
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Contract #: 21H0197
Contractor: Balance Hydrologics Inc.

COUNTY OF SANTA CRUZ
EXHIBIT A – Scope of Services

Scope of Services
CONTRACTOR agrees to exercise special skill to accomplish the following results:
The CONTRACTOR, Balance Hydrologics, Inc., will perform the following five tasks as
further described in the attached Proposal Technical Approach, Budget, and Fee
Schedule, dated November 12. The work comprises installation of stream gages, and
design and oversight of monitoring wells to enhance the monitoring network in the
Santa Cruz Mid-County Goundwater Basin.
Task 1: Site selection for five stream gagues and eight monitoring wells
Task 2: Stream gauge deployment
Task 3: Shallow monitoring well design, specification, and bid assistance
Task 4: Data collection training
Task 5: Project management and administration

Exhibit A, 2020-21
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Proposal for

County of Santa Cruz Environmental Health
Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency
Professional Services for
MONITORING NETWORK ENHANCEMENT
12 November 2020
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Project Understanding
Balance Hydrologics (Balance) is proposing to enhance the Mid-County Basin monitoring network, through site
selection, installation, and initial monitoring of stream gauges. We understand the goal of the Mid-County
Monitoring Network is to provide supplemental data collection to fill data gaps, specifically related to the
depletion of interconnected streamflow. The sustainable management criteria will be re-evaluated every 5 years,
and the information gathered from the enhanced monitoring network will be crucial in re-evaluating and refining
the established minimum thresholds and undesirable results established during the Groundwater Sustainability Plan
(GSP) process.
The newly constructed monitoring network will assess and quantify the relationship between alluvial groundwater
and surface flow within the Rodeo Gulch, Soquel Creek, and Aptos watersheds. Ultimately, data from these stations
will help to establish or adapt thresholds for sustainable management of the aquifer through the identification of
key periods or conditions when streamflow is most (or least) affected by groundwater conditions. Both seasonal
and storm-to-storm variability are likely to affect the surface/groundwater relationship and identifying when and
where these connections are most prominent will allow the most efficient use of water in the aquifer while still
protecting surface-water and associated habitat resources.
Key factors of consideration in our approach to this work will be to:
•
•
•
•
•

Select paired monitoring well and streamflow sites that can provide the best data possible to support the
goals and requirements of the GSP;
Identify site-specific geologic and hydrologic factors that are likely to affect surface-groundwater
interaction, and tailor the monitoring program in each area to accommodate those factors;
Work with Agency staff to select the equipment and style of installation that best meets their needs, and
that will most easily integrate into their data management system;
Install streamflow gauges in locations that are best suited to capture low-flow conditions, while also being
resilient to prevent damage during high-flow conditions; and
Recognize that longevity and resilience is important; the program should be able to inform the GSP for
many decades into the future without loss of value.

Technical Approach
Task 1. Site Selection
As part of the site selection process we will further review the GSP, with particular focus on the sustainable
management criteria Measurable Objectives, Minimum Thresholds, Undesirable Results, and Monitoring Network.
Balance will leverage our expertise in surface water groundwater interactions, knowledge of the basin, and prior
experience in site selection for both wells and stream gauges to establish a monitoring network that will address
the data gaps and provide the necessary data to understand the dynamics within the basin. We will work with
Mid-County Member Agency staff to select specific sites to install the paired stream gauge and wells. The MidCounty GSP document recognizes that the sites shown in the Proposal Exhibit B are schematic, with final site selection
based on finding suitable gaging sites that will best allow for the capture of potential impacts to surface-water in
or near pumping centers. Our experience with such installations has been that finding a suitable low-flow gaging
site is often more challenging than locating a good well-site, so we can suggest beginning with gauges, and draw
on Member Agencies to help us locate appropriate reaches where concentrated pumping is most likely to impact
surface flow. Balance recognizes that it will be important to construct the wells straightforwardly and economically,
as well as completing the drilling program in one season while also meeting the informational needs of the program.
www.balancehydro.com
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In addition, we recognize that longevity is important; the program should be able to inform the GSP for many
decades into the future without loss of value. Our priorities and goals in site selection include:
•
Consideration of:
o Hydrogeologic conditions
o Proximity to pumping centers
o Existing monitoring network
o Channel conditions
o Site access and safety
o Proximity of well and streamflow gauges to each other
•
Selecting locations where it appears possible to sustain a gaging station for decades
•
Where wells will likely withstand floods (and floating wood), wildfires, and earthquakes
•
Select locations where we can minimize the effort needed to complete the CEQA process or will have
other minimal permitting requirements
•
Limit the number of landowners required, to minimize time and complications associated with Landowner
access/permission
Site selection will include field reconnaissance of potential sites, as well as a review of historical aerial photographs
of candidate sites, seeking traits known to withstand episodic events. Copies of the historical photographs will be
made available to insert in the file for the well and/or gauge. They may be useful for other site-selection purposes.
We will contact landowners and work with staff to develop access permission agreeable to the County,
landowner(s), and project funders.
Task 2. Stream Gauge Deployment
Stream Gauge Deployment
Subject to MGA’s desires, stream gauges will include a wood-mounted enameled staff plate, one or two pressure
transducers, a stilling well, a specific conductance and water temperature sensor. Balance has established robust
streamflow monitoring networks in a wide variety of environments, from remote watersheds to highly-urbanized
areas. We are experienced with various types of streamflow gauging equipment and will provide expertise on
selecting the best type of equipment based on a number of factors, including streamflow conditions, desired data,
environmental setting, and whether any of the gauges will transmit data in real-time to the Agency’s data
management system. (Real-time communications could be via cellular modems, satellite transmission, or radio,
depending on the site and transmission/reception conditions.) Balance will work with Member Agency staff to select
appropriate water-level and specific conductance sensors and connecting hardware, as we have done in several
other projects for the County and City. And, as we have done previously, we will assist with the hands-on
calibration, which is essential to a successful program, and then install the equipment. Finally, the datum of the staff
plate will be surveyed to the local geodetic datum, and for convenience, to a local hub or temporary benchmark
near the installations.
Balance has developed a number of stream gauge installation techniques in urban areas to minimize gauge
visibility, as well as installing security components, to reduce theft and vandalism of equipment. We currently have
a robust monitoring network throughout Alameda County and have had success in protecting and minimizing loss
of equipment in highly trafficked areas.
Stream gauge installation and an ongoing monitoring plan for the stream gauge network will be detailed in a
memo.
4
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Stream Gauge Monitoring
Once the streamflow gauges have been installed, we will conduct regular site visits to make observations, conduct
flow measurements, and collect relevant data to develop the initial rating curve. This includes measuring conductivity
during visits, including taking conductivity measurements on Bates, Valencia, and Trout Creek Gulch, which have a
different conductivity than Soquel Creek. We will target a variety of flow levels, with the emphasis on low to
medium flows, since we are primarily concerned with baseflow.
Once the stream gauges are installed and have collected data, Balance will produce a QA/QC-ed record of
stage and flow for each site. The raw data from the data loggers needs to be calibrated and adjusted based on
observations and measurements during site visits. These records will be worked up by a hydrologist and will be
provided to staff so that it can be input into the data management system.
Task 3. Shallow Monitoring Well Design, Specification, and Bid Assistance
Shallow Monitoring Well Design and Installation
Each well will be designed individually from a generalized template based on site conditions and the nature of
the negotiated access but will share several attributes. We recommend construction of the monitoring wells be
conducted with air rotary or other mud-free methods, minimizing clogging and induced changes in aquifer
properties near each well. Air rotary allows the properties of sediments being drilled to be closely described.
The volume, color, odor, and salinity of water encountered in each zone can be measured or described.
Representative samples can be collected and retained in “chip indexes” for documentation of the layers
encountered during the drilling of the wells. Our experience is that we can usually tell which alluvial beds are
significantly water bearing, depending on local conditions. Not introducing mud allows accurate down-hole
geophysical logging, such as gamma or video logging (which can be separately authorized as part of the well
construction bid; see Optional Task B). It also delays the formation of scale and ‘iron clogging’ so typical of
Purisima watersheds in the Santa Cruz Mountains.
We propose that each well be developed in a discrete geologic unit, such as within a basal cobble zone that are
often found near the bottom of the alluvium. The casing, slot size, use of centralizers, and well seal type will be
pre-designated, with deviations for local conditions encouraged. The lead geologist will provide a drilling log for
each well showing the bases for decisions in customizing its construction. Wells will be developed for approximately
2 hours, and until the yield is clear and the water temperature and specific conductance in each has stabilized.
Finally, well-head finish will be specified as part of the drilling contract, but in most cases it will be low-profile to
minimize damage by flood debris. The reference points on each well will be surveyed to the local geodetic datum,
and for convenience, to a local hub or temporary benchmark near the installations. Monitoring well installation and
an ongoing monitoring plan for the monitoring well network will be detailed in a memo.
Well Bid Process and Permitting
Balance will help MGA staff with preparation of permit applications. MGA will make the decisions as to which
permits will be needed. In fact, it is possible that only County well permits will be needed, especially if wells are
sited on terraces substantially above the level of the stream. In some cases, stream-level installations will be
needed in whole or part. To our knowledge, permitting in such areas is likely to be limited to (a) an application
for a nationwide permit to install scientific monitoring devices in waters or wetlands (Corps), (b) a lake-andstreambed alteration permit (CDFW) for disturbance associated with access and drilling, and (c) County regulations
related to disturbance in the riparian zone. The Corps and State permitting requirements also reflect presence of
listed species (steelhead and possibly coho). County well permits are obtained by the driller or other C-57 license
www.balancehydro.com
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holder, and are logically part of the separate drilling contract; we are prepared to assist with preparation of
materials to justify a variance if certain site conditions might preclude selection of an otherwise-suitable location.
It is our understanding that California Coastal Commission permits are not required to install stream gauges or
monitoring wells, as they would for diversion pumps or extraction wells.
Task 4. Data Collection Training
Balance will provide a 1-day training to staff to understand the data collection, the types of data outputs, and
how to input that data into MGA’s data management system. Additionally, we will prepare a memo documenting
these steps and procedures.
Task 5. Project Management and Administration
Time in this task will cover team coordination, including one monthly conference call (1 hour), and general project
management and administration.
Optional Task A. Rodeo Gulch Accretion Measurements
As noted in the Mid-County GSP, prior to selecting the location of the shallow monitoring well along Rodeo Gulch,
accretion (synoptic) measurements along the Creek would be useful to understand where the stream is gaining and
losing. One method of analyzing the surface water groundwater interaction in streams is through an accretion
study, which tells us where and how water enters and leaves a stream during low flow conditions. Accretion studies
are conducted by measuring changes in flow and specific conductance at various points from downstream to
upstream in a stream system on a single day. It also tells us where the aquifer is adding flow to the stream, and
where the stream is replenishing the aquifer. Carefully conducted accretion studies are perhaps the best way of
quantifying an understanding of aquifer dynamics and surface-groundwater exchange. We propose, as an
optional task associated with Site Selection (Task 1), to conduct accretion measurements during one day of sampling
at up to 8 locations along Rodeo Gulch. The results of this study will be used in site selection for a shallow monitoring
well along Rodeo Gulch. The findings from the accretion measurements will be documented in a memo.
Optional Task B. Gamma Ray Logging
Gamma ray logging is a method of measuring how much clay is present in each small increment to a well bore.
Clays, of course, have much lower permeabilities than sands, gravels, and cobbles. The less clay present, the
higher and more reliable the yields of a particular zone may be. Gamma logs also help distinguish between zones
which have minimal clayey matrix between grains (high permeability) and those in which gravels and cobbles are
embedded in a clay matrix (low permeability). The gamma logging tool typically gives readings every 6 inches
as they are lowered into a well. They provide a means of identifying the zones of lowest clay content in a well
and help in choosing which zones are most suitable for screening or perforation. Gamma ray logs also allow some
prediction of the rate at which iron and manganese may accumulate around (“foul”) an alluvial well. The gamma
log would also help assess the presence and effects of tidal sediments which might be present in the Aptos Creek
borings. Gamma logs can be measured through PVC and other non-metallic casings. As with most other ‘wireline’
geophysical methods, gamma logging can be done quickly, while decisions are made on how to build each well.
The proposed budget for this task includes time for coordination and planning with the well driller for Gamma
logging, as well as interpretation and summary of the data collected. We assume that the cost of the logging itself,
if this task is selected, would be included as part of the separate well drilling contract (generally costing on the
order of $700 to $1,800 per well, depending on depth and scale of the work).
6
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Table 1. Anticipated Staff Hours by Task
Senior
Professional

Project
Professional

Sr. Staff
Professional

Staff
Professional

Assistant
Professional

Junior
Professional

GIS/CADD
Senior
Analyst

GIS/CADD
Analyst

GIS/CADD
Assistant
Analyst

Sr. Proj
Admin

Sr. Report
Specialist

Report
Specialist

Hydrologic
Tech

Hourly Rate $245

Principal I

Task Number and Description

Principal II

Sr. Principal

220209 Mid-County Basin Monitoring Network Enhancement

$220

$210

$190

$180

$165

$140

$130

$125

$135

$125

$105

$125

$105

$95

$95

4

Labor Costs For
Task

Task 1. Site selection

4

2

64

18

18

2

$19,200.00

Task 2. Stream gauge deployment

5

17

112

140

165

2

6

$72,225.00

30

120

180

4

6

$56,630.00

Task 3. Shallow monitoring well design, specifications,
and bid assistance

2

Task 4. Data collection training

2

32

3

$6,575.00

Task 5. Project management and administration

2

34

20

$9,060.00

Subtotal Hours
Total Hours

9

22

25

22

272

278

363

8

27

12

1016
TOTAL LABOR

Notes:

Expenses from Table 2

$163,690.00
$1,285.20

GRAND TOTAL $164,975.20
Optional Tasks
Optional Task A. Rodeo Gulch Accretion
Measurements

2

Optional Task B. Gamma Logging

2

220209_budget_11-9-2020.xlsx, Table 1, 11/12/2020

2

20
20

20

10

2

$9,440.00

15

10

2

$8,775.00
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Table 2. Estimated Costs
220209 Mid-County Basin Monitoring Network Enhancement
Professional Fees
Sr. Principal
Principal
Associate Principal
Senior Professional
Project Professional
Senior Staff Professional
Staff Professional
Assistant Professional
Junior Professional
GIS/CADD Senior Analyst
GIS/CADD Analyst
GIS/CADD Assistant Analyst
Senior Project Administrator
Senior Report Specialist
Report Specialist
Hydrologic Technician

Rate
$245
$220
$210
$190
$180
$165
$140
$130
$125

Hours
9
25
22
0
272
278
363
0
0

$135
8
$125
0
$105
0
$125
27
$105
12
$95
0
$95
0
Labor Subtotal (Table 1)

Allocation
$2,205.00
$5,500.00
$4,620.00
$0.00
$48,960.00
$45,870.00
$50,820.00
$0.00
$0.00
$1,080.00
$0.00
$0.00
$3,375.00
$1,260.00
$0.00
$0.00
$163,690.00

Expenses
Direct Expenses
Mileage
680
miles @
Mileage, 4-Wheel Drive*
miles @
Vehicle Rental
Equipment Rental Costs: Current meter at $350, SCT meter @ $250
Per Diems
@

$0.64
$0.67

$435.20
$0.00
$0.00
$600.00
$0.00

Reimbursable Costs
Other Travel, Subsistence
trips @
Express Mail, Deliveries
Maps and Aerial Photos
Outside Copying, Blueprint
Outside Consultants
Analytical Laboratory Fees
Materials and Supplies: Staff plates and stilling wells for Streamflow Gages
Permits, Licenses or Agency Inspection fees client responsibility
Printing +
Other

$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$250.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00

Expenses Subtotal

Notes

$1,285.20

ESTIMATED TOTAL

$164,975.20

TOTAL

$164,975.20

* 4WD rates apply only if required by site conditions. See Balance policy re 4WD.
+Plotting costs vary according to complexity of design
Project-related expenses will be bill at cost plus 10%; including work by outside consultants and analytical or testing laboratories.

220209_budget_11-9-2020.xlsx, Table 2, 11/12/2020

Page
76 of
199 Inc.
©2020 Balance
Hydrologics,

DocuSign Envelope ID: 1C103927-5DF6-4433-AA69-EDB3DDA28B62

306
*

PROFESSIONAL FEE SCHEDULE, 2019-2020
BALANCE HYDROLOGICS, INC.
(Effective October 20, 2019)

Scientific and Engineering Staff†
Senior Principal
Principal II
Principal I
Senior Professional
Project Professional
Senior Staff Professional
Staff Professional
Assistant Professional
Junior Professional

Hourly Rate
$245
$220
$210
$190
$180
$165
$140
$130
$125

Support Staff
GIS Senior Analyst
GIS/CADD Analyst
GIS/CADD Assistant Analyst
Senior Project Administrator
Senior Report Specialist
Report Specialist
Hydrologic Technician

$135
$125
$105
$125
$105
$95
$95



Mileage will be charged at $0.64 mile (2WD) and $0.67/mile (4WD, if 4WD needed).



Rental vehicles will be charged at cost + 10%.



Nominal use charges are applied for certain field and analytical instruments; fees vary with the nature, duration,
and frequency of use. Rate schedule available on request.



Per diem rates will be charged according to those rates set by the General Services Administration
(www.gsa.gov) based on location, or nearest location to project site.



Project-related expenses will be billed at cost plus 10%, including work by outside consultants and analytical or
testing laboratories.



Certain surcharges and minimums apply to courtroom or hearing testimony; particulars available upon request.

*

Reimbursable charges for mileage are subject to change based upon prevailing IRS rates.
Includes environmental scientists and engineers practicing in hydrology, geology, soil and watershed sciences, and
civil and erosion-control engineering.
†

306 19-20 Balance Hydrologics Fee Schedule 031320
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Contract #:21H0197
Contractor: Balance Hydrologics

COUNTY OF SANTA CRUZ
EXHIBIT B – Budget, Fiscal and Payment Provisions

Compensation
In consideration for CONTRACTOR accomplishing said result, COUNTY agrees to pay
CONTRACTOR up to $164,975.20, as delineated in in Table 1 and 2 in the attached
Proposal Budget and Fee Schedule dated November 12, 2020. This compensation
includes any and all reimbursements due to the CONTRACTOR for duties performed
pursuant to this Agreement as requested by the COUNTY, including reimbursement for
materials needed to perform these services. The total contract compensation is not to
exceed $164,975.20.
Payment Terms
CONTRACTOR will bill in the format and in the manner required by COUNTY. County
will pay CONTRACTOR within 30 days of receipt of an acceptable invoice.

Exhibit B, 2020-21
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COUNTY OF SANTA CRUZ
EXHIBIT C – STANDARD COUNTY / AGENCY PROVISIONS
1.

EARLY TERMINATION. Either party hereto may terminate this Contract at any
time by giving thirty (30) days’ written notice to the other party.

2.

INDEMNIFICATION FOR DAMAGES, TAXES AND CONTRIBUTIONS. To the
fullest extent permitted by applicable law, CONTRACTOR shall exonerate,
indemnify, defend, and hold harmless COUNTY (which for the purpose of
paragraphs 2 and 3 shall include, without limitation, its officers, agents, employees
and volunteers) from and against:
A. Any and all claims, demands, losses, damages, defense costs, or liability of
any kind or nature which COUNTY may sustain or incur or which may be
imposed upon it as a result of, arising out of, or in any manner connected with
the CONTRACTOR’S performance under the terms of this Contract, excepting
any liability arising out of the sole negligence of the COUNTY. Such
indemnification includes any damage to the person(s), or property (ies) of
CONTRACTOR and third persons.
B. Any and all Federal, State and Local taxes, charges, fees, or contributions
required to be paid with respect to CONTRACTOR and CONTRACTOR’S
officers, employees and agents engaged in the performance of this Contract
(including, without limitation, unemployment insurance, social security and
payroll tax withholding).

3.

INSURANCE. Unless waived in Exhibit X, Paragraph 1 of this Contract, or
modified in Exhibit X, Paragraph 2 of this Contract, CONTRACTOR, at its sole cost
and expense, and for the full term of this Contract (and any extensions thereof),
shall obtain and maintain, at minimum, all of the following insurance coverage(s)
and requirements. Such insurance coverage shall be primary coverage as
respects COUNTY and any insurance or self-insurance maintained by COUNTY
shall be considered in excess of CONTRACTOR’S insurance coverage and shall
not contribute to it.
If CONTRACTOR normally carries insurance in an amount greater than the
minimum amount required by the COUNTY for this Contract, that greater amount
shall become the minimum required amount of insurance for purposes of this
Contract. Therefore, CONTRACTOR hereby acknowledges and agrees that any
and all insurance carried by it shall be deemed liability coverage for any and all
actions it performs in connection with this Contract. Insurance is to be obtained
from insurers reasonably acceptable to the COUNTY.
If CONTRACTOR utilizes one or more subcontractors in the performance of this
Contract, CONTRACTOR shall obtain and maintain Contractor’s Protective

Exhibit C, 2020-21
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Liability insurance as to each subcontractor or otherwise provide evidence of
insurance coverage for each subcontractor equivalent to that required of
CONTRACTOR in this Contract.
A. TYPES OF INSURANCE AND MINIMUM LIMITS
1. Workers’ Compensation Insurance in the minimum statutory required
coverage amounts.
2. Automobile Liability Insurance for each of CONTRACTOR’S vehicles used
in the performance of this Contract, including owned, non-owned (e.g.,
owned by CONTRACTOR’S employees), leased or hired vehicles, in the
minimum amount of $500,000 combined single limit per occurrence for
bodily injury and property damage.
3. Comprehensive or Commercial General Liability Insurance coverage at
least as broad as the most recent ISO Form CG 00 01 with a minimum limit
of $1,000,000 per occurrence, and $2,000,000 in the aggregate, including
coverage for: (a) products and completed operations, (b) bodily and
personal injury, (c) broad form property damage, (d) contractual liability, and
(e) cross-liability.
4. Professional Liability Insurance in the minimum amount of $1,000,000.
B. OTHER INSURANCE PROVISIONS
1. If any insurance coverage required in this Contract is provided on a “Claims
Made” rather than “Occurrence” form, CONTRACTOR agrees that the
retroactive date thereof shall be no later than the first effective date of
Contract as written on the signature page of the Contract, and that it shall
maintain the required coverage for a period of three (3) years after the
expiration of this Contract (hereinafter “post Contract coverage”) and any
extensions thereof. CONTRACTOR may maintain the required post
Contract coverage by renewal or purchase of prior acts or tail coverage.
This provision is contingent upon post Contract coverage being both
available and reasonably affordable in relation to the coverage provided
during the term of this Contract. For purposes of interpreting this
requirement, a cost not exceeding 100% of the last annual policy premium
during the term of this Contract in order to purchase prior acts or tail
coverage for post Contract coverage shall be deemed reasonable.
2. All policies of Comprehensive or Commercial General Liability Insurance
shall be endorsed to cover the County of Santa Cruz, its officials,
employees, agents and volunteers as additional insureds with respect to
liability arising out of the work or operations and activities performed by or
on behalf of CONTRACTOR including materials, parts or equipment
furnished in connection with such work or operations. Endorsements shall
be at least as broad as ISO Form CG 20 10 11 85, or both CG 20 10 10 01
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and CG 20 37 10 01, covering both ongoing operations and products and
completed operations.
3. All required policies shall be endorsed to contain the following clause: “This
insurance shall not be canceled until after thirty (30) days’ prior written
notice (10 days for nonpayment of premium) has been given to:
County of Santa Cruz
Health Services Agency
Attn: HSA Fiscal - Claims
1080 Emeline Avenue
Santa Cruz, CA 95060
Should CONTRACTOR fail to obtain such an endorsement to any policy
required hereunder, CONTRACTOR shall be responsible to provide at least
thirty (30) days’ notice (10 days for nonpayment of premium) of cancellation
of such policy to the COUNTY as a material term of this Contract.
4. CONTRACTOR agrees to provide its insurance broker(s) with a full copy of
these insurance provisions and provide COUNTY on or before the effective
date of this Contract with Certificates of Insurance and endorsements for all
required coverages. However, failure to obtain the required documents
prior to the work beginning shall not waive the CONTRACTOR’s obligation
to provide them. All Certificates of Insurance and endorsements shall be
delivered or sent to:
County of Santa Cruz
Health Services Agency
Attn: HSA Fiscal - Claims
1080 Emeline Avenue
Santa Cruz, CA 95060
5. CONTRACTOR hereby grants to COUNTY a waiver of any right of
subrogation which any insurer of said CONTRACTOR may acquire against
the COUNTY by virtue of the payment of any loss under such insurance.
CONTRACTOR agrees to obtain any endorsement that may be necessary
to affect this waiver of subrogation, but this provision applies regardless of
whether or not the COUNTY has received a waiver of subrogation
endorsement from the insurer.
4.

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY.
During and in relation to the
performance of this Contract, CONTRACTOR agrees as follows:
A. The CONTRACTOR shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant
for employment because of race, color, creed, religion, national origin,
ancestry, physical, or mental disability, medical condition (including cancer–
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related and genetic characteristics), marital status, sexual orientation, age
(over 18), veteran status, gender, pregnancy, or any other non-merit factor
unrelated to job duties. Such action shall include, but not be limited to, the
following: recruitment; advertising, layoff or termination; rates of pay or other
forms of compensation; and selection for training (including apprenticeship),
employment, upgrading, demotion, or transfer. The CONTRACTOR agrees to
post in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for
employment, notice setting forth the provisions of this non-discrimination
clause.
B. If this Contract provides compensation in excess of $50,000 to CONTRACTOR
and if CONTRACTOR employs fifteen (15) or more employees, the following
requirements shall apply:
1. The CONTRACTOR shall, in all solicitations or advertisements for
employees placed by or on behalf of the CONTRACTOR, state that all
qualified applicants will receive consideration for employment without
regard to race, color, creed, religion, national origin, ancestry, physical, or
mental disability, medical condition (including cancer–related and genetic
characteristics), marital status, sexual orientation, age (over 18), veteran
status, gender, pregnancy, or any other non-merit factor unrelated to job
duties. Such action shall include, but not be limited to, the following:
recruitment; advertising, layoff or termination; rates of pay or other forms of
compensation; and selection for training (including apprenticeship),
employment, upgrading, demotion, or transfer.
In addition, the
CONTRACTOR shall make a good faith effort to consider
Minority/Women/Disabled
Owned
Business
Enterprises
in
CONTRACTOR’S solicitation of goods and services, Definitions for
Minority/Women/Disabled Business Enterprises are available from the
COUNTY General Services Purchasing Division.
2. In the event of the CONTRACTOR’S non-compliance with the nondiscrimination clauses of this Contract or with any of the said rules,
regulations, or orders said CONTRACTOR may be declared ineligible for
further contracts with the COUNTY.
3. The CONTRACTOR shall cause the foregoing provisions of this
Subparagraph 4B to be inserted in all subcontracts for any work covered
under this Contract by a subcontractor compensated more than $50,000
and employing more than fifteen (15) employees, provided that the
foregoing provisions shall not apply to contracts or subcontracts for
standard commercial supplies or raw materials.
5.

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR STATUS. CONTRACTOR and COUNTY have
reviewed and considered the principal test and secondary factors below and agree
that CONTRACTOR is an independent contractor and not an employee of
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COUNTY. CONTRACTOR is responsible for all insurance (workers’
compensation, unemployment, etc.) and all payroll related taxes. CONTRACTOR
is not entitled to any employee benefits. COUNTY agrees that CONTRACTOR
shall have the right to control the manner and means of accomplishing the result
contracted for herein.
PRINCIPAL TEST: The CONTRACTOR rather than COUNTY has the right to
control the manner and means of accomplishing the result contracted for.
SECONDARY FACTORS: (a) The extent of control which, by Contract, COUNTY
may exercise over the details of the work is slight rather than substantial; (b)
CONTRACTOR is engaged in a distinct occupation or business; (c) In the locality,
the work to be done by CONTRACTOR is usually done by a specialist without
supervision, rather than under the direction of an employer; (d) The skill required
in the particular occupation is substantial rather than slight; (e) The
CONTRACTOR rather than the COUNTY supplies the instrumentalities, tools and
work place; (f) The length of time for which CONTRACTOR is engaged is of limited
duration rather than indefinite; (g) The method of payment of CONTRACTOR is by
the job rather than by the time; (h) The work is part of a special or permissive
activity, program, or project, rather than part of the regular business of COUNTY;
(i) CONTRACTOR and COUNTY believe they are creating an independent
contractor relationship rather than an employer-employee relationship; and (j) The
COUNTY conducts public business.
It is recognized that it is not necessary that all secondary factors support creation
of an independent contractor relationship, but rather that overall there are
significant secondary factors, which indicate that CONTRACTOR is an
independent contractor.
By their signatures to this Contract, each of the undersigned certifies that it is his
or her considered judgment that the CONTRACTOR engaged under this Contract
is in fact an independent contractor.
6.

NONASSIGNMENT. CONTRACTOR shall not assign the Contract without the
prior written consent of the COUNTY.

7.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT. CONTRACTOR shall acknowledge in all reports and
literature that the Santa Cruz County Board of Supervisors has provided funding
to the CONTRACTOR.

8.

RETENTION AND AUDIT OF RECORDS. CONTRACTOR shall retain records
pertinent to this Contract for a period of not less than ten (10) years after final
payment under this Contract or until a final audit report is accepted by COUNTY,
whichever occurs first. CONTRACTOR hereby agrees to be subject to the
examination and audit by the Santa Cruz County Auditor-Controller-Treasurer-Tax
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Collector, the Auditor General of the State of California, or the designee of either
for a period of ten (10) years after final payment under this Contract.
9.

PRESENTATION OF CLAIMS. Presentation and processing of any or all claims
arising out of or related to this Contract shall be made in accordance with the
provisions contained in Chapter 1.05 of the Santa Cruz County Code, which by
this reference is incorporated herein.

10.

LIVING WAGE. if initialed by COUNTY in Exhibit X, Paragraph 3, then this
Contract is subject to the provisions of Santa Cruz County Code Chapter 2.122,
which requires payment of a living wage to covered employees (per County Code
Chapter 2.122.050, non-profit contractors are exempt from the living wage rate
requirement of this chapter, but are not exempt from, and must adhere to, the “nonwage” related requirements of County Code Chapter 2.122.100, 2.122.130, and
2.122.140, as well as all other applicable portions of County Code Chapter 2.122).
Non-compliance with these Living Wage provisions during the term of the Contract
will be considered a material breach, and may result in termination of the Contract
and/or pursuit of other legal or administrative remedies.
CONTRACTOR agrees to comply with Santa Cruz County Code section
2.122.140, if applicable.

11.

NON-BINDING UNTIL APPROVED. Regardless of whether this Contract has
been signed by all parties, if the total compensation identified in this Contract is
greater than $15,000, this Contract is not binding on any party until the Contract
has been approved by the Santa Cruz County Board of Supervisors.

12.

MISCELLANEOUS. This written Contract, along with any attachments, is the full
and complete integration of the parties’ agreement forming the basis for this
Contract. The parties agree that this written Contract supersedes any previous
written or oral contracts between the parties, and any modifications to this Contract
must be made in a written document signed by all parties. The unenforceability,
invalidity or illegality of any provision(s) of this Contract shall not render the other
provisions unenforceable, invalid or illegal. Waiver by any party of any portion of
this Contract shall not constitute a waiver of any other portion thereof. Any
arbitration, mediation, or litigation arising out of this Contract shall occur only in the
County of Santa Cruz, notwithstanding the fact that one of the contracting parties
may reside outside of the County of Santa Cruz. This Contract shall be governed
by, and interpreted in accordance with, California law.

13.

FINANCIAL REPORTING
CONTRACTOR shall:

FOR

501(c)(3)

NONPROFIT

AGENCIES.

A. Within 180 days of the end of each of the CONTRACTOR’S fiscal years
occurring during the term of this Contract, the CONTRACTOR shall provide the
Contract Administrator with two copies of Financial Statements relating to the
entirety of the CONTRACTOR’S operations. Financial Statements normally
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include: (1) a Statement of Financial Position or Balance Sheet; (2) a Statement
of Activities or Statement of Revenues and Expenses; (3) a Cash Flow
Statement; and (4) a Statement of Functional Expenses. The Contract
Administrator will forward one copy of the financial statements to the County
Auditor-Controller-Treasurer-Tax Collector.
1. For the purposes of this paragraph, “CONTRACTOR’S fiscal year” shall
be that period the CONTRACTOR utilizes for its annual budget cycle.
2. The Contract Administrator with concurrence of the County AuditorController-Treasurer-Tax Collector may agree to extend the deadline for
the Financial Statements required by this paragraph.
3. In the sole discretion of the COUNTY, the requirements of this
paragraph may be exempted where the Contract Administrator and the
County Auditor-Controller-Treasurer-Tax Collector ascertain that such
reporting is not essential, and does certify to its inapplicability by
initialing in Exhibit X, Paragraph 4.
B. The CONTRACTOR shall make a good faith effort to provide the Contract
Administrator with timely notice of any event or circumstance that materially
impairs the CONTRACTOR’S financial position or substantially interferes with
the CONTRACTOR’S ability to offer the services it has agreed to provide as
set forth in this Contract. The Contract Administrator shall notify the AuditorController-Treasurer-Tax Collector of any impairment upon being notified by
CONTRACTOR.
C. For audit authority of the Auditor-Controller-Treasurer-Tax Collector refer to the
paragraph on “Retention and Audit of Records.”
14.

DISALLOWANCE AND RESPONSIBILITY FOR AUDIT EXCEPTIONS.
CONTRACTOR is responsible for knowledge of, and compliance with, all
COUNTY, State and Federal regulations applicable to expenditure of funds under
the terms of this Contract. In the event CONTRACTOR claims and receives
payment from COUNTY which is later disallowed based on an audit performed by
the COUNTY, the State of California or the United States government,
CONTRACTOR shall promptly refund the disallowed amount to COUNTY on
request, or at COUNTY’S sole option, COUNTY may offset the amount disallowed
from any payment due or to become due to CONTRACTOR under this Contract.
CONTRACTOR also agrees to assume all responsibility for receiving, replying to,
and complying with any audit exceptions by the COUNTY, State or Federal audit
agency.

15.

POLITICAL ACTIVITIES PROHIBITED.
Contractor agrees to comply with all
provisions of the Hatch Act (Title 5 USC, Sections 1501-1508). This includes but
is not limited to the provision that none of the funds, provided directly or indirectly,
under this Contract shall be used for any political activities or to further the election
or defeat of any candidate for public office or measure before the electorate.
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16.

LOBBYING. None of the funds provided under this Contract shall be used for
publicity or propaganda purposes designed to support or defeat any legislation
pending before State or Federal legislatures or the Board of Supervisors of the
COUNTY to an extent other than allowed under applicable federal tax regulations
for tax exempt corporations pursuant to 26 C.F.R. Section 501(c)(3)-(ib)(3).

17.

CONFORMANCE TO REGULATIONS. CONTRACTOR shall perform duties
under this Contract in conformance with applicable Federal, State and local rules
and regulations, including applicable facility and professional licensure and/or
certification laws. CONTRACTOR shall conform to all provisions of the False
Claims Acts, including but not limited to 31 USC, Chapter 37, §3729-3733 of the
Federal False Claims Act, and Government Code §12650-12656 of the State False
Claims Act.

18.

CONFORMANCE TO LAW.
CONTRACTOR shall comply with all federal, state and local prevailing laws, rules
and regulations pertaining to the implementation, performance, and completion of
this Contract. This shall include, but is not limited to, obtaining the necessary
licenses, permits, and any other required authorization to perform the work
necessary to complete the terms of the Contract. CONTRACTOR bears sole
responsibility for any violation of such laws and regulations by itself and agrees
that it will indemnify, defend and hold COUNTY harmless for the consequences of
any such violation, as referenced in Section Two (2.) of this Exhibit.

19.

RESPONSIBILITY FOR INVENTORY ITEMS.
A. Equipment, materials, supplies, or property of any kind purchased from funds
advanced or reimbursed under the terms of this Contract having a useful life of
three years or greater and a value in excess of three hundred dollars is defined
as an inventory item. All such items not fully consumed in the work described
herein shall be the property of COUNTY at the termination of this Contract
unless COUNTY, at its sole discretion, makes an alternate disposition.
CONTRACTOR shall, at the request of COUNTY, submit an inventory of said
items purchased under the terms of this Contract, and for items received on a
loan basis from COUNTY; such inventory will not be required more frequently
than annually. CONTRACTOR shall provide a final inventory to COUNTY'S
Administrator within ten (10) days of the termination of this Contract. Final
disposition of all inventory items shall be in accordance with written instructions
provided by COUNTY.
B. Inventory items in CONTRACTOR'S possession shall only be used in
connection with the program funded under this Contract, and shall not be
loaned to the public at large. CONTRACTOR is strictly liable for repairing or
replacing any inventory item which is lost and/or damaged while in its
possession. CONTRACTOR is responsible for the proper maintenance of all
inventory items. CONTRACTOR will return all inventory items to COUNTY in
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the same condition that it received them except for damage due to normal wear
and tear.
20.

NONDISCRIMINATION IN SERVICES.
A. By signing this Contract, CONTRACTOR certifies under the laws of the State
of California that CONTRACTOR and its subcontractors shall not unlawfully
discriminate in the provision of services because of race, color, creed, religion,
national origin, ancestry, physical, or mental disability, medical condition
(including cancer–related and genetic characteristics), marital status, sexual
orientation, age (over 18), veteran status, gender, pregnancy, or any other nonmerit factor as provided by state and federal law and in accordance with Title
VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 [42 USC 2000(d)]; Age Discrimination Act of
1975 (42 USC 6101); Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 USC 794); Education
Amendments of 1972 (20 USC 1681); Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990
(42 USC 12101); Title 45, CFR, Part 84; provisions of the Fair Employment and
Housing Act (Government Code Section 12900 et seq.); and regulations
promulgated thereunder (Title 2, CCR, Section 7285.0 et seq.); Title 2, Division
3, Article 9.5 of the Government Code, commencing with Section 11135; and
Chapter 6 of Division 4 of Title 9 of the CCR, commencing with Section 10800.
B. For the purpose of this Contract, discrimination on the basis of race, color,
creed, religion, national origin, ancestry, physical, or mental disability, medical
condition (including cancer–related and genetic characteristics), marital status,
sexual orientation, age (over 18), veteran status, gender, pregnancy, or any
other non-merit factor includes, but is not limited to, the following: denying an
otherwise eligible individual any service or providing a benefit which is different,
or is provided in a different manner or at a different time, from that provided to
others under this Contract; subjecting any otherwise eligible individual to
segregation or separate treatment in any matter related to the receipt of any
service; restricting an otherwise eligible individual in any way in the enjoyment
of any advantage or privilege enjoyed by others receiving any service or
benefit; and/or treating any individual differently from others in determining
whether such individual satisfied any admission, enrollment, eligibility,
membership, or other requirement or condition which individuals must meet in
order to be provided any service or benefit.
C. CONTRACTOR shall, on a cycle of at least every three years, assess, monitor,
and document each subcontractor’s compliance with the Rehabilitation Act of
1973 and Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 to ensure that
recipients/beneficiaries and intended recipients/beneficiaries of services are
provided services without regard to physical or mental disability.
CONTRACTOR shall also monitor to ensure that beneficiaries and intended
beneficiaries of service are provided services without regard to race, color,
religion, national origin, ancestry, physical, or mental disability, medical
condition (including cancer–related and genetic characteristics), marital status,
sexual orientation, age (over 18), veteran status, gender, pregnancy, or any
other non-merit factor.

Exhibit C, 2020-21

9 of 12

Page 87 of 199

DocuSign Envelope ID: 1C103927-5DF6-4433-AA69-EDB3DDA28B62

CONTRACTOR shall include nondiscrimination and compliance provisions in
all subcontracts. CONTRACTOR shall establish written procedures under
which service participants are informed of their rights including their right to file
a complaint alleging discrimination or a violation of their civil rights. Participants
in programs funded hereunder shall be provided a copy of their rights that shall
include the right of appeal and the right to be free from sexual harassment and
sexual contact by members of the treatment, recovery, advisory, or consultant
staff.
D. Noncompliance with the requirements of nondiscrimination in services shall
constitute grounds for state to withhold payments under this Contract or
terminate all, or any type, of funding provided hereunder.
21.

CONFIDENTIALITY OF RECORDS. CONTRACTOR agrees that all information
and records obtained in the course of providing services to COUNTY in the
program shall be subject to confidentiality and disclosure provisions of applicable
Federal and State statutes and regulations adopted pursuant thereto.
CONTRACTOR agrees that it has a duty and responsibility to make available to
the COUNTY Administrator or his/her designated representatives, including the
Auditor-Controller-Treasurer-Tax Collector of the COUNTY, the contents of
records pertaining to COUNTY which are maintained in connection with the
performance of CONTRACTOR'S duties and responsibilities under this Contract,
subject to the provisions of the heretofore mentioned Federal and State statutes
and regulations. COUNTY acknowledges its duties and responsibilities regarding
such records under such statutes and regulations.

22.

MONITORING. CONTRACTOR agrees that COUNTY shall have the right to
monitor the services provided under this Contract. Monitoring shall be conducted
according to standards and guidelines as set forth by Federal, State and COUNTY
requirements. CONTRACTOR agrees to provide COUNTY'S Administrator, or
his/her designee, with access to all applicable files and records as may be
necessary to monitor the services according to the standards or guidelines
described above.

23.

REPORTS. CONTRACTOR shall submit written reports of operations, and other
reports as requested by COUNTY. Format for the content of such reports will be
developed by COUNTY in consultation with CONTRACTOR. Reports shall be
submitted to COUNTY'S Administrator.

24.

OWNERSHIP, PUBLICATION, REPRODUCTION AND USE OF MATERIAL. All
reports, studies, information, data, statistics, forms, designs, plans, procedures,
systems, and any other material or properties produced under this Contract shall
be the property of COUNTY. No such materials or properties produced in whole
or in part under this Contract shall be subject to private use, copyright or patent
right by CONTRACTOR in the United States or in any other country without the
express written consent of COUNTY. COUNTY shall have unrestricted authority
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to publish, disclose, distribute and otherwise use copyright or patent right by CONTRACTOR in the United States or in any other country without the express written
consent of CONTRACTOR. COUNTY shall have unrestricted authority to publish,
disclose, distribute and otherwise use copyright or patent, in whole or in part, any
such reports, studies, data, statistics, forms or other materials or properties
produced under this Contract.
25.

EVALUATION/RESEARCH. Evaluation or research involving contact with past or
present recipients of services provided under this Contract shall be permitted with
the informed consent of the recipient and only after CONTRACTOR has
determined that the conduct of such evaluation or research will not adversely affect
the quality of services provided or individual participation in services. COUNTY
reserves the right to prohibit or terminate evaluation or research activities which in
its judgment jeopardize the quality of services or individual participation in services
provided under this Contract.

26.

TRAVELING EXPENSES, FOOD AND LODGING. CONTRACTOR'S claim for
travel expense for food and lodging must be directly related to this program and
shall be at rates not to exceed federal issued per diem rates. No travel outside of
the State of California shall be payable unless prior written authorization is
obtained from COUNTY'S Administrator.

27.

CONTRACTOR PERSONNEL STANDARDS. CONTRACTOR shall determine
that all staff providing services under this Contract shall be qualified to perform the
job requirements under this Contract.

28.

AMENDMENTS. No alteration, amendment, or modification of the terms of this
Contract shall be valid unless executed by written amendment hereto and
approved by COUNTY.

29.

NOTICE OF POSSIBLE TERMINATION FOR CAUSE.
A. In the event that CONTRACTOR fails to perform any of the provisions of this
Contract or fails to make progress so as to endanger performance of this
Contract in accordance with its terms, and in either of these circumstances
does not cure such failure within a period of fourteen (14) days after receipt of
notice from COUNTY specifying such failure, COUNTY may by written notice
of default terminate the whole or part of this Contract.
B. In the event of a termination pursuant to Paragraph 29A, all finished or
unfinished documents, and other materials, prepared by CONTRACTOR under
this Contract shall become the property of COUNTY. CONTRACTOR shall be
entitled to receive reasonable compensation not to exceed actual cost as
reported in interim cost reports for any satisfactory work completed on such
documents, or other such materials to date of termination, not to exceed
amount payable to date of termination under Paragraph 29A reduced by the
amount of damages sustained by COUNTY by reason of such breach.
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30.

TERMINATION DUE TO CESSATION OF FUNDING. COUNTY shall have the
right to terminate this Contract without prior notice to CONTRACTOR in the event
that State or Federal funding for this Contract ceases prior to the ordinary term of
the Contract.

31.

WITHHOLDING OF PAYMENT. COUNTY may withhold final payment until yearend reports are received and approved by COUNTY. COUNTY may suspend or
terminate payments for noncompliance with the terms of this Contract, including
non-compliance with Contracts from prior years.

32.

OVERPAYMENTS. Overpayments as determined by audits shall be payable to
COUNTY within thirty (30) days after date of said determination.

33.

SAFETY AND INFECTION CONTROL. CONTRACTOR asserts that it is in
compliance with applicable Cal/OSHA guidelines for safety and infection control,
including blood-borne pathogens, and that there are no enforcement actions,
litigation, or other legal or regulatory proceedings in progress or being brought
against CONTRACTOR as a result of non-compliance with such guidelines.
CONTRACTOR agrees to notify COUNTY immediately should the status of any of
the assertions in this paragraph change or come into question.

34.

CULTURAL COMPETENCY. In order to ensure access to services,
CONTRACTOR shall provide services in a culturally competent manner. Cultural
competency is defined as a congruent set of practice skills, behaviors, attitudes
and policies that enable staff to work effectively in cross-cultural situations.

35.

VENUE.
Any arbitration, mediation, or litigation arising out of this Contract
shall occur only in the County of Santa Cruz, notwithstanding the fact that one of
the contracting parties may reside outside of the County of Santa Cruz.

36.

CONSTRUED PURSUANT TO CALIFORNIA LAW. The parties hereto agree
that the provisions of this Contract shall be governed by, and interpreted in
accordance with, California Law.

(Revised 5/13/20)
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EXHIBIT D
Grant Requirements
The following is to comply with the Propositions 1 and 68 Sustainable Groundwater Planning Grant
Agreements between the State of California (DWR) and the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency
and the Santa Margarita Groundwater Agency.
The Consultant agrees to be bound by all applicable provisions of the Labor Code regarding prevailing
wages and shall monitor all contracts subject to reimbursement from this Agreement to assure that the
prevailing wage provisions of the Labor Code are being met.
The Consultant shall maintain books, records, and other documents pertinent to their work in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles and practices.
Pursuant to Government Code §8546.7, the Consultant shall be subject to the examination and audit by the
State for a period of three years after final payment under the Grant Agreement with respect to all matters
connected with the Grant Agreement, including but not limited to, the cost of administering this Grant
Agreement. All records of Consultant shall be preserved for this purpose for at least three (3) years after
project completion or final billing, whichever comes later.
The Consultant is subject to State and Federal conflict of interest laws. Failure to comply with these laws,
including business and financial disclosure provisions, will result in the contract being rejected and any
subsequent contract being declared void. Other legal action may also be taken. Applicable statutes include,
but are not limited to, Government Code, §1090 and Public Contract Code, §10410 and §10411, for State
conflict of interest requirements.
The Consultant, its contractors or subcontractors hereby certify, under penalty of perjury under the laws of
State of California, compliance with the requirements of the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1990 (Government
Code §8350 et seq.) and have or will provide a drug-free workplace.
The Consultant affirms that it is aware of the provisions of §3700 of the Labor Code, which requires every
employer to be insured against liability for workers’ compensation or to undertake self-insurance in
accordance with the provisions of that code, and the Consultant affirms that it will comply with such
provisions before commencing the performance of the work under this Grant Agreement and will make its
contractors and subcontractors aware of this provision.
The Consultant agrees to expeditiously provide throughout the term of the Grant Agreement, such reports,
data, information, and certifications relating to the Consultant's scope of work as may be reasonably required
by State.
The Consultant shall name the State, its officers, agents and employees as additional insureds by separate
endorsement on their liability insurance for activities undertaken pursuant to this Agreement.
Consultant shall comply with the provisions of the Fair Employment and Housing Act (Government Code
§12990 (a-f) et seq.) and the applicable regulations promulgated there under (California Code of Regulations,
Title 2, §7285 et seq.). The applicable regulations of the Fair Employment and Housing Commission
implementing Government Code §12990 (a-f), set forth in Chapter 5 of Division 4 of Title 2 of the California
Code of Regulations, are incorporated into this Agreement by reference and made a part hereof as if set forth
in full. Consultant shall give written notice of their obligations under this clause to labor organizations with
which they have a collective bargaining or other agreement. Consultant shall include the nondiscrimination
and compliance provisions of this clause in all subcontracts to perform work under the Grant Agreement.
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Agenda Item 5.3.2

MONITORING AND DATA MANAGEMENT FUND
AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) BETWEEN
THE SANTA CRUZ MID-COUNTY GROUNDWATER AGENCY (MGA) AND COUNTY OF
SANTA CRUZ (COUNTY)
Parties to the Agreement are the MGA, a state-mandated agency formed through
a Joint Powers Authority (JPA), and the County of Santa Cruz (County), a
member of the JPA.
Purpose of Agreement
The purpose of this Agreement is to define the roles and responsibilities that will
exist between MGA and the County as they relate to the monitoring and data
management efforts being implemented by the MGA. The MGA was formed in 2016
to comply with the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act. The agency is
responsible for implementing an already adopted Groundwater Sustainability Plan
(Plan) to bring the Santa Margarita Groundwater Basin into sustainability. The Plan
must be updated every 5 years as new critical data is collected. To assist in plan
implementation, the MGA was awarded a total of over $2 million in grant funding. As
the MGA has no employees, the JPA members share responsibilities. The County
has agreed to lead two efforts funded by the grants and has entered into contracts
with Kisters North America and Balance Hydrologics to complete these efforts.
1. Term of Agreement. The term of this Agreement shall be from July 1, 2020

through December 31, 2022.
2. Responsibilities of County
a. Oversee the work to be performed under the contract with Balance

Hydrologics to install and monitor 5 stream gauges, and design and oversee
the construction of 8 monitoring wells. Oversight work entails monitoring
progress, ensuring deliverables are submitted on time, reviewing work
products, and managing payments. The data collected will be incorporated
into the Groundwater Sustainability Plan updates.
b. Oversee the work to be performed under the contract with Kisters North

America to develop a regional Data Management System. Oversight work
entails monitoring progress, ensuring deliverables are submitted on time,
reviewing work products, and managing payments.
c. Ensure timely and comprehensive reporting to the MGA for grant invoicing

and deliverables.

3. Responsibilities of MGA
1
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Provide timely input to consultants when requested by the County or its agents.
Such input may be in the form of feedback on work products, meetings to discuss
progress and next steps, and providing necessary data to Kisters North America
and Balance Hydrologics.
4. Termination of Agreement

This agreement may be terminated or renegotiated upon 30 day advance written
notice by one party to the other. Notwithstanding the foregoing, termination of
this Agreement shall not affect the obligation to pay for services performed before
the effective date of termination.
5. Compensation

The County will invoice the MGA for services rendered up to the following
amounts:
a. For contract with Balance Hydrologics: $164,975.20
b. For contract with Kisters North America: $96,715
c. Invoices to be prepared at least quarterly and will be based solely on
services performed by Kisters North America and Balance Hydrologics
in accordance with the work outlined in the contracts with no markup.
Time of County staff in oversight or contract administration will not be
billed under this Agreement.
6. Neither this Agreement or any rights, interests or obligations hereunder shall

be assigned by either MGA or the County without the prior written consent of
the other.
7. This Agreement supersedes all prior agreements between the parties with

respect to its subject matter and constitutes a complete and exclusive
statement of the terms of the agreement between the parties with respect to its
subject matter.
8. The laws of the state of California shall apply.

Authorized Signatures
IN WITNESS HERE OF, the parties hereby execute this Agreement and agree to
abide by the terms and conditions set forth.

______________________________________
_________________
Ron Duncan, Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency
Date

_______________________________________
Mimi Hall, Health Services Agency Director
2

__________________
Date
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March 18, 2021
MEMO TO THE MGA BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Subject:

Agenda Item 5.4

Title:

Approve Formation of Temporary Board Committee on Consultant
Selection for Non-De Minimis Metering Program

BACKGROUND
At the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency (MGA) Board of Directors
meeting on November 19, 2020, the Board heard an update on a Groundwater
Sustainability Plan (GSP) implementation approach to monitoring in the Santa Cruz
Mid-County Groundwater Basin (Basin), including the development of a non-de
minimis groundwater extraction metering program (Metering Program).
The GSP provides that the MGA will initiate a new well metering program that will
inform the assessment and refinement of the sustainable yield of the Basin. The
program will apply to two categories of users:
(1) All non-de minimis pumping operations expected to extract more than 5
acre-feet per year, and
(2) All non-de minimis pumping operations expected to extract more than 2
acre-feet per year in priority areas that may impact seawater intrusion or
stream flow. The boundaries of these priority zones will be established when
the enabling ordinances are developed, but it is anticipated the zones will
include the areas along the coast where groundwater is less than 50 feet above
sea level and areas within 500 -1000 feet of a water body.
DISCUSSION
The MGA is preparing a Request for Proposals (RFP) to solicit proposals from
qualified consultants to develop the non-de minimis Metering Program for the Basin.
Staff is requesting that the Board approve the formation of a temporary Board
Committee to participate in finalizing the scope outlined in the RFP, evaluating,
ranking, interviewing (as needed) respondents, and selecting a consultant.
Article 12 of the MGA Joint Powers Agreement (JPA) provides that the Board may
establish an ad hoc committee to assist in carrying out the work of the MGA. Article
13 of the JPA requires that each committee have a Board director as chair, and that
other committee members be approved by the Board. Section 5.1 of the MGA Bylaws
permits the establishment of temporary Board committees composed entirely of

Page 94 of 199

Board of Directors
March 18, 2021
Page 2 of 3
Board members to facilitate the conduct of its work. Temporary Board committees
require a specific charge, are not to exceed six months, and are not subject to the
Brown Act unless they include more than six Directors as committee members. Board
committees are to provide regular updates to the full Board on their activities and
the progress of their work.
The charge of this committee is to:
1) Meet with staff to finalize the RFP including the anticipated Scope of Work
2) Evaluate and rank received proposals
3) Participate in interviews if deemed necessary
4) Finalize selection of consultant
5) Direct staff to conduct contract negotiations with the selected consultant to
consistent with MGA’s Procurement Policy.
The duration of this committee is approximately 2 – 3 months. Under the MGA’s
Procurement Policy, procurements of up to $50,000 must be approved by a member
of the Executive Staff. If the negotiated consultant contract is greater than $50,000,
the final selection of the consultant and contract approval would return to the MGA
Board for approval at its meeting on June 17, 2021.
Staff want to recognize that Board members are not typically included in contracts of
this size to the degree of engagement outlined in this memo. However, in this case
the Private Well Owner (PWO) representatives have expressed particularly interest
in this issue and have previously engaged with staff to frame the program as written
in the GSP. Staff also recognize the particular importance of the engaging the PWO
representatives on this issue from the perspective of the parties that will be subject
to the new program, and believe their engagement will support the successful
implementation of the program.
Staff recommends that the review and selection committee include, but not be limited
to up to three Private Well Owner Directors, and up to two Member Agency Directors.
The selection committee will be staffed by the MGA Executive Team Representative
from the County of Santa Cruz. Staff is ready to proceed on this work and, if feasible,
recommends the Board act at this meeting to appoint volunteer Directors interested
in serving on the temporary committee so that the consultant selection and
contracting may proceed prior to the next Board meeting. The temporary board
committee will report back to the Board at future Board meetings.
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Recommended Board Action:
1. BY MOTION, approve the formation of a temporary Board committee
authorized for the purpose of consultant selection for the development of
the MGA Metering Program to include, but not limited to, up to three
Private Well Owner Directors and up to two Member Agency Directors; and
authorize the committee to select the consultant so that contracting may
proceed as consistent with MGA policies; and
2. By MOTION, approve the appointment of up to three Private Well Owner
Directors and up to two Member Agency Directors.

By

___________________________________
Sierra Ryan
Interim Water Resources Manager
County of Santa Cruz
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March 18, 2021
MEMO TO THE MGA BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Subject:

Agenda Item 5.5

Title:

Review Proposed Draft Amendments to Governance Documents
including Review of Agency Staffing Strategy

Attachments:
1. MGA Joint Powers Agreement (JPA), effective March 17, 2016
2. Draft Proposed Amendments to MGA JPA, March 18, 2021
3. MGA Bylaws, May 19, 2016
4. Draft Proposed Amendments to MGA Bylaws March 18, 2021
5. Staff Report Item 5.1 from MGA Board Meeting 11-15-2018
6. Table 1. Summary of Substantive Proposed Amendments to the Bylaws
7. Table 2. Summary of Substantive Proposed Amendments to the JPA
8. Draft Resolution to Approve Terms for the Private Well Owner Directors
BACKGROUND AND PURPOSE
The Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency (MGA or Agency) entered into a
Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement (JPA) between the four Member Agencies and
enacted the Agency Bylaws in 2016; referred to in this memo as the “governing”
documents. As previously stated to the Board in prior meetings, in the course of
carrying out MGA business staff have encountered items in the governing documents
that require correction and/or clarification and have maintained a list of such items.
The previously stated approach is that following completion of the initial
Groundwater Sustainability Plan (GSP), staff would review and propose revisions to
the governing documents. The JPA provides that the Board of Directors shall amend
the Bylaws as needed to govern the day-to-day operations of the Agency. Bylaws
Section 6.1 presents the collaborative management and staffing strategy. Section 6.3
requires a review of the staffing strategy upon completion of the Groundwater
Sustainability Plan to assess that the collaborative staffing model continues to meet
the needs of the MGA.
At the direction of the Board, staff reviewed the governing documents and assessed
the staffing strategy to provide a summary of proposed amendments and to
development recommendations for Board consideration. The proposed revisions to the
JPA and Bylaws were reviewed by the Executive Team and MGA legal counsel.
The proposed revisions can be broadly categorized into the following:
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Administrative Corrections and Clarifications: Many of the proposed changes
to both documents are relatively minor and are intended to improve the clarity
and consistency of the documents. For example, activities called for in the
documents (e.g., government filings) occurred, and so the tense and references
(e.g., date of occurrence) have been updated accordingly. The proposed
revisions include the consistent use of various terminology such as Member
Agency, Member Director, etc. for clarity. This includes fixing inconsistencies;
the JPA indicates the fiscal year is the calendar year, the Bylaws (as
permitted) state the fiscal year runs from July 1 – June 30. The distinction
between “Elected Officials” (e.g., Chair, Vice-Chair, and Secretary) and
“Appointed Official” (Treasurer) is clarified. There are multiple other examples
of similar clarifications that update and improve the governing documents but
are effectively non-substantive revisions. The minor changes will only be
evident by reading the track-changed version of the documents. The Table of
Contents in both track-change documents has not yet been updated. Once
Board direction on the proposed amendments are incorporated, an updated
Table of Contents will be prepared.
Reorganization: The proposed revisions include moving and rearranging
content from one section to another. For example, the Bylaws present the
duties and functions of the Treasure in Article 6. Agency Administration,
Management and Staffing and the proposed revision shifts this to Article 4.
Officers since these largely pertain to the duties as an officer. There are
multiple other examples of reorganization.
Substantive Revisions: Both the Bylaws and JPA and include substantive
revisions and modifications that alter or add new content. These revisions are
presented in Table 1 (Bylaws) and Table 2 (JPA). The Tables are organized by
the articles of each document and state the reason for the proposed change.
Tables 1 and 2 do not list the administrative corrections.
Attachments to this memo include: the original JPA (Attachment 1) and the draft
proposed JPA (Attachment 2); the original Bylaws (Attachment 3) and the draft
proposed Bylaws (Attachment 4). The proposed amendments (Attachments 2 and 4)
are shown as track-changes with deleted text in strikeout (e.g., deleted) and added
text (added) and text relocated in the document shown as green (new location) and
green (old location).
Anticipated Process and Schedule
This Board meeting (March 18, 2021) provides the “first read” opportunity for the
Board to consider the proposed amendments to the JPA and Bylaws and provide
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direction to staff on these governing documents. The Bylaws require at least thirty
(30) days written notice is provided to all Board members prior to amending. The
notice is to identify the Article to be amended, the proposed amendment, and the
reason for the proposed amendment. The Board may approve the amended Bylaws
by resolution of the majority of the Board.
The anticipated process is for the amended JPA and Bylaws to return to the Board at
its June meeting for approval. The JPA must be approved and executed by all of the
Members Agencies. If the amended JPA is approved and executed by all the Member
Agencies without any changes, the JPA would not return to the MGA Board and will
become effective upon approval by the last Member Agency. If revisions are proposed
by a Member Agency, the revised JPA would return to the MGA Board for
consideration. The amended Bylaws will become effective upon the approval and
execution of the amended JPA by the last Member Agency.
The anticipated schedule for review and consideration is presented below:
Initial Board Review of Draft Amendments JPA and Bylaws: 3/18/21 (Board Meeting)
Issue Written Notice of Proposed Amendments to Bylaws:

5/17/21

Board Approval of the Amended Bylaws:

6/17/21(Board Meeting)

Board Approval of the JPA for Member Agency Approval
6/17/21(Board Meeting)
(JPA to be effective upon approval of last approving Member Agency)
Individual Member Agency Approval of the JPA

Summer 2021

If necessary, Board Review and Board Approval of the JPA

9/9/21(Board Meeting)

Review of Existing Collaborative Staffing Strategy an Administrative
Staffing Approach and Proposed Changes
Article 10 of the JPA includes the following provision on Agency Administration,
Management and Operation:
“The Board of Directors may select and implement an approach to
Agency administration and management that is appropriate to the
circumstances and adapted to the GSA’s needs as they may evolve over time.
Details of the Board’s decision on Agency administration, management and
operation shall be incorporated into the GSA’s bylaws and reviewed and
revised as needed using the established process for revising the GSA’s bylaws.”
The Bylaws Article 6 describes the adopted approach for Agency Administration,
Management and Operation. The approach proposed at the time and the approach
that has been implemented throughout the five years of the Agency’s existance is “a
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collaborative staffing model in which the professional and technical staff of the
member agencies work together to provide staff leadership, management and
administration of the Agency.”
From the beginning executive level staff from the MGA’s member agencies has met
at least monthly to support development of both the GSA’s Groundwater
Sustainability Plan (GSP) and to prepare for and support Board meetings and
actions. Early in the Agency’s five year life, this Executive Team identified a need
for a range of administrative services and recommended to the Board that the Agency
contract with the Regional Water Management Foundation (RWMF), a subsidiary of
the Community Foundation Santa Cruz County (Community Foundation), to provide
that support. Initiatially the arrangement between the MGA and the Foundation
was based on a Memorandum of Agreement, but in recent years, the arrangement
has transitioned to a contract for services, which include providing administrative
support for the Board, providing staffing services for the development of the GSP,
and grant writing and administration. MGA Bylaws Article 6.1 provides the details
of the collaborative staffing approach that has been implemented and includes a
number of recommended changes to adapt the bylaw provisions related to Agency
Administration, Management and Operation to the current and forseeable
circumstances. A summary of the proposed changes includes:
 Throughout Article 6, changes are proposed in capitalization, particularly
related to terms such as Member Agencies,
 In Section 6.1.1, language is added to further define eligible membership in the
Agency’s collaborative management executive team, and detailing some
additional provisions for Member Agency appointments to the executive team.
 In Section 6.1.2 (including subsections 6.1.2.1 – 6.1.2.3) staff is suggesting
language to clarify and differentiate between in-kind contributions of Member
Agency staff to the Administrative, Management and Operation of the GSA
and the involvement individual or small groups of Member Agency staff in
implementing or supporting implementation of programs and projects that
support the organization as a whole. A specific current example is the
engagement of Member Agency staff in the development and implementation
of a Data Management System. Members of the Soquel Creek Water District
staff have extensive experience in using the software platform chosen for use
as a Data Management System for both the Mid-County and the Santa
Margarita Groundwater basins. Engagement of staff with expertise to assist
in getting the system up and running benefits everyone and should be
compensated.
 In Section 6.1.4, language has been added to eliminate the specific reference to
the Community Foundation and replace it with a more general reference
providing that executive staff can identify any appropriate approaches to
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providing for necessary administrative support for the agency and make
recommendations to the Board to authorize those actions as needed.
Article 6.3 of the MGA Bylaws provides for a review of the collaborative staffing
strategy at the completion of the development of the Agency’s GSP. This provision
was included in the original bylaws to create an opportunity for a time-certain explicit
review of the collaborative staffing model both in terms of its overall effectiveness
and its potential for meeting the Agency’s ongoing needs for staff support.
Two specific topics to be included in the review were identified in the 2016 Bylaws,
these are:
1. the effectiveness of the staffing approach in meeting the Agency’s needs,
and,
2. specifically related to the appropriateness of the staffing approach given
how the Agency’s decision making relates to completion of projects by the
Agency (as opposed to member agencies of the GSA).
In 2016, the thought was that if the Agency took on an active role in developing and
implementing any projects necessary to achieve sustainability, the collaborative
staffing model might not be a good fit because, project development typically requires
technical work performed by either staff or consultants as well as having leadership
staff that can oversee this kind of work. Further, as all of the executive level staff
involved in supporting the agency using the collaborative staffing model have their
own agencies or organizations to oversee, there was a concern about these positions
not having adequate time to manage GSA project development and implementation
as well.
With respect to the first topic (Item 1 above) of the effectiveness of the collaborative
staffing model in meeting the agency’s needs, staff notes that it is not aware of any
concerns by Board members about Agency operational efficiency that would indicate
a need for a change in staffing approach. And, with respect to the second topic (Item
2 above) related to the approapriateness of using a collaborative staffing model, the
Board took action on November 15, 2018 after the Board reviewed a number of options
for the role of the Agency in developing or implementing projects. (Attachment 5).
Among the roles considered were:
a. The MGA will limit its role to that of a basin planning agency and will
look to member agencies for developing, implementing and financing
management actions and/or projects needed to achieve basin
sustainability.
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b. The MGA will be the basin planning agency and could play a role in
funding projects but that role would likely be limited to generating
revenues needed to fund management actions or projects from the
potential implementation of something like a basin management fee.
c. The MGA could play a role in funding, financing and implementing
projects if projects need to be done and none of the member agencies are
willing or able to do what is needed.
d. The MGA will play a role in funding, financing, and developing and
implementing management actions and projects needed to achieve basin
sustainability.
The Board had a robust discussion of these options, as well as on the topic of what to
include in GSP Section 4 on Projects and Management Actions, and in Section 5 on
Plan Implementation, and ultimately unanimously approved the following motion,
which addressed all of these topics:1
“To acknowledge the Board’s current sense of the MGA’s role as the basinplanning agency that could play a limited role in funding projects and/or
management actions. Section 4.0 [Projects and Management Actions to
Achieve Sustainability Goal] of the MGA’s Groundwater Sustainability Plan
will include, but not be limited to, all projects and management actions
presented in Attachment B (Agenda Item 5.1.2, Working Draft Water Supply
Augmentation Options for the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Basin).
Section 5.0 [Plan Implementation] of the MGA’s Groundwater Sustainability
Plan will focus on those member agency programs and projects that are
currently being implemented or are in development including, but not limited
to, river water transfers, in lieu recharge, Pure Water Soquel, aquifer storage
and recovery, and managed aquifer recharge.”
With the Board’s November 15, 2018 agreement to limit the role of the GSA in
devleoping and implementing projects, staff recommends continuing to use the
collaborative staffing model to support Agency Administration, Management and
Operation as it has proven to be effective and and has supported the continued
collaboration and coordination between local water agencies that benefitted both the
MGA Basin and the larger region. Further, staff recommends deletion of Article 6.3
from the Agency Bylaws because it is no longer needed and because the Board always
has the ability, based on the language in the JPA, to revisit and revise its approach
to the ongoing administration, management and operation of the GSA.
Link to Board Minutes for the 11-15-2018 meeting
www.midcountygroundwater.org/sites/default/files/uploads/meetings/minutes/MGA_Board_Minutes_
2018-1115_%20Final_0.pdf
1
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Substantive Revisions to the Bylaws
Table 1 (Attachment 6) presents the substantive revisions to the Bylaws and the
reason for the proposed change. Table 1 is intended to accompany and facilitate the
review of the proposed revisions in the track-changes versions of the Bylaws (i.e.,
strikeouts and additions).
Regarding the proposed revisions to Article 2. Section 2.2 Procedure for Appointment
of Directors Representing Private Well Owners, this would establish a term for the
Directors. Neither governing documents established a term for these Directors. This
proposes a term of four (4) years, unless it is otherwise established by the Member
Agency Directors. To establish staggered terms, it is proposed that one of the PWO
Directors and the Alternate Director serve an initial term of two years. The PWO
Directors may unanimously select which Director serves the shorter term or
alternatively determine that through a random selection process.
At the Board meeting on November 17, 2016, the PWO Directors and Alternate
Directors were appointed by the Board and assigned terms of four (4) years (Mr.
Abramson and Mr. Kennedy) and two (2) years (Mr. Kerr and Mr. Schultz). In 2018,
it was brought to the attention of staff that the governing documents clearly establish
the duration of the term for Member Agency Directors (JPA Section 5.1), but that
neither the JPA nor the Bylaws establish the term durations for PWO Directors. Staff
called this to the attention of the Board at the March 15, 2018, meeting and stated
that clarifying the term durations would be added to the list of items to address when
the governing documents were amended. The PWO Directors were informed that the
duration of terms would be clarified as part of that process.
It is proposed that the effective dates of the terms for the PWO Director seats be
determined by resolution of the Board following the approval of the amended JPA
and Bylaws. A sample resolution is provided for review that would establish terms
and effective dates for the each of the PWO Director positions (Attachment 8). Staff
notes that if the PWO terms started in January it would allow for greater consistency
in the timing of the Member Agency appointments and Director terms, which is
preferable to having various Directors terms starting at different months of the year.
When the Board considers this item for approval, staff will recommend the Board
consider reappointing the currently serving Directors, pending their interest in
continuing to serve. Pending the timing on the approval of the amended governing
documents, the resolution will come to the Board for its approval.
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Substantive Revisions to the JPA
Table 2 (Attachment 7) presents the substantive revisions to the JPA and the
reasoning for the proposed change. Table 2 is intended to accompany and facilitate
the review of the proposed revisions in the track-changes versions of the JPA.
Regarding the proposed revisions to Article 6 Section 6.5 Term of Appointment and
Removal the proposed language has the term of a Director set by the appointing
Member Agency rather than by the MGA. Member Directors serve at the pleasure of
their Member Agency. In practice, some Member Agencies (e.g., City of Santa Cruz,
Soquel Creek Water District) make appointments to their various boards and
committees annually, so the proposed revision aligns with practices.
Unanimous Approval of Capital Costs
JPA Article 9 Section 9.3 Affirmative Decisions of the Board of Directors requires a
unanimous vote (rather than a simple majority) of voting Member Agency Directors
for any “capital” expenditure that is estimated to cost $100,000 or more2. In
developing the initial JPA in 2015, Member Agency representatives expressed
concern at the time about this then new Agency potentially taking on debt due to
projects. The inclusion of the unanimous approval on capital expenditures was
incorporated to address that concern.
At the Board meeting on March 16, 2017, in a discussion related to the approval of
an expenditure greater than $100,000 (Item 4.5), there was not unanimous approval
of the expenditure and it raised the question of whether or not it was a “capital”
expenditure and the Treasurer was called upon during the meeting to make that
determination (it was not a capital expenditure). It was suggested at the time that
future board memos proposing expenditures above $100,000 state whether the
proposed item is a capital expenditure. There was no direction to staff at that time
other than to clarify whether or not it is a “capital” expenditure. At the recent
November 17, 2020 meeting, a director raised the question about the JPA requiring
a unanimous vote for any expenditure over $100,000 rather than only capital
expenditures; staff stated the current requirement and responded that the issue
would be reviewed as part of the amendment process.
Staff is not proposing a revision to the applicable section of the JPA due to concerns
that a unanimous approval requirement for any expenditure over $100,000 may
Capital assets include land, improvements to land, easements, buildings, building improvements,
vehicles, machinery, equipment, infrastructure, and all other tangible or intangible assets that are
used in operations and that have initial useful lives extending beyond a single reporting period.
2
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impact the Agency’s ability to acquire desired consultant/contractor services in a
timely and efficient manner. If the Board wishes to expand the unanimous vote
requirement on expenditures beyond capital expenditures, it may want to consider if
the threshold amount should be increased or consider the use of other triggering
mechanisms to achieve the desired outcome while maintaining the Agency’s ability
to efficiently conduct business.
Recommendation
Staff recommends the Board provide direction to staff on any further desired
revisions to the JPA and Bylaws so that staff has the direction necessary to prepare
the amended JPA and Bylaws for consideration at the next Board meeting.
In an attempt to facilitate the recommended actions, staff has separated the motions
into separate approvals of the administrative and organizational revisions from the
more substantive revisions to both governing documents.
Recommended Actions:
1. BY MOTION, approve the proposed administrative corrections and the
proposed reorganization of the JPA with any additional Board revisions
directed to staff; and
2. BY MOTION, approve the proposed administrative corrections and the
proposed reorganization of the Bylaws with any additional Board revisions
directed to staff; and
3. BY MOTION, approve the recommended revisions to the Collaborative Staffing
Strategy and Administrative Staffing Approach in the Bylaws Article 6; and
4. BY MOTION, approve the proposed revisions presented Table 1. Summary of
Substantive Proposed Amendments to the Bylaws with any additional Board
revisions directed to staff; and
5. BY MOTION, approve the proposed revisions presented Table 2. Summary of
Substantive Proposed Amendments to the JPA with any additional Board
revisions directed to staff.
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By_______________________________
Tim Carson
Program Director
Regional Water Management
Foundation

By___________________________________
Rosemary Menard
Water Director
City of Santa Cruz

Prepared on behalf of the MGA Member Agency Executive Team: Ron Duncan,
Ralph Bracamonte, Rosemary Menard, and Sierra Ryan.
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by and among
CENTRAL WATER DISTRICT
CITY OF SANTA CRUZ
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and
SOQUEL CREEK WATER DISTRICT
creating the
SANTA CRUZ MID-COUNTY GROUNDWATER AGENCY
March 17, 2016
As Amended Month, Day, 2021
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JOINT EXERCISE OF POWERS AGREEMENT
OF THE SANTA CRUZ MID-COUNTY GROUNDWATER AGENCY
This Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement (“Agreement”) was is made and entered into as of
March 17, 2016 (“Effective Date”), and amended as of Month, Day, 2021, by and among the Central Water
District, the City of Santa Cruz, the County of Santa Cruz, and the Soquel Creek Water District, sometimes
referred to herein individually as a “Member Agency” and collectively as the “Member Agencies” for
purposes of forming the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency (“Agency”) and setting forth the
terms pursuant to which the Agency shall operate. Capitalized defined terms used herein shall have the
meanings given to them in Article 1 of this Agreement.
RECITALS
A.
Each of the Members Agencies is a local agency, as defined by the Sustainable Groundwater
Management Act of 2014 (“SGMA”), duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the
State of California, and each Member Agency can exercise powers related to groundwater management.
B.
SGMA requireds the designation of a groundwater sustainability agency (“GSA”) by June 30,
2017, for groundwater basins designated by the California Department of Water Resources (“DWR”) as
medium- and high-priority basins.
C.
SGMA requireds the adoption of a groundwater sustainability plan (“GSP”) by January 31,
2020, for all medium- and high-priority basins identified as being subject to critical conditions of overdraft.
D.
Each of the Members Agencies either extracts groundwater from or regulates land use
activities overlying a common groundwater basin located within the mid-county coastal region of the County
of Santa Cruz. This Basin includes all or part of four basins identified in prior updates to DWR’s Bulletin
Number 118, including the following basins (designated by the name of the basin and number assigned to it
in DWR-Bulletin No. 118): Soquel Valley (3-1), West Santa Cruz Terrace (3-26), Santa Cruz Purisima
Formation (3-21), and Pajaro Valley Basin (3-2). All or some of these basins have been designated as
medium or high priority basins. Through the Agency, the Members Agencies provided modifications to the
Bulletin-118 boundaries as allowed by Title 23 of the California Code of Regulations to create a new
consolidated basin called the “Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Basin” with 3-1 as the number for the
consolidated basin under DWR Bulletin No. 118 (hereafter “Basin”).
E.
The Members Agencies adopted a GSP on November 21, 2019, and intend for the Agency to
develop a GSP and manage the Basin pursuant to SGMA.
F.
agreement.

Under SGMA, a combination of local agencies may form a GSA through a joint powers

G.
The Members Agencies have determined that the sustainable management of the Basin
pursuant to SGMA may best be achieved through the cooperation of the Members Agencies operating
through a joint powers agency.
H.
The Joint Exercise of Powers Act of 2000 (Government Code sections 6500, et seq. (“Act”)
authorizes the Members Agencies to create a joint powers authority, to jointly exercise any power common
to the Members Agencies,, and to exercise additional powers granted under the Act.
I.
The Act, including the Marks-Roos Local Bond Pooling Act of 1985 (Government Code
sections 6584, et seq.), authorizes an entity created pursuant to the Act to issue bonds, and under certain

Page 128 of 199

circumstances, to purchase bonds issued by, or to make loans to, the Members Agencies for financing public
capital improvements, working capital, liability and other insurance needs or projects whenever doing so
results in significant public benefits, as determined by the Members Agencies. The Act further authorizes
and empowers a joint powers authority to sell bonds so issued or purchased to public or private purchasers at
public or negotiated sales.
J.
Based on the foregoing legal authority, the Members Agencies desire to create a joint powers
authority for the purpose of taking all actions deemed necessary by the joint powers authority to ensure
sustainable management of the Basin as required by SGMA.
K.
The governing board of each Member Agency has determined it to be in the Member
Agency’s best interest and in the public interest that this Agreement be executed.
TERMS OF AGREEMENT
In consideration of the mutual promises and covenants herein contained, the Members Agencies
agree as follows:
ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS
The following terms have the following meanings for purposes of this Agreement:
1.1
“Act” means the Joint Exercise of Powers Act, set forth in Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1
of the Government Code, sections 6500, et seq., including all laws supplemental thereto.
1.2
“Agreement” means thishas Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement the meaning assigned
thereto in the Preamble.
1.3
“Auditor” means the auditor Member Agency officer performing the functions of auditor or
controller of the financial affairs of the Agency appointed by the Board of Directors pursuant to Section
7.314.3 of this Agreement.
1.4
“Agency” means the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency has the meaning assigned
thereto in the Preamble.
1.5
“Basin” means the “Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Basin” with 3-1 as the number for
the consolidated basin under DWR Bulletin No. 118has the meaning assigned thereto in Recital D.
1.6
“Board of Directors” or “Board” means the governing body of the Agency as established by
Article 6 of this Agreement.
1.7
“Bylaws” means the bylaws, if any, adopted by, or amended by, the Board of Directors
pursuant to Article 11 of this Agreement to govern the day-to-day operations of the Agency.
1.8
“Director” and “Alternate Director” mean a director or alternate director appointed pursuant
to Sections 6.3 and 6.4 of this Agreement. “Member Agency Director” is a Director or Alternate Director
appointed by and representing a Member Aagency pursuant to Section 6.1.1 of this agreement.
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1.9
“DWR” means the California Department of Water Resources has the meaning assigned
thereto in Recital B.
1.10
“GSA” means a Groundwater Sustainability Agency as defined by SGMA.has the meaning
assigned thereto in Recital B.
1.11 “GSP” means a Groundwater Sustainability Plan as defined by SGMA.has the meaning
assigned thereto in Recital C.
1.12 “Member Agency” means each party to this Agreement that satisfies the requirements of
Section 5.1 of this Agreement, including any new members agencies as may be authorized by the Board,
pursuant to Section 5.2 of this Agreement.
1.13 “Officer(s)” or “Agency Officers” means the Chair, Vice Chair, Secretary, or Treasurer of the
Agency to be elected or appointed by the Board of Directors pursuant to Section 7.1 Article 7 of this
Agreement.
1.14 “SGMA” has the meaning assigned thereto in Recital Ameans the Sustainable Groundwater
Management Act.
1.15

“State” means the State of California.
ARTICLE 2
CREATION OF THE AGENCY

2.1
Creation of a Joint Powers Authority. The Agreement, effective March 17, 2016, re is hereby
created pursuant to the Act, a joint powers authority, which will be a public entity separate from the
Members Agencies to this Agreement, and shall be known as the Santa Cruz Mid-County Joint
PowersGroundwater Agency (“Agency”), a joint powers agency. Notice of a Joint Powers Agreement was
filed with the California State Controller’s Office on April 11, 2016. Within 30 days after the Effective Date
of this Agreement and after any amendment to this Agreement, the Agency shall cause prepare and file a
notice of this Agreement or amendment to be prepared and filed with the office of the California Secretary of
State containing the information required by Government Code section 6503.5. On April 5, 2016, the
Agency Within 10 days after the Effective Date of this Agreement, the Agency shall cause submitted a
Sstatement of the information concerning the AgencyFacts, Roster of Public Agencies Filing, required by
Government Code section 53051,, to be filed with to the office of the California Secretary of State and with
the County Clerk for the County of Santa Cruz, setting forth the facts required to be stated pursuant to
Government Code section 53051(a). The Agency shall file updated Registry of Public Agencies forms with
the office of the California Secretary of State as required by Government Code section 53051.
2.2
Purpose of the Agency. Each Member Agency to this Agreement has in common the power
to study, plan, develop, finance, acquire, construct, maintain, repair, manage, operate, control, and govern the
water supply and water management within the Basin, either alone or in cooperation with other public or
private non-member entities, and each is a local agency eligible to serve as a GSA within the Basin, either
alone or jointly through a joint powers agreement as provided for by SGMA. The purpose of this Agency is
to serve as the GSA for the Basin and to develop, adopt, and implement the GSP for the Basin pursuant to
SGMA and other applicable provisions of law.

6
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2.3
Principal Office. The principal office of the Agency shall be at the Soquel Creek Water
District located at 5180 Soquel Drive, Soquel, CA 95073 ("Principal Office") or at an alternate location as
designated by a simple majority vote of the Board.

ARTICLE 3
TERM
This Agreement shall become effective upon execution by each of the Members Agencies and shall
remain in effect until terminated pursuant to the provisions of Article 16Article 17 (Withdrawal of Members
Agencies) of this Agreement.
ARTICLE 4
POWERS
The Agency shall possess the power in its own name to exercise any and all common powers of its
Members Agencies reasonably related to the purposes of the Agency, including but not limited to the
following powers, together with such other powers as are expressly set forth in the Act and in SGMA. For
purposes of Government Code section 6509, the powers of the Agency shall be exercised subject to the
restrictions upon the manner of exercising such powers as are imposed on the County of Santa Cruz, and in
the event of the withdrawal of the County of Santa Cruz as a Member Agency under this Agreement, then
the manner of exercising the Agency’s powers shall be those restrictions imposed on the City of Santa Cruz.
4.1

To exercise all powers afforded to a GSA pursuant to and as permitted by SGMA.

4.2

To develop, adopt and implement the GSP pursuant to SGMA.

4.3
To adopt rules, regulations, policies, bylaws and procedures governing the operation of the
Agency and adoption and implementation of the GSP.
4.4

To obtain rights, permits and other authorizations for or pertaining to implementation of the

GSP.
4.5
To perform other ancillary tasks relating to the operation of the Agency pursuant to SGMA,
including without limitation, environmental review, engineering, and design.
4.6

To make and enter into all contracts necessary to the full exercise of the Agency’s power.

4.7
To employ, designate or otherwise contract for the services of agents, officers, employees,
attorneys, engineers, planners, financial consultants, technical specialists, advisors, and independent
contractors.
4.8
To exercise jointly the common powers of the Members Agencies, as directed by the Board,
in developing and implementing a GSP for the Basin.
4.9
To investigate legislation and proposed legislation affecting the Basin and to make
appearances regarding such matters.
4.10 To cooperate and to act in conjunction and contract with the United States, the State of
California or any agency thereof, counties, municipalities, public and private corporations of any kind
7
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(including without limitation, investor-owned utilities), and individuals, or any of them, for any and all
purposes necessary or convenient for the full exercise of the powers of the Agency.
4.11 To incur debts, liabilities or obligations, to issue bonds, notes, certificates of participation,
guarantees, equipment leases, reimbursement obligations and other indebtedness, and, to the extent provided
for in a duly adopted Agency to impose assessments, groundwater extraction fees or other charges, and other
means of financing the Agency as provided in Chapter 8 of SGMA commencing at Section 10730 of the
Water Code.
4.12 To collect and monitor data on the extraction of groundwater from, and the quality of
groundwater in, the Basin.
4.13 To establish and administer a conjunctive use program for the purposes of maintaining
sustainable yields in the Basin consistent with the requirements of SGMA.
4.14

To exchange and distribute water.

4.15

To regulate groundwater extractions as permitted by SGMA.

4.16

To impose groundwater extraction fees as permitted by SGMA.

4.17

To spread, sink and inject water into the Basin.

4.18 To store, transport, recapture, recycle, purify, treat or otherwise manage and control water for
beneficial use.
4.19 To apply for, accept and receive licenses, permits, water rights, approvals, agreements, grants,
loans, contributions, donations or other aid from any agency of the United States, the State of California, or
other public agencies or private persons or entities necessary for the Agency’s purposes.
4.20

To develop and facilitate market-based solutions for the use and management of water rights.

4.21 To acquire property and other assets by grant, lease, purchase, bequest, devise, gift or eminent
domain, and to hold, enjoy, lease or sell, or otherwise dispose of, property, including real property, water
rights, and personal property, necessary for the full exercise of the Agency’s powers.
4.22

To sue and be sued in its own name.

4.23 To provide for the prosecution of, defense of, or other participation in actions or proceedings
at law or in public hearings in which the Members Agencies, pursuant to this Agreement, may have an
interest and may employ counsel and other expert assistance for these purposes.
4.24 To exercise the common powers of its Members Agencies to develop, collect, provide, and
disseminate information that furthers the purposes of the Agency, including but not limited to the operation
of the Agency and adoption and implementation of the GSP to the Members Agencies, legislative,
administrative, and judicial bodies, as well the public generally.
4.25

To accumulate operating and reserve funds for the purposes herein stated.

8
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4.26 To invest money that is not required for the immediate necessities of the Agency, as the
Agency determines is advisable, in the same manner and upon the same conditions as Members Agencies,
pursuant to Government Code section 53601, as it now exists or may hereafter be amended.
4.27
4.28
Agreement.

To undertake any investigations, studies, and matters of general administration.
To perform all other acts necessary or proper to carry out fully the purposes of this
ARTICLE 5
MEMBERSHIP

5.1
Members Agencies. The Member Agencies s of the Agency shall be the Central Water
District, the City of Santa Cruz, the County of Santa Cruz, and the Soquel Creek Water District, as long as
they have not, pursuant to the provisions hereof, withdrawn from this Agreement.
5.2
New Members Agencies. Any public agency (as defined by the Act) that is not a Member
Agency on the Effective Date of this Agreement may become a Member Agency upon: (a) the approval of
the Board of Directors by a supermajority of at least seventy-five (75%) of the votes held among all
Directors as specified in Article 9 (Member Voting); (b) payment of a pro rata share of all previously
incurred costs that the Board of Directors determines have resulted in benefit to the public agency, and are
appropriate for assessment on the public agency; and (c) execution of a written agreement subjecting the
public agency to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
ARTICLE 6
BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
6.1
Formation of the Board of Directors. The Agency shall be governed by a Board of Directors.
(“Board”). The Board shall consist of eleven (11) Directors consisting of the following representatives who
shall be appointed in the manner set forth in Section 6.3:
6.1.1 Two representatives (referred to herein as “Member Agency Directors”), appointed by
the governing board of each of the following public agency Members Agencies: the Central Water District,
the City of Santa Cruz, the County of Santa Cruz, and the Soquel Creek Water District.
6.1.2 Three representatives of private well owners within the boundaries of the Agency
(referred to herein as “Private Well Owner Directors”).
6.2
Duties of the Board of Directors. The business and affairs of the Agency, and all of its
powers, including without limitation all powers set forth in Article 4 (Powers), are reserved to and shall be
exercised by and through the Board of Directors, except as may be expressly delegated to the staff or others
pursuant to this Agreement, Bylaws, or by specific action of the Board of Directors.
6.3

Appointment of Directors. The Directors shall be appointed as follows:

6.3.1 The two representatives from the Central Water District shall be appointed by
resolution of the Central Water District Board of Directors.
6.3.2 The two representatives from the City of Santa Cruz shall be appointed by resolution
of the City of Santa Cruz City Council.
9
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6.3.3 The two representatives from the County of Santa Cruz shall be appointed by
resolution of the County of Santa Cruz Board of Supervisors.
6.3.4 The two representatives from the Soquel Creek Water District shall be appointed by
resolution of the Soquel Creek Water District Board of Directors.
6.3.5 The three representatives of private well owners shall be appointed by majority vote of
the eight public agency Member Agency Directors. The procedures for nominating the private well owners
shall be set forth in the Bylaws.
6.4
Alternate Directors. Each Member Agency may have one Alternate to act as a substitute
Director for either of the Member Agency’s Directors. One Alternate shall also be appointed to act as a
substitute Director for any of the three Directors representing private well owners. All Alternates shall be
appointed in the same manner as set forth in Section 6.3. Alternate Directors shall have no vote, and shall
not participate in any discussions or deliberations of the Board unless appearing as a substitute for a Director
due to absence or conflict of interest. If the Director is not present, or if the Director has a conflict of interest
which precludes participation by the Director in any decision-making process of the Board, the Alternate
Director appointed to act in his/hertheir place shall assume all rights of the Director, and shall have the
authority to act in his/hertheir absence, including casting votes on matters before the Board. Each Alternate
Director shall be appointed prior to the third meeting of the Board. Alternates are strongly encouraged to
attend all Board meetings and stay informed on current issues before the Board.
6.5

RequirementsTerm of Appointment and Removal.

6.5.1 Term of Appointment. Each Member’s Agency’s Directors and Alternate Director shall
be appointed by resolution of that Member’s governing body to serve for a term of four years except, for the
purpose of establishing staggered terms, one of the initially-appointed Directors of each Member shall, as
designated by the Member, serve an initial term of two years established by the Member Agency. A
Member’s Agency’s Director or Alternate Director may be removed during his or her term or reappointed for
multiple terms at the pleasure of the Member that appointed him or her. The term of a Director representing
private well owners shall be set forth in the Bylaws. A Director representing private well owners may be
removed or reappointed in the same manner as he or she was appointed as set forth in Section 6.3. No
individual Director may be removed in any other manner, including by the affirmative vote of the other
Directors.
6.5.2 Removal. A Member Agency’s Director or Alternate Director may be removed during
his or hertheir term or reappointed for multiple terms at the pleasure of the Member Agency that appointed
him or herthem. No individual Member Agency Director or Alternate Director may be removed in any other
manner, including by the affirmative vote of the other Directors. A Director or Alternate Director
representing private well owners may be removed or reappointed in the same manner as he or she was they
were appointed as set forth in Section 6.3 by majority vote of the Member Agency Directors.
6.6
Vacancies. A vacancy on the Board of Directors shall occur when a Director resigns or at the
end of the Director’s term as set forth in Section 6.46.5. For Member Directors, a vacancy shall also occur
when he or she is removed by his or her appointing Member. For Directors representing private well
owners, a vacancy shall also occur when the Director is removed as set forth in Section 6.5. Upon the
vacancy of a Director, the Alternate Director shall serve as Director until a new Director is appointed as set
forth in Section 6.3 unless the Alternate is already serving as a substitute Director in the event of a prior
vacancy, in which case, the seat shall remain vacant until a replacement Director is appointed as set forth in
10
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Section 6.3. Members shall provide notice of any changes in Director or Alternate Director positions to the
Board of Directors or its designee in writing and signed by an authorized representative of the Member.

6.6.1

Member Agency Directors: For Member Directors, a vacancy shall also occur when he or she
is they are removed by his or her appointing Member. Upon the vacancy of a Director, the
Alternate Director shall serve as Director until a new Director is appointed as set forth in
Section 6.3 unless the Alternate is already serving as a substitute Director in the event of a
prior vacancy, in which case, the seat shall remain vacant until a replacement Director is
appointed as set forth in Section 6.3. Members shall provide notice of any changes in
Director or Alternate Director positions, including the effective date of any change, to the
Board of Directors or its designee in writing and signed by an authorized representative of the
Member. Any appointment to fill a vacancy shall be to serve for the remainder of the term of
the departing Director.

6.6.2

Private Well Owner Directors: Upon the vacancy of a Director, the Alternate Director, if
willing, shall fill the vacancy and serve for the remainder of the term of the departing Director
and a new Alternate Director shall be appointed as set forth in Section 6.3. If the Alternate
Director does not wish to fill the vacancy, a new Director shall be appointed as set forth in
Section 6.3. In the event of multiple vacancies, Directors shall be appointed as set forth in
Section 6.3.

ARTICLE 7
OFFICERS
7.1
Officers. Officers of the Agency shall be a Chair, Vice Chair, Secretary, and Treasurer. The
Treasurer shall be appointed consistent with the provisions of Section 14.3. The Vice Chair, or in the Vice
Chair’s absence, the Secretary, shall exercise all powers of the Chair in the Chair’s absence or inability to
act.
7.2

Elected Officers Appointment of Officers.
7.2.1 Elected Officers are the Chair, Vice Chair, and Secretary.

7.2.2 Elected Officers shall be elected annually by, and serve at the pleasure of, the Board of
Directors. Officers shall be elected at the first Board meeting, and thereafter at the first Board
meeting following January 1st of each year, or as duly continued by the Board. An Officer may serve
for multiple consecutive terms, with no term limit. Any Officer may resign at any time upon written
notice to the Board, and may be removed and replaced by a simple majority vote of the Board.
7.2.3. The responsibilities and duties of each Elected Officer is set forth in the Bylaws.
7.27.3 7.3
The Treasurer shall be appointed consistent with the provisions of Section
13.3.Appointment of Treasurer and Auditor; Duties. The Treasurer and Auditor shall be appointed by the
Board in the manner, and shall perform such duties and responsibilities as, specified in Sections 6505.5 and
6505.6 of the Act.
11
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7.3
Principal Office. The principal office of the Agency shall be established by the Board of
Directors, and may thereafter be changed by a simple majority vote of the Board.

ARTICLE 8
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETINGS
8.1
Initial Meeting. The initial meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held in the County of
Santa Cruz, California, within thirty (30) days of the Effective Date of this Agreement.
8.2
Time and Place. The Board of Directors shall meet at least quarterly semiannually, at a date,
time and place set by the Board within the jurisdictional boundaries of one or more of the Members
Agencies, and at such other times as may be determined by the Board.
8.3
Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the Chair or
by a simple majority of Directors, in accordance with the provisions of Government Code section 54956.
8.4
Conduct. All meetings of the Board of Directors, including special meetings, shall be noticed,
held, and conducted in accordance with the Ralph M. Brown Act (Government Code sections 54950, et seq.).
The Board may use teleconferencing in connection with any meeting in conformance with and to the extent
authorized by applicable law.
8.5
Local Conflict of Interest Code. The Board of Directors shall adopted a local conflict of
interest code pursuant to the provisions of the Political Reform Act of 1974 (Government Code sections
81000, et seq.)
ARTICLE 9
BOARD OF DIRECTORSMEMBER VOTING
9.1
Quorum. A quorum of any meeting of the Board of Directors shall consist of an absolute
majority of Directors plus one Director. In the absence of a quorum, any meeting of the Directors may be
adjourned by a vote of the simple majority of Directors present, but no other business may be transacted. For
purposes of this Article, a Director shall be deemed present if the Director appears at the meeting in person
or participates telephonically or otherwise electronically, provided that the telephone or electronic
appearance is consistent with the requirements of the Ralph M. Brown Act.
9.2
Director Votes. Voting by the Board of Directors shall be made on the basis of one vote for
each Director. A Director, or an Alternate Director when acting in the absence of his or hertheir Director,
may vote on all matters of Agency business unless disqualified because of a conflict of interest pursuant to
California law or the local conflict of interest code adopted by the Board of Directors.
9.3
Affirmative Decisions of the Board of Directors. Except as otherwise specified in this
Agreement, all affirmative decisions of the Board of Directors shall require the affirmative vote of a simple
majority of all appointed Directors participating in voting on a matter of Agency business, provided that if a
Director is disqualified from voting on a matter before the Board because of a conflict of interest, that
Director shall be excluded from the calculation of the total number of Directors that constitute a majority.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, a unanimous vote of all Member Agency Directors participating in voting
shall be required to approve any of the following: (i) any capital expenditure that is estimated to cost
12
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$100,000 or more; (ii) the annual budget; (iii) the GSP for the Basin or any amendment thereto; (iv) the
levying of assessments or fees; (v) issuance of indebtedness; or (vi) any stipulation to resolve litigation
concerning groundwater rights within or groundwater management for the Basin.
ARTICLE 10
AGENCY ADMINISTRATION, MANAGEMENT AND OPERATION
The Board of Directors may select and implement an approach to Agency administration and
management that is appropriate to the circumstances and adapted to the GSAAgency’s needs as they may
evolve over time. Details of the Board’s decision on Agency administration, management and operation
shall be incorporated into the GSAAgency’s bylaws and reviewed and revised as needed using the
established process for revising the GSAAgency’s bylaws.
ARTICLE 11
BYLAWS
The Board of Directors shall amend the Bylaws of the Agency as needed to govern the day-to-day
operations of the Agency.
The Board of Directors shall cause to be drafted, approve, and amend the Bylaws of the Agency as
needed to govern the day-to-day operations of the Agency. The Bylaws shall be adopted at or before the first
anniversary of the Board’s first meeting.
Article 11ARTICLE 12
ADVISORY COMMITTEES
12.1 The Board of Directors may from time to time appoint one or more advisory committees or
establish standing or ad hoc committees or working groups to assist in carrying out the purposes and
objectives of the Agency. The Board shall determine the purpose and need for such committees and the
necessary qualifications for individuals appointed to them. The Bylaws Article 5 provide further
specifications on Committees.
Article 12
OPERATION OF COMMITTEES
12.2 Each committee shall include a Director as the chair thereof. Other members of each
committee may be constituted by such individuals approved by the Board of Directors for participation on
the committee.
12.3 However, nNo committee or participant on such committee shall have any authority to act on
behalf of the Agency except as duly authorized by the Board.
ARTICLE 13
ACCOUNTING PRACTICES
13.1 General. The Board of Directors shall establish and maintain such funds and accounts as may
be required by generally accepted public agency accounting practices. The Agency shall maintain strict
accountability of all funds and a report of all receipts and disbursements of the Agency.
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13.2 Fiscal Year. Unless the Board of Directors decides otherwise, the fiscal year for the Agency
shall run concurrent with the calendar year. be from July 1 to June 30.
ARTICLE 14
BUDGET AND EXPENSES
14.1 Budget. Within 120 after the first meeting of the Board of Directors, and thereafter Pprior to
the commencement of each fiscal year, the Board shall adopt a budget for the Agency for the ensuing fiscal
year no later than June 30th. In the event that a budget is not so approved, the prior year’s budget shall be
deemed approved for the ensuing fiscal year until such time as a new budget is adopted, and any
groundwater extraction fee or assessment(s) of contributions of Members Agencies, or both, approved by the
Board during the prior fiscal year shall again be assessed in the same amount and terms for the ensuing fiscal
year.
14.2 Agency Funding and Contributions. For the purpose of funding the expenses and ongoing
operations of the Agency, the Board of Directors shall maintain a funding account in connection with the
annual budget process. The Board of Directors may fund the Agency and the GSP as provided in Chapter 8
of SGMA, commencing with Section 10730 of the Water Code, and may also issue assessments for
contributions by the Members Agencies in the amount and frequency determined necessary by the Board.
Such Member Agency contributions shall be paid byinvoiced to each Member to the Agency within 30 days
of assessment by the Boardthe beginning of the fiscal year. The invoice shall be due and payable within 30
days of the invoice date.
14.3 Return of Contributions. In accordance with Government Code section 6512.1, repayment or
return to the Members Agencies of all or any part of any contributions made by Members Agencies and any
revenues by the Agency may be directed by the Board of Directors at such time and upon such terms as the
Board of Directors may decide; provided that (1) any distributions shall be made in proportion to the
contributions paid by each Member Agency to the Agency, and (2) any capital contribution paid by a
Member Agency voluntarily, and without obligation to make such capital contribution pursuant to Section
15.214.2, shall be returned to the contributing Member Agency, together with accrued interests at the annual
rate published as the yield of the Local Agency Investment Fund administered by the California State
Treasurer, before any other return of contributions to the Members Agencies is made. The Agency shall hold
title to all funds and property acquired by the Agency during the term of this Agreement.
14.4 Issuance of Indebtedness. The Agency may issue bonds, notes or other forms of
indebtedness, as permitted under Section 4.11, provided such issuance be approved at a meeting of the Board
of Directors by unanimous vote of the Member Agency Directors as specified in Section 9.3. Article 9
(Member Voting).
ARTICLE 15
LIABILITIES
15.1 Liability. In accordance with Government Code section 6507, the debt, liabilities and
obligations of the Agency shall be the debts, liabilities and obligations of the Agency alone, and not the
Members Agencies.
15.2 Indemnity. Funds of the Agency may be used to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the
Agency, each Member Agency, each Director, and any officers, agents and employees of the Agency for
their actions taken within the course and scope of their duties while acting on behalf of the Agency. Other
than for gross negligence or intentional acts, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the Agency agrees to
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save, indemnify, defend and hold harmless each Member Agency from any liability, claims, suits, actions,
arbitration proceedings, administrative proceedings, regulatory proceedings, losses, expenses or costs of any
kind, whether actual, alleged or threatened, including attorney’s fees and costs, court costs, interest, defense
costs, and expert witness fees, where the same arise out of, or are in any way attributable, in whole or in part,
to negligent acts or omissions of the Agency or its employees, officers or agents or the employees, officers or
agents of any Member Agency, while acting within the course and scope of a Member Agency relationship
with the Agency.
ARTICLE 16
WITHDRAWAL OF MEMBERS AGENCY
16.1 Unilateral Withdrawal. Subject to the Dispute Resolution provisions set forth in Section 18.9,
a Member Agency may unilaterally withdraw from this Agreement without causing or requiring termination
of this Agreement, effective upon 30 days written notice to the Board of Directors or its designee.
16.2 Rescission or Termination of Agency. This Agreement may be rescinded and the Agency
terminated by unanimous written consent of all Members Agencies, except during the outstanding term of
any Agency indebtedness.
16.3 Effect of Withdrawal or Termination. Upon termination of this Agreement or unilateral
withdrawal, a Member Agency shall remain obligated to pay its share of all debts, liabilities and obligations
of the Agency required of the Member Agency pursuant to terms of this Agreement, and that were incurred
or accrued prior to the effective date of such termination or withdrawal, including without limitation those
debts, liabilities and obligations pursuant to Sections 4.11 and 15.414.4. Any Member Agency who
withdraws from the Agency shall have no right to participate in the business and affairs of the Agency or to
exercise any rights of a Member Agency under this Agreement or the Act, but shall continue to share in
distributions from the Agency on the same basis as if such Member Agency had not withdrawn, provided
that a Member Agency that has withdrawn from the Agency shall not receive distributions in excess of the
contributions made to the Agency while a Member Agency. The right to share in distributions granted under
this Section 17.316.3 shall be in lieu of any right the withdrawn Member Agency may have to receive a
distribution or payment of the fair value of the Member Agency’s interest in the Agency.
16.4 Return of Contribution. Upon termination of this Agreement, any surplus money on-hand
shall be returned to the Members Agencies in proportion to their contributions made. The Board of Directors
shall first offer any property, works, rights and interests of the Agency for sale to the Members Agencies on
terms and conditions determined by the Board of Directors. If no such sale to Members Agencies is
consummated, the Board of Directors shall offer the property, works, rights, and interest of the Agency for
sale to any non-member for good and adequate consideration. The net proceeds from any sale shall be
distributed among the Members Agencies in proportion to their contributions made.
ARTICLE 17
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
17.1 No Predetermination or Irretrievable Commitment of Resources. Nothing herein shall
constitute a determination by the Agency or any of its Members Agencies that any action shall be
undertaken, or that any unconditional or irretrievable commitment of resources shall be made, until such time
as the required compliance with all local, state, or federal laws, including without limitation the California
Environmental Quality Act, National Environmental Policy Act, or permit requirements, as applicable, has
been completed.
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17.2 Notices. Notices to a Director or Member Agency hereunder shall be sufficient if delivered to
the respective Director or clerk of the Member Aagency and addressed to the Director or clerk of the
Member Aagency. Delivery may be accomplished by U.S. Postal Service, private mail service or electronic
mail.
17.3 Amendments to Agreement. This Agreement may be amended or modified at any time only
by subsequent written agreement approved and executed by all of the Members Agencies.
17.4 Agreement Complete. The foregoing constitutes the full and complete Agreement of the
Members Agencies. This Agreement supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, whether in writing
or oral, related to the subject matter of this Agreement that are not set forth in writing herein.
17.5 Severability. Should any part, term or provision of this Agreement be decided by a court of
competent jurisdiction to be illegal or in conflict with any applicable federal law or any law of the State of
California, or otherwise be rendered unenforceable or ineffectual, the validity of the remaining parts, terms,
or provisions hereof shall not be affected thereby, provided however, that if the remaining parts, terms, or
provisions do not comply with the Act, this Agreement shall terminate.
17.6 Withdrawal by Operation of Law. Should the participation of any Member Agency to this
Agreement be decided by the courts to be illegal or in excess of that Member Agency’s authority or in
conflict with any law, the validity of the Agreement as to the remaining Members Agencies shall not be
affected thereby.
17.7 Assignment. The rights and duties of the Members Agencies may not be assigned or
delegated without the written consent of all other Member Agenciess. Any attempt to assign or delegate
such rights or duties in contravention of this Agreement shall be null and void.
17.8 Binding on Successors. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the
successors and assigns of the Members Agencies.
17.9 Dispute Resolution. In the event that any dispute arises among the Members Agencies relating
to (i) this Agreement, (ii) the rights and obligations arising from this Agreement, or (iii) or a Member
Agency proposing to withdraw from membership in the Agency, the aggrieved Member Agency or Member
Agency proposing to withdraw from membership shall provide written notice to the other Members
Agencies of the controversy or proposal to withdraw from membership. Within thirty (30) days thereafter,
the Members Agencies shall attempt in good faith to resolve the controversy through informal means. If the
Members Agencies cannot agree upon a resolution of the controversy within thirty (30) days from the
providing of written notice specified above, the dispute shall be submitted to mediation prior to
commencement of any legal action or prior to withdraw of a Member Agency proposing to withdraw from
membership. The mediation shall be no less than a full day (unless agreed otherwise among the Members
Agencies) and the cost of mediation shall be paid in equal proportion among the Members Agencies. The
mediator shall be either voluntarily agreed to or appointed by the Superior Court upon a suit and motion for
appointment of a neutral mediator. Upon completion of mediation, if the controversy has not been resolved,
any Member Agency may exercise all rights to bring a legal action relating to the controversy or (except
where such controversy relates to withdrawal of a Member Agency’s obligations upon withdrawal) withdraw
from membership as otherwise authorized pursuant to this Agreement.
17.10 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be
deemed an original.
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17.11 Singular Includes Plural. Whenever used in this Agreement, the singular form of any term
includes the plural form and the plural form includes the singular form.
17.12 Member Agency Authorization. The legislative bodies of the Members Agencies have each
authorized execution of this Agreement, as evidenced by their respective signatures below.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Members Agencies hereto have executed this Agreement by
authorized officials thereof.

CENTRAL WATER DISTRICT

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

By: _________________________________

By: _________________________________

Title:________________________________

Title:________________________________

CITY OF SANTA CRUZ

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

By: _________________________________

By: _________________________________

Title:________________________________

Title:________________________________

COUNTY OF SANTA CRUZ

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

By: _________________________________

By: _________________________________

Title:________________________________

Title:________________________________
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SOQUEL CREEK WATER DISTRICT

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

By: _________________________________

By: _________________________________

Title:________________________________

Title:________________________________
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PREAMBLE
These Bylaws are adopted and effective as of May 19, 2016, pursuant to the Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement of
the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency (the “Agreement”).

ARTICLE 1. THE AGENCY
1.1

NAME

OF

AGENCY. The name of the Agency created by the Agreement shall be the Santa Cruz Mid-

County Groundwater Agency (“MGA” or “Agency”).

1.2

OFFICE OF AGENCY. The principal office of the Agency shall be at the Soquel Creek Water District located

at 5180 Soquel Drive, Soquel, CA 95073, or at such other location as the Board may designate by resolution.

1.3

POWERS. The powers of the Agency shall be as set forth in Article 4 of the Agreement.

ARTICLE 2. BOARD OF DIRECTORS
2.1

BOARD OF DIRECTORS. The Agency shall be governed by a Board of Directors (the "Board") as set forth in

Article 6 of the Agreement.

2.2

PROCEDURE FOR APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS REPRESENTING PRIVATE WELL OWNERS.
2.2.1
Notification. The Board shall issue formal notification of the opportunity to apply for the
appointment to the Board as Directors representing the interests of private well owners.
I.

II.

III.
IV.

The notification shall include a description of the work of the Agency, the desired characteristics
and skills of Directors representing the interests of private well owners and the screening criteria
to be used in evaluating applications received, as well as the timeline for decision-making on
appointees.
The Board shall use a variety of print media, electronic and other formal and informal
communication mechanisms in this notification, and the period of notification will cover, at a
minimum, 10 working days.
A standardized application will be required as part of each applicant’s submittal.
Applications submitted by hand delivery, mail or electronically must be received in the Agency’s
offices (the Soquel Creek Water District) by the close of the filing period.

2.2.2
Screening and Interviews. A subcommittee of the Board, with member agency staff participation
as appropriate, shall screen applications using the set of screening criteria included in the notification
described in 2.2.1. The subcommittee shall hold interviews with the top candidates from the screening
process and develop recommendations for the full Board’s consideration.
2.2.3
Nomination. The subcommittee of the Board involved with screening and interview of candidates
shall nominate candidates for appointment to the Director positions representing private well owners.
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2.2.4
Appointment. Appointment of Directors representing private well owners shall be made by a
majority vote of the Member Directors in compliance with Section 6.3.5 of the Agreement.

ARTICLE 3. BOARD MEETINGS
3.1

MEETINGS. The Board’s regular meeting schedule shall be developed and adopted by the Board at its first

meeting after January 1st of each year. Special meetings of the Board may be called by the Chair or any four
directors by written request. Board meetings shall be conducted in compliance with Article 8 of the Agreement, all
applicable laws, and as further specified herein.

3.2

QUORUM. In determining a quorum as defined by Section 9.1 of the Agreement, Alternate Directors
attending meetings shall not be counted as part of any meeting quorum unless such Alternate Director is formally
representing an absent appointed Director.
3.3

ORDER OF BUSINESS . In general, at the regular meetings of the Board, the following will be the order of

business:
3.3.1

Call to Order.

3.3.2

Roll Call.

3.3.3

Oral Communications Related to Items Not on the Agenda.

3.3.4

Approval of Minutes of the Previous Meeting.

3.3.5
Agenda Items, including any appropriate combination of consent items, regular business items,
or public hearing items.

3.4

3.3.6

Oral Updates from Directors and Staff.

3.3.7

Adjournment.

ACTION BY THE BOARD. Action by the Board on all resolutions or ordinances shall be taken using a roll-

call vote and shall be recorded in writing, signed by the Chair, and attested to by the Secretary. All other actions of
the Board shall be by motion recorded in written minutes. The Chair shall announce the results of the vote
including the names of the Directors, if any, voting in the minority.

3.5

RULE OF ORDER. All rules of order not otherwise provided for in these Bylaws shall be determined, to the
1

extent practicable, in accordance with "Rosenberg's Rules of Order;" provided, however, that no action of the

1

Rosenberg’s Rules of Order is appended to these Bylaws as Attachment A
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Board shall be invalidated or its legality otherwise affected by the failure or omission to observe or follow
"Rosenberg's Rules of Order."

ARTICLE 4. OFFICERS
4.1

OFFICERS. The Officers of the Agency are the Chair, Vice-Chair, and Secretary, as provided for in Article 6

of the Agreement. All Directors are eligible to serve as an Officer. The Chair, the Vice Chair, and the Secretary
must be Directors. The Treasurer shall be appointed consistent with the provisions of Section 14.3 of the
Agreement, will not be a Director.

4.2

ELECTION OF OFFICERS . At the first meeting of the Board of each fiscal year, nominations for the Officers
will be made and seconded by a Director. If more than two (2) Directors are nominated for any one office, voting
occurs until a nominee receives a majority of the votes cast. The initial term of the elected Officers shall run from
the date of their election to office until June 30, 2017. Thereafter, each Officer shall serve a term of one (1) year.
An Officer may succeed himself/herself and may serve any number of consecutive or non-consecutive terms.
4.3

REMOVAL OF ELECTED OFFICERS. An Officer may be removed, with or without cause, by a majority vote

of the Board at a regular or special meeting.

4.4

VACANCIES. Any vacancy in the offices because of death, resignation, removal, disqualification, or any

other cause will be filled for the balance of the vacated term in the manner prescribed in these Bylaws for regular
appointments to that office; provided, however, that such vacancies may be filled at any regular or special meeting
of the Board.

4.5
RESIGNATION OF OFFICERS. Any Officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Board
Chair or Secretary. Any resignation takes effect at the date of the receipt of that notice or at any later time
specified in that notice. Unless otherwise specified in that notice, the acceptance of the resignation is not
necessary to make it effective.
4.6

RESPONSIBILITIES OF O FFICERS.
4.6.1
Chair of the Board. The Chair of the Board shall preside at meetings of the Board and exercise
and perform such other powers and duties as may be assigned to him/her by the Board or prescribed by
these Bylaws.
4.6.2
Vice-Chair of the Board. The Vice-Chair of the Board shall fulfill all the duties of the Chair in
his/her absence and exercise and perform such other powers and duties as may be assigned to him/her
by the Board.
4.6.3
I.

Secretary. The Secretary shall perform, but not be limited to, the following duties:
Book of Minutes. Keep or cause to be kept, at the principal executive office of the Agency or
such other place as the Board may direct, a book of minutes of all meetings and actions of
Directors and Committees of the Agency, with the time and place of holding the meeting,
whether regular or special, and, if special, how authorized, the notice given, the names of those
6
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II.
III.

present and absent at such meetings and the proceedings of such meetings. Minutes will be in
the form of Action Minutes and a meeting summary.
Notices and Other Duties. Prepare, give, or cause to be given, notice of, and agendas for, all
meetings of the Board and committees of the Agency.
Exercise and perform such other powers and perform such other duties as may be assigned to
him/her by the Board.

ARTICLE 5. BOARD COMMITTEES, WORKING GROUPS, AND ADVISORY
COMMITTEES
5.1

BOARD COMMITTEES. The Board may establish temporary or permanent Board Committees composed

entirely of Board Members to facilitate conduct of its work. Temporary Board Committees will have a specific
charge and operational duration not to exceed six months and are not subject to the Brown Act unless they include
more than six Directors as Committee members. Permanent Committees will be given a specific role and
regardless of the number of Directors appointed shall be subject to compliance with the Brown Act. All Board
Committees will make provide regular updates to the full Board about their activities and the progress of their
work.

5.2

WORKING GROUPS. Informal working groups may be formed from time to time to provide opportunities

for a small subset of Directors to work with staff on specific planning, analytical, or community engagement
activities. Such working groups will have a defined area as the focus for its work and may function for a duration of
up to six months, and may include such membership as needed to accomplish the object for which the working
group was created.

5.3

ADVISORY COMMITTEES. Pursuant to Section 12 of the Agreement, the Board may establish one or more

advisory committees to assist in carrying out the purposes and objectives of the Agency.
5.3.1
In establishing an Advisory Committee, the Board shall provide specific direction to the
Committee as to its charge, expected duration for completion of its charge, and a summary of the
resources, including staff or consultant support available to the Committee in performing its work.
5.3.2
Advisory Committee membership and appointments shall be at the Board’s discretion based on
the creating the membership needed to meet the purpose for which the Advisory Committee was
created.
5.3.3
Any advisory committee shall exercise such powers as may be delegated to it, except that no
committee may:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

Take any final action on matters which, under the Agreement, require approval by a majority
vote of the Board;
Amend or repeal the Bylaws or adopt new Bylaws;
Amend or repeal any resolution of the Board; or
Appoint any other committees of the Board or the members of these committees.
7
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5.3.4
Advisory committees shall meet at the call of their respective committee chairs. All advisory
committee meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the Ralph M. Brown Act (California
Government Code sections 54950 et seq.). Minutes of committee meetings shall be recorded and upon
approval shall be distributed to the Board.

ARTICLE 6. AGENCY ADMINISTRATION, MANAGEMENT AND STAFFING
6.1

COLLABORATIVE MANAGEMENT . Except for the Agency’s Treasurer function, Agency administration and

management will be conducted using a collaborative staffing model in which the professional and technical staff of
the member agencies work together to provide staff leadership, management and administration of the agency.
6.1.1
Staffing Support for Agency Officers and Board Members. Senior level executive staff will work
together to provide staff support for the Agency Officers and Board members. Board agenda and meeting
materials will generally be prepared by or reviewed by one or more members of the executive staff prior
to being finalized. Should member agency senior level staff not be in agreement on any topic, the Agency
Board Chair and Vice-Chair will be consulted to provide the necessary direction. Any issue not resolvable
by member agency senior staff and the Agency Board Chair and Vice-Chair will be referred to the full
Board for decision.
6.1.2
Staffing support for Implementation of the Agency Work Plan. Both senior level executive staff
from the Agreement member agencies and other professional and technical staff from the member
agencies will be involved in providing staff support for the Agency.
6.1.3
In-Kind Contribution of Staff. Unless otherwise specified in the Agreement or these Bylaws,
member agency staff contributions will be in the form of “in kind” contributions. The Agency will not
budget for or reimburse member agencies for the work contributed by their staff to the administration or
management of the Agency.
6.1.4
Agreement with Community Foundation for Planning and Administrative Support Staff. The
Board has agreed to contract with the Community Foundation (“Foundation”) for a senior planner to work
on development of the Groundwater Sustainability Plan (“GSP”) and a part time administrative staff
person.
i.

ii.

6.2

Professional staff hired through the Agreement with the Community Foundation will provide
professional level planning services and will receive day-to-day direction by the General Manager
of the Soquel Creek Water District.
Administrative support staff hired through the Agreement with the Community Foundation will
provide administrative support for the Board, including preparing meeting packets and meeting
minutes, and being responsible for developing and posting notices required to comply with the
Brown Act.

TREASURER. The Treasurer shall be the depository and have custody of all the money of the Agency from

whatever source, and shall provide strict accountability of said funds in accordance with Government Code
Sections 6505 and 6505.5. The Treasurer shall possess the powers of, and shall perform those functions required
by Government Code Sections 6505, 6505.5, and all other applicable laws and regulations, including any
subsequent amendments thereto.
8
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6.2.1
Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) for Treasurer Services with the Soquel Creek Water
District (“District”). The Board has appointed the Finance Manager of the Soquel Creek Water District as
Agency Treasurer and will execute a MOU with the District to reimburse them for these services.
Reimbursement will include necessary staff time as well as the purchase and maintenance of any
necessary materials and/or equipment required by the Treasurer in order to complete the work.
6.2.2
Treasurer’s Duties. Particularly, the Treasurer shall perform, but not be limited to, the following
duties:
I.

II.

III.

Books of Account. Keep and maintain, or cause to be kept and maintained, adequate and correct
books and records of accounts of the properties and business transactions of Agency, including
accounts of its assets, liabilities, receipts, disbursements, gains, losses, capital, retained earnings,
and other matters customarily included in financial statements. The books of account will be
open to inspection by any Director at all reasonable times.
Deposit and Disbursement of Money and Valuables. Consistent with the provisions of Article 14
of the Agreement, deposit all money and other valuables in the name and to the credit of the
Agency within such depository accounts as may be designated by the Board; disburse the funds
of the Agency as may be ordered by the Board; and render to the Board, whenever requested, an
account of all of his/her transactions as Treasurer and of the financial condition of the Agency.
Exercise and perform such other powers and perform such other duties as may be assigned to
him/her by the Board.

6.3

STAFFING STRATEGY REVIEW UPON COMPLETION OF THE GROUNDWATER SUSTAINABILITY PLAN. The
collaborative staffing model for the Agency will be reviewed and revised if or as needed upon completion of the
development of the Groundwater Sustainability Plan. In particular, the performance of the collaborative staffing
model in meeting the Agency’s needs and the proposed role of the Agency in implementing projects identified and
recommended for implementation in the GSP will be considered when determining the potential need future
staffing needs of the Agency.

ARTICLE 7. FINANCES
7.1

DEPOSIT

AND

DISBURSEMENT

OF

FUNDS. All funds of the Agency shall be deposited in one or more

depository accounts as may be designated by the Board. Such accounts shall be independent of any account
owned by or exclusively controlled by any of the Members. No disbursements of such funds shall be made unless
the same shall have been approved in the annual operating budget, or otherwise specifically approved by the
Board. All disbursements shall be by check. Disbursements of not more than five thousand dollars ($5,000) may
be issued pursuant to the Treasurer's sole signature. Disbursements in excess of five thousand dollars ($5,000)
may only be issued upon the signature of the Treasurer and Chair, or in the Chair’s absence, the Vice-Chair. The
Treasurer may establish and implement a protocol allowing for electronic signatures by the Chair or Vice-Chair in
order to facilitate efficient operation of the Agency.

7.2

BUDGET. The Agency shall operate pursuant to an operating budget to be adopted prior to the beginning

of each new fiscal year. The Agency shall endeavor to operate each year pursuant to an annually balanced budget
so that projected annual expenses do not exceed projected annual revenues. Budget adjustments to the annual
9
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budget shall be reviewed and acted upon by the Board at a regularly scheduled Board meeting occurring after
January 1 of each calendar year. The Board may take action to amend the budget at other times if circumstances
require more immediate action.

ARTICLE 8. DEBTS AND LIABILITIES
The debts, liabilities and obligations of the Agency are not and will not be the debts, liabilities or
obligations of any or all of the Members. However, nothing in this Article or in the Agreement prevents, or impairs
the ability of, a Member or Members, from agreeing, in a separate agreement, to be jointly and/or severally liable,
in whole or in part, for any debt, obligation or liability of the Agency, including but not limited to, any bond or
other debt instrument issued by the Agency.

ARTICLE 9. RECORDS RETENTION
9.1

MAINTENANCE OF THE AGENCY RECORDS . The Agency will keep:
9.1.1

Adequate and correct books and records of account; and of the Board.

9.1.2
Minutes in written form of the proceedings of its Board, and committees, and advisory
committees, if any.
9.1.3

9.2

All such records will be kept at the Agency's principal office.

RECORDS RETENTION POLICY

AND

SCHEDULE. By June 30, 2017 the Board will review and adopt a

Records Retention Policy and Schedule that specifies the retention period of different categories of materials.
Implementation of this Policy will be the responsibility of Agency staff.

9.3

INSPECTION RIGHTS .
9.3.1
Any Member may inspect the accounting books and records and minutes of the proceedings of
the Board and committees of the Board, at any reasonable time, for a purpose reasonably related to such
person's interest.
9.3.2
Any inspection and copying under this Section may be made in person or by an agent or attorney
or the entity entitled thereto and the right of inspection includes the right to copy.

9.4

MAINTENANCE

AND INSPECTION OF

AGREEMENT

AND

BYLAWS . The Agency will keep at its principal

executive office the original or copy of the Agreement and these Bylaws as amended to date, which will be open to
inspection by the Agency or any Member at all reasonable times during office hours.

9.5
INSPECTION BY DIRECTORS . Every Director has the absolute right at any reasonable time to inspect all
non-confidential books, records, and documents of every kind and the physical properties of the Agency. This
inspection by a Director may be made in person or by an agent or attorney, and the right of inspection includes the
right to copy and make extracts of documents.
10
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ARTICLE 10. ETHICS AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
The Agency shall be subject to the conflict of interest rules set forth in the Political Reform Act
(commencing with Section 81000 of the Government Code of the State of California) and Sections 1090 et seq. of
the Government Code of the State of California, and the Agency shall adopt an ethics policy as well as a conflict of
interest code as required and as provided by the implementing regulations of the Political Reform Act.

ARTICLE 11. AMENDMENT
These Bylaws may be amended from time to time by resolution of the Board duly adopted upon majority
of the Board at a regular or special meeting of the Board; provided, however, that no such amendment shall be
adopted unless at least thirty (30) days written notice thereof has previously been given to all members of the
Board. Such notice shall identify the Article to be amended, the proposed amendment, and the reason for the
proposed amendment.

ARTICLE 12. DEFINITIONS AND CONSTRUCTION
Unless specifically defined in these Bylaws, all defined terms shall have the same meaning ascribed to
them in the Agreement. If any term of these Bylaws conflicts with any term of the Agreement, the Agreement's
terms shall prevail, and these Bylaws shall be amended to eliminate such conflict of terms. Unless the context or
reference to the Agreement requires otherwise, the general provisions, rules of construction, and definitions in the
California Civil Code will govern the construction of these Bylaws.
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PREAMBLE
These Bylaws, are adopted and effective as of May 19, 2016, pursuant to the Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement of
the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency (the “Agreement”), are amended and effective as of Month, Day,
2021. The Agreement was entered into by and among the Central Water District, the City of Santa Cruz, the County
of Santa Cruz, and the Soquel Creek Water District, sometimes referred to herein individually as a “Member Agency”
and collectively as the “Member Agencies”
Unless specifically defined in these Bylaws, all defined terms shall have the same meaning ascribed to them in the
Agreement. If any term of these Bylaws conflicts with any term of the Agreement, the Agreement's terms shall
prevail, and these Bylaws shall be amended to eliminate such conflict of terms.

ARTICLE 1. THE AGENCY
1.1
NAME OF AGENCY. The name of the Agency created by the Agreement shall be the Santa Cruz Mid-County
Groundwater Agency (“MGA” or “Agency”).
1.2

PRINCIPAL OFFICE

OF

AGENCY. The principal office of the Agency shall be at the Soquel Creek Water

District located at 5180 Soquel Drive, Soquel, CA 95073, or at such other location as the Board may designate by
resolution.

1.3

POWERS. The powers of the Agency shall be as set forth in Article 4 of the Agreement.

1.4

PARENT AGENCY. Unless and until the Agency adopts its own administrative, management and operations

policies and procedures, the administration, management and operation of the Agency shall be in accordance with
existing applicable policies and procedures of the Soquel Creek Water District (“Parent Agency”).

ARTICLE 2. BOARD OF DIRECTORS
2.1

BOARD OF DIRECTORS. The Agency shall be governed by a Board of Directors (the "Board") as set forth in

Article 6 of the Agreement.

2.2

PROCEDURE FOR APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS REPRESENTING PRIVATE WELL OWNERS.
2.2.1
Notification. The Board shall issue formal notification of the opportunity to apply for the
appointment to the Board as Directors representing the interests of private well owners.
I. The notification shall include a description of the work of the Agency, the desired characteristics
and skills of Directors representing the interests of private well owners and the screening criteria
to be used in evaluating applications received, as well as the timeline for decision-making on
appointees.
II. The Board shall use a variety of print media, electronic and other formal and informal
communication mechanisms in this notification, and the period of notification will cover, at a
minimum, 10 working days.
6
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III. A standardized application will be required as part of each applicant’s submittal.
IV. Applications submitted by hand delivery, mail or electronically must be received in the Agency’s
principal offices (the Soquel Creek Water District) by the close of the filing period.
2.2.42 Screening and Interviews. A subcommittee of the Board, with Mmember Aagency staff
participation as appropriate, shall screen applications using the set of screening criteria included in the
notification described in 2.2.1. The subcommittee shall hold interviews with the top candidates from the
screening process and develop recommendations for the full Board’s consideration.
2.2.53 Nomination. The subcommittee of the Board involved with screening and interview of candidates
shall nominate candidates for appointment to the Director positions representing private well owners.
2.2.64 Appointment. Appointment of Directors representing private well owners shall be made by a
majority vote of the Member Agency Directors in compliance with Section 6.3.5 of the Agreement.
2.2.75 Term. The term of appointment shall be four (4) years, unless otherwise established by a majority
vote of the Member Agency Directors, and such term shall continue until a successor is duly appointed by
the Board. The term effective date shall be determined by resolution of the Board. At the expiration of the
term of a PWO Director or Alternate, the Board may (i) elect to initiate the appointment procedure for a
PWO Director or Alternate under section 2.2 of the Bylaws; or (ii) appoint a PWO Director or Alternate in
an different manner, subject to Board approval by a majority vote of the Member Agency Directors
participating in voting. For the purpose of establishing staggered terms, one of the initially-appointed PWO
Directors and the Alternate Director will serve an initial term of two years. The three PWO Directors may
determine by unanimous decision which Director will serve the initial term of two years; if they are unable
to reach a unanimous decision, then as observed by the Board Chair or Vice-Chair they shall devise a random
selection process through which a PWO Director will be chosen to serve the initial two-year term.

ARTICLE 3. BOARD MEETINGS
3.1

MEETINGS. The Board’s regular meeting schedule shall be developed and adopted by the Board at its first

meeting after January 1st of each year final regularly scheduled meeting of each calendar year or earlier if desired.
Special meetings of the Board may be called by the Chair or any four directors by written request a majority of the
Board in compliance with Government Code Section 54956. Board meetings shall be conducted in compliance with
Article 8 of the Agreement, all applicable laws, and as further specified herein.

3.2

QUORUM. In determining a quorum as defined by Section 9.1 of the Agreement, Alternate Directors
attending meetings shall not be counted as part of any meeting quorum unless such Alternate Director is formally
representing an absent appointed Director.
3.3

ORDER OF BUSINESS. In general, at the regular meetings of the Board, the following will be the order of

business:
3.3.1

Call to Order.
7
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3.3.2

Roll Call.

3.3.3

Oral Communications Related to Items Not on the Agenda.

3.3.4

Approval of Minutes of the pPrevious mMeeting.

3.3.5
Agenda Items, including any appropriate combination of consent items, regular business items,
informational items, or public hearing items.

3.4

3.3.6

Oral Updates from Directors and Staff.

3.3.7

Adjournment.

ACTION BY THE BOARD. Action by the Board on all resolutions or ordinances shall be taken using a roll-call

vote and shall be recorded in writing, signed by the Chair, and attested to by the Secretary. All other actions of the
Board shall be by motion recorded in written minutes. The Chair shall announce the results of the vote including
the names of the Directors, if any, voting in the minority.

3.5

RULE OF ORDER. All rules of order not otherwise provided for in these Bylaws shall be determined, to the

extent practicable, in accordance with "Rosenberg's Rules of Order” (Attached as Appendix A);"1 provided, however,
that no action of the Board shall be invalidated or its legality otherwise affected by the failure or omission to observe
or follow "Rosenberg's Rules of Order."

ARTICLE 4. OFFICERS
4.1

OFFICERS. The Officers of the Agency are the Chair, Vice-Chair, and Secretary (“Elected Officers”), and the

appointed Treasurer (collectively, “Officers” or “Agency Officers”), as provided for in Article 76 of the Agreement.
All Directors are eligible to serve as an Officer. The Chair, the Vice Chair, and the Secretary must be Directors. The
Treasurer shall be appointed consistent with the provisions of Section 14.3 of the Agreement, will not be a Director.

4.2

ELECTION OF OFFICERS. At the first meeting of the Board of each fiscal year, nominations for the Elected

Officers will be made and seconded by a Director. If more than two (2) Directors are nominated for any one office,
voting occurs until a nominee receives a majority of the votes cast. The initial term of the elected Officers shall run
from the date of their election to office until June 30, 2017. Thereafter, eEach Elected Officer shall serve a term of
one (1) year and shall hold office until the meeting of the Board held at the expiration of such term or until a
successor shall have been elected. An Elected Officer may succeed himself/herself themselves and may serve any
number of consecutive or non-consecutive terms.

4.3

REMOVAL OF ELECTED OFFICERS . An Elected Officer may be removed, with or without cause, by a majority

vote of the Board at a regular meeting or a special meeting called in compliance with Section 3.1.

1

Rosenberg’s Rules of Order is appended to these Bylaws as Attachment A
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4.4

VACANCIES

OF

OFFICERS . Any vacancy in the offices because of death, resignation, removal,

disqualification, or any other cause will be filled for the balance of the vacated term in the manner prescribed in
these Bylaws for regular elections appointments to that office; provided, however, that such vacancies are may be
filled at any regular meeting or special meeting of the Board called in compliance with Section 3.1.

4.5

RESIGNATION OF OFFICERS. Any An Elected Officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the
Board Chair or Secretary. Any resignation takes effect at the date of the receipt of that notice or at any later time
specified in that notice. Unless otherwise specified in that notice, the acceptance of the resignation is not necessary
to make it effective.
4.6

RESPONSIBILITIES OF ELECTED OFFICERS.
4.6.1
Chair of the Board. The Chair of the Board shall preside at meetings of the Board and exercise and
perform such other powers and duties as may be assigned to him/her them by the Board or prescribed by
these Bylaws.
4.6.2
Vice-Chair of the Board. The Vice-Chair of the Board shall fulfill all the duties of the Chair in his/her
their absence and exercise and perform such other powers and duties as may be assigned to him/herthem
by the Board.
4.6.3
I.

II.
III.

Secretary. The Secretary shall perform, but not be limited to, the following duties:
Book of Minutes. Keep or cause to be kept, at the principal executive office of the Agency or such
other place as the Board may direct, a book of minutes of all meetings and actions of Directors and
Committees of the Agency, with the time and place of holding the meeting, whether regular or
special, and, if special, how authorized, the notice given, the names of those present and absent
at such meetings and the proceedings of such meetings. Minutes will be in the form of Action
Minutes and a meeting summary.
Notices and Other Duties. Prepare, give, or cause to be given, notice of, and agendas for, all
meetings of the Board and committees of the Agency.
Exercise and perform such other powers and perform such other duties as may be assigned to
him/her by the Board.

6.24.7 TREASURER . The Treasurer shall be the depository and have custody of all the money of the Agency from
whatever source, and shall provide strict accountability of said funds in accordance with Government Code Sections
6505 and 6505.5. The Treasurer shall possess the powers of, and shall perform those functions required by
Government Code Sections 6505, 6505.5, 6505.6 and all other applicable laws and regulations, including any
subsequent amendments thereto.
4.7.1
Appointment. The Board shall appoint and may remove the Treasurer and the auditor by majority
vote of the Board. At present, the Finance Manager of the Soquel Creek Water District holds the office of
Treasurer and auditor of the Agency, as authorized by Section 6505.6 of the Government Code and
performs the duties as authorized in Section 6505 et seq. of the Government Code.
6.2.24.7.2
Treasurer’s Duties. Particularly, the Treasurer shall perform, but not be limited to, the
following duties:
9
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I.

II.

III.
IV.

Books of Account. Keep and maintain, or cause to be kept and maintained, adequate and correct
books and records of accounts of the properties and business transactions of Agency, including
accounts of its assets, liabilities, receipts, disbursements, gains, losses, capital, retained earnings,
and other matters customarily included in financial statements. The books of account will be open
to inspection by any Director at all reasonable times.
Deposit and Disbursement of Money and Valuables. Consistent with the provisions of Article 14
of the Agreement, deposit all money and other valuables in the name and to the credit of the
Agency within such depository accounts as may be designated by the Board; disburse the funds of
the Agency as may be authorized or ordered by the Board; and render to the Board, whenever
requested, an account of all of his/her transactions as Treasurer and of the financial condition of
the Agency.
Exercise and perform such other powers and perform such other duties as may be assigned to
him/her them by the Board.
Contract for an independent audit to be made by a certified public accountant, or public
accountant, in compliance with as required by Government Code Sections 6505.

ARTICLE 5. BOARD COMMITTEES, WORKING GROUPS, AND ADVISORY
COMMITTEES
5.1

BOARD COMMITTEES . Pursuant to Article 12 of the Agreement, tThe Board may establish temporary or

permanent Board Committees composed entirely of Board Members Directors to facilitate conduct of its work. No
committee or participant on such committee shall have any authority to act on behalf of the Agency except as duly
authorized by the Board. Temporary Board Committees will have a specific charge and operational duration not to
exceed six months and are not subject to the Brown Act unless they include more than six Directors as Committee
members. Permanent Committees will be given a specific role and regardless of the number of Directors appointed
shall be subject to compliance with the Brown Act. All Board Committees will make provide regular updates to the
full Board about their activities and the progress of their work.

5.2

WORKING GROUPS. Informal working groups may be formed from time to time to provide opportunities

for a small subset of Directors to work with staff on specific planning, analytical, or community engagement
activities. Such working groups will have a defined area as the focus for its work and may function for a duration of
up to six months, and may include such membership as needed to accomplish the object for which the working
group was created.

5.3

ADVISORY COMMITTEES. Pursuant to Section 12 of the Agreement, the Board may establish one or more

advisory committees to assist in carrying out the purposes and objectives of the Agency.
5.3.1
In establishing an Advisory Committee, the Board shall provide specific direction to the Committee
as to its charge, expected duration for completion of its charge, and a summary of the resources, including
staff or consultant support available to the Committee in performing its work.
5.3.2
Advisory Committee membership and appointments shall be at the Board’s discretion based on
the creating the membership needed to meet the purpose for which the Advisory Committee was created.

10
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5.3.3
Any advisory committee shall exercise such powers as may be delegated to it, except that no
committee may:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

Take any final action on matters which, under the Agreement, require approval by a majority vote
of the Board;
Amend or repeal the Bylaws or adopt new Bylaws;
Amend or repeal any resolution of the Board; or
Appoint any other committees of the Board or the members of these committees.

5.3.4
Advisory committees shall meet at the call of their respective Board Director(s) serving as the
committee chair(s). All advisory committee meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the Ralph M.
Brown Act (California Government Code sections 54950 et seq.). Minutes of committee meetings shall be
recorded documented and upon approval shall be distributed to the Board.

ARTICLE 6. AGENCY ADMINISTRATION, MANAGEMENT AND STAFFING
6.1

COLLABORATIVE MANAGEMENT. Except for the Agency’s Treasurer function, Agency

administration and management will be conducted using a collaborative staffing model in which the
professional and technical staff of the Mmember Aagencies work together to provide staff leadership,
management and administration of the Aagency.
6.1.1
Staffing Support for Agency Officers and Board Members. Each Member Agencyies shall delegate
a sSenior level executive staff member to the Agency’s Executive Team (referred to as the “Executive Team”
or “Executive Staff”). While at the discretion of each Member Agency, senior level executive staff is
intended to include staff positions such as: General Manager, District Manager, Water Director, Deputy
Water Director, Division Director, Program Manager or other senior level management positions. Executive
Staff will work together to provide staff support for the Agency Officers and Board membersDirectors.
Board agenda and meeting materials will generally be prepared by or reviewed by one or more members
of the Eexecutive Sstaff prior to being finalized. Should member agency senior level Executive Sstaff not be
in agreement on any topic, the Agency Board Chair and Vice-Chair will be consulted to provide the necessary
direction. Any issue not resolvable by Executive member agency senior Sstaff and the Agency Board Chair
and Vice-Chair will be referred to the full Board for decision.
6.1.2
Staffing support for Implementation of the Agency wWork pPlan as aligned with the annual or
multi-year budget. Both senior level Eexecutive Sstaff from the Agreement mMember aAgencies and other
professional and technical staff from the Mmember Aagencies will be involved in providing staff support
for the Agency. Staffing support includes In-Kind Contributions and Reimbursable Contribution of Staff as
presented below.
6.1.32.1 In-Kind Contribution of Staff. Unless otherwise specified in the Agreement or these
Bylaws, member agency staff contributions will be in the form of “in kind” contributions. The
Agency will not budget for or reimburse mMember aAgencies for the work contributed by their
staff to the administration, or management, or operation of the Agency. This work is different
from staff implementing or supporting the implementation of Agency programs and projects as
described in Section 6.1.2.2 (Reimbursable Contribution).
11
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6.1.2.2 Reimbursable Contribution of Staff. If an MGA activity requires a substantial and
disproportionate amount of involvement of Member Agency staff in implementing or supporting
the implementation of Agency programs and projects that support the MGA as a whole such that
the Executive Staff is in unanimous agreement that the In-Kind Contribution of Staff (Section
6.1.2.1) is not applicable or equitable, then the Member Agency may be compensated via
reimbursement commensurate with the work performed. Consideration of a reimbursable
contribution should typically occur as part of the Agency’s annual budget development and
approval process. If it does not occur during the annual process, any reimbursable compensation
to a Member Agency requires approval by a majority of the Member Agency Directors.
Compensation is to be via reimbursement in arrears for the work performed and invoiced to the
MGA by the Member Agency.
6.1.2.3 Reimbursable Contribution of Treasurer and Finance Staff. The Agency will reimburse the
Member Agency of the appointed Treasurer and auditor for their services and related services of
finance staff in support of the Agency. Reimbursement will include necessary staff time for these
roles as well as the purchase and maintenance of any necessary materials and/or equipment
required by the Treasurer in order to complete the work.

6.1.4
Administrative Support Staff. The Executive Staff will recommend to the Board an approach to
acquire and maintain administrative staff support to perform the administrative tasks necessary for the
business and operations of the Agency. Agreement with Community Foundation for Planning and
Administrative Support Staff. The Board has agreed to contract with the Community Foundation
(“Foundation”) for a senior planner to work on development of the Groundwater Sustainability Plan (“GSP”)
and a part time administrative staff person .
i.

ii.

Professional staff hired through the Agreement with the Community Foundation will provide
professional level planning services and will receive day-to-day direction by the General Manager
of the Soquel Creek Water District.
Administrative support staff hired through the Agreement with the Community Foundation will
provide administrative support for the Board, including preparing meeting packets and meeting
minutes, and being responsible for developing and posting notices required to comply with the
Brown Act.

6.2

TREASURER . The Treasurer shall be the depository and have custody of all the money of the Agency from
whatever source, and shall provide strict accountability of said funds in accordance with Government Code Sections
6505 and 6505.5. The Treasurer shall possess the powers of, and shall perform those functions required by
Government Code Sections 6505, 6505.5, and all other applicable laws and regulations, including any subsequent
amendments thereto.
6.2.1
Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) for Treasurer Services with the Soquel Creek Water
District (“District”). The Board has appointed the Finance Manager of the Soquel Creek Water District as
Agency Treasurer and will execute a MOU with the District to reimburse them for these services.
12
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Reimbursement will include necessary staff time as well as the purchase and maintenance of any necessary
materials and/or equipment required by the Treasurer in order to complete the work.
6.2.2
Treasurer’s Duties. Particularly, the Treasurer shall perform, but not be limited to, the following
duties:
Books of Account. Keep and maintain, or cause to be kept and maintained, adequate and correct books
and records of accounts of the properties and business transactions of Agency, including accounts of its
assets, liabilities, receipts, disbursements, gains, losses, capital, retained earnings, and other matters
customarily included in financial statements. The books of account will be open to inspection by any
Director at all reasonable times.
Deposit and Disbursement of Money and Valuables. Consistent with the provisions of Article 14 of the
Agreement, deposit all money and other valuables in the name and to the credit of the Agency within such
depository accounts as may be designated by the Board; disburse the funds of the Agency as may be
ordered by the Board; and render to the Board, whenever requested, an account of all of his/her
transactions as Treasurer and of the financial condition of the Agency.
Exercise and perform such other powers and perform such other duties as may be assigned to him/her by
the Board.

6.3

STAFFING STRATEGY REVIEW UPON COMPLETION OF THE GROUNDWATER SUSTAINABILITY PLAN. The

collaborative staffing model for the Agency will be reviewed and revised if or as needed upon completion of the
development of the Groundwater Sustainability Plan. In particular, the performance of the collaborative staffing
model in meeting the Agency’s needs and the proposed role of the Agency in implementing projects identified and
recommended for implementation in the GSP will be considered when determining the potential need future staffing
needs of the Agency.

ARTICLE 7. FINANCES
7.1

DEPOSIT AND DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS. All funds of the Agency shall be deposited in one or more
depository accounts as may be designated by the Board. Such accounts shall be independent of any account owned
by or exclusively controlled by any of the Members Agencies. No disbursements of such funds shall be made unless
the same shall have been approved in the annual operating budget, or otherwise specifically authorized or approved
by the Board. All disbursements shall be by check. Disbursements of not more than five thousand dollars ($5,000)
may be issued pursuant to the Treasurer's sole signature. Disbursements in excess of five thousand dollars ($5,000)
may only be issued upon the signature of the Treasurer, and one of the following; the Chair, or in the Chair’s absence,
the Vice-Chair or any of the Member Agency Executive Staff. The Treasurer may establish and implement a protocol
allowing for electronic signatures by the approved signatories Chair or Vice-Chair in order to facilitate efficient
operation of the Agency.
7.2

BUDGET. The Agency shall operate pursuant to an operating budget to be adopted prior to the beginning

of each new fiscal year. The Agency shall endeavor to operate each year pursuant to an annually balanced budget
so that projected annual expenses do not exceed projected annual revenues. Budget adjustments to the annual
13
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budget shall be reviewed and acted upon by the Board at a regularly scheduled Board meeting occurring after or
January 1 of each calendar year. The Board may take action to amend the budget at other times if circumstances
require more immediate action.

ARTICLE 8. DEBTS AND LIABILITIES
8.1 DEBTS, LIABILITIES AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE AGENCY. The debts, liabilities and obligations of the
Agency are not and will not be the debts, liabilities or obligations of any or all of the Members Agencies. However,
nothing in this Article or in the Agreement prevents, or impairs the ability of, a Member Agency or Members
Agencies, from agreeing, in a separate agreement, to be jointly and/or severally liable, in whole or in part, for any
debt, obligation or liability of the Agency, including but not limited to, any bond or other debt instrument issued by
the Agency.

ARTICLE 9. RECORDS RETENTION
9.1

MAINTENANCE OF THE AGENCY RECORDS . The Agency will keep:
9.1.1

Adequate and correct books and records of account; and of the Board.

9.1.2
Minutes in written form of the proceedings of its Board, and committees, and advisory
committees, if any.
9.1.3

All such records will be kept at the Agency's principal office.

9.2

RECORDS RETENTION POLICY AND SCHEDULE. On May 18, 2017, By June 30, 2017 the Board will review
and adopted a Records Retention Policy and Schedule that specifies the retention period of different categories of
materials. Implementation of this Policy will be the responsibility of Agency staff.
9.3

INSPECTION RIGHTS .
9.3.1
Any Member Agency may inspect the accounting books and records and minutes of the
proceedings of the Board and committees of the Board, at any reasonable time, for a purpose reasonably
related to such person's interest.
9.3.2
Any inspection and copying under this Section may be made in person or by an agent or attorney
or the entity entitled thereto and the right of inspection includes the right to copy.

9.4

MAINTENANCE

AND INSPECTION OF

AGREEMENT

AND

BYLAWS. The Agency will keep at its principal

executive office the original or copy of the Agreement and these Bylaws as amended to date, which will be open to
inspection by the Agency or any Member Agency at all reasonable times during office hours.

9.5

INSPECTION BY DIRECTORS . Every Director has the absolute right at any reasonable time to inspect all non-

confidential books, records, and documents of every kind for a purpose related to the Agency’s business and the
physical properties of the Agency. This inspection by a Director may be made in person or by an agent or attorney,
and the right of inspection includes the right to copy and make extracts of documents. There shall be no right to
review records if the disclosure would violate the privacy rights of others, would result in or be in furtherance of a
14
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conflict of interest, or would be inconsistent with information protected by the attorney-client privilege, attorney
work product, or privileged information under the Public Records Act.

ARTICLE 10. ETHICS AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST AND ETHICS
10.1 CONFLICT OF INTEREST. The Agency shall be subject to the conflict of interest rules set forth in the
Political Reform Act (commencing with Section 81000 of the Government Code of the State of California) and
Sections 1090 et seq. of the Government Code of the State of California. The and the Agency adopted a shall adopt
an ethics policy as well asCconflict of Iinterest Ccode as required and as provided by under the implementing
regulations of the Political Reform Act and reviews the conflict of interest as required by law.
10.2

ETHICS. Each Director is subject to compliance with the ethics requirements of the California Fair

Political Practices Commission (FPPC) for elected and appointed local officials. A status report on Board FPPC
compliance shall be submitted annually to the Board. Each Member Agency Director is governed by the ethics policy
of the Member Agency it represents. Directors representing private well owners are governed by the Ethics Policy
of the Parent Agency.

ARTICLE 11. AMENDMENT
These Bylaws may be amended from time to time by resolution of the Board duly adopted upon majority
of the Board at a regular or special meeting of the Board; provided, however, that no such amendment shall be
adopted unless at least thirty (30) days written notice thereof has previously been given to all members of the Board.
Such notice shall identify the Article to be amended, the proposed amendment, and the reason for the proposed
amendment.

ARTICLE 12. DEFINITIONS AND CONSTRUCTION
Unless specifically defined in these Bylaws, all defined terms shall have the same meaning ascribed to them
in the Agreement. If any term of these Bylaws conflicts with any term of the Agreement, the Agreement's terms
shall prevail, and these Bylaws shall be amended to eliminate such conflict of terms. Unless the context or reference
to the Agreement requires otherwise, the general provisions, rules of construction, and definitions in the California
Civil Code will govern the construction of these Bylaws.

15
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November 15, 2018

Agenda Item 5.5.5

MEMO TO THE MGA BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Subject:

Agenda Item 5.1

Title:

Board Discussion and Direction to Staff and the Groundwater
Sustainability Plan (GSP) Advisory Committee on the Board’s Thinking
about the MGA’s Role in Developing and Implementing Projects and
Management Actions to Achieve Basin Sustainability and How the
Advisory Committee Should Deal with Projects and Management
Actions as it Works on Developing Advice to the Board on the Content
of GSP Sections 4 and 5.

Attachments:
1. Groundwater Sustainability Plan Annotated Outline (DWR: December 2016)
2. Projects Matrix: Water Supply Augmentation Options for the Santa Cruz
Mid-County Groundwater Basin
INTRODUCTION: As part of implementing the Sustainable Groundwater
Management Act (SGMA), the California Department of Water Resources (DWR)
has developed detailed guidelines about what content has to be covered in the
required Groundwater Sustainability Plan (GSP). A required element of the GSP is
a description and analysis of the management actions and projects that may need to
be implemented to achieve basin sustainability by 2040, as well as a plan and
financing strategy to support GSP implementation. Attachment 1 to this memo is
DWR’s Annotated Outline of the required GSP content. 1
As presented and discussed at the July 19, 2018 meeting of the Santa Cruz MidCounty Groundwater Agency (MGA) Board meeting, MGA member agencies have
been actively exploring a variety of supplemental supply projects over the past
several decades. Projects under current consideration are reflected in the matrix
table provided as part of the July 19th MGA Board packet (Item 8.1.2), which is
attached here as Attachment 2. In addition, member agencies have also been
exploring and implementing various management actions such as managing water
demand through conservation programs and pricing structures and moving some
For detailed regulations on the required elements of a GSP see: https://water.ca.gov/-/media/DWRWebsite/Web-Pages/Programs/Groundwater-Management/Sustainable-GroundwaterManagement/Groundwater-Sustainability-Plans/Files/GSP/Final-GSP-Emergency-Regulations.pdf
1
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pumping inland to reduce pumping along the coast, which helps hinder the further
advancement of seawater intrusion.
This memo is intended to provide the context needed to inform and support a
discussion by the MGA Board about how the Board wants the Groundwater
Sustainability Plan Advisory Committee (Advisory Committee or Committee) to
address two specific GSP requirements. The two GSP requirements are:
1. The requirement that the GSP must identify and evaluate management
actions and projects (Section 4 of the GSP); and
2. The requirement that the GSP identify actions to be taken during plan
implementation (Section 5 of the GSP), including how implementation of the
plan will be financed.
Staff’s assessment is that before the MGA Board can decide what direction to
provide to the Advisory Committee on these topics, it must first discuss how the
MGA Board currently sees its potential role in implementing projects needed to
achieve basin sustainability. If the Board is in agreement about what role the MGA
is going play in implementing and/or financing management actions and projects
that will be included in the GSP, that agreement should help the Board provide
direction to the Advisory Committee that is consistent with the MGA Board’s vision
for its role and the roles of its member agencies in bringing the basin into
sustainability.
In sections A through D below, background information on key topics is provided,
and where appropriate to the content of the sections, questions that the Board could
discuss as part of its deliberations are included.
A. BACKGROUND – Discussion of MGA Role in Implementing Projects
During Groundwater Sustainability Agency Formation
During the 2015-2016 process for creating the new SGMA agency, board members
of the Soquel-Aptos Groundwater Management Committee (SAGMC) had several
discussions about what was envisioned to be the role of the MGA in planning and
implementing projects.
The SGMA clearly envisions that the newly created Groundwater Sustainability
Agencies (GSAs) would be capable of implementing projects. However, SAGMC
members participating in the GSA Formation Subcommittee expressed concerns
about both the practical reality of that approach as well as about the potential
financial implications to individual member agencies of having the GSA develop and
implement projects.
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The practical reality issue focused mostly on what the staffing requirements would
need to be for the MGA to oversee project development and implementation and
whether creating an agency that was capable of doing so would be redundant
considering the capabilities of the member agencies. The financially related concern
was mostly focused on any potential liability that might accrue to the member
agencies from the actions of the MGA.
SAGMC board members acknowledged these concerns and took two specific steps to
respond:
1. They proposed and adopted a Joint Powers Agreement (JPA) that was
written to support a broad and comprehensive purpose statement:
“The purpose of this Agency is to serve as the GSA for the Basin and to
develop, adopt, and implement the GSP for the Basin pursuant to
SGMA and other applicable provisions of law.” 2
2. They included the following statement in section 6.3 of their bylaws:
STAFFING STRATEGY REVIEW UPON COMPLETION OF THE
GROUNDWATER SUSTAINABILITY PLAN. The collaborative
staffing model for the Agency will be reviewed and revised if or as
needed upon completion of the development of the Groundwater
Sustainability Plan. In particular, the performance of the collaborative
staffing model in meeting the Agency’s needs and the proposed role of
the Agency in implementing projects identified and recommended for
implementation in the GSP will be considered when determining the
potential need (sic) future staffing needs of the Agency. 3
These two decisions left the door open to the potential that the MGA would play a
role in implementing projects, but called for a specific discussion of that role and its
implications for agency staffing needs once the GSP requirements were better
understood. The thought was that the future role of the MGA in financing GSP
implementation would be discussed when the details of the GSP were better
understood.
See the JPA Section 2.2 at:
http://www.midcountygroundwater.org/sites/default/files/uploads/Signed%20JPA%20Effective%20M
arch%2017%202016.pdf
2

See the Bylaws at: http://www.midcountygroundwater.org/sites/default/files/uploads/MGABylaws.pdf
3
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The work products described above were developed approximately two years ago,
which was also a time when there SGMA rules, regulations, and requirements were
rapidly developing. In addition, work on various supplemental supply options by
member agencies was certainly underway but the potential benefits and challenges
of those supplemental supply options with respect to addressing the threat of sea
water intrusion and the need for sustainable supplies were not as well understood
as they are today. The questions below are being raised in light of the current
status of the work Soquel Creek Water District (District) and the City of Santa Cruz
(City) are doing on supplemental supply projects.
Questions about the MGA’s Current Thinking about its Potential Role in
Project Implementation:
1. What is the Board’s current thinking about the role of the MGA in
implementing projects? Options seem to include at least the following
possibilities:
a. The MGA will limit its role to that of a basin planning agency and will
look to member agencies for developing, implementing and financing
management actions and/or projects needed to achieve basin
sustainability.
b. The MGA will be the basin planning agency and could play a role in
funding projects but that role would likely be limited to generating
revenues needed to fund management actions or projects from the
potential implementation of something like a basin management fee.
c. The MGA could play a role in funding, financing and implementing
projects if projects need to be done and none of the member agencies are
willing or able to do what is needed.
d. The MGA will play a role in funding, financing, and developing and
implementing management actions and projects needed to achieve basin
sustainability.
2. Does the Board have agreement on an approach that it favors at this time? If
so, to what degree does (or should) that approach influence the Board’s
direction to the Advisory Committee on the questions raised in Section E
below?
B. BACKGROUND – MGA Member Agency Efforts to Develop and
Implement Projects to Improve Groundwater Sustainability
As noted in the Introduction, MGA member agencies, in particular the District and
the City have been involved during recent years in evaluating options for
supplemental water supplies.
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For the District, the issue they have identified as the key need to be met is the
critical overdraft of the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Basin, which has
created a serious threat of saltwater intrusion into the aquifer, as well as needing to
take action to meet the goals of sustainable groundwater management. For the
City, the issues are increasing drought supply and substantially reducing the water
system’s vulnerability to drought as well as ensuring the sustainability of the City’s
Beltz well field groundwater supply in the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater
Basin.
The District conducted a very public review process of its options to address the
challenges it identified during its 2015 Community Water Plan development
process. The Community Water Plan4 identified a range of potential projects to
explore including continuing water conservation efforts, the Pure Water Soquel
groundwater replenishment project, surface water transfers from the City of Santa
Cruz, the Deep Water Desalination project, and stormwater capture.
The City’s 2014-2015 Water Supply Advisory Committee 5 (WSAC) process
recommended to the City Council a five year work plan to explore the technical
feasibility of a range of water supply augmentation strategies including continuing
water conservation efforts, harvesting available surface water flows during the
rainy season and storing it underground through both passive and active recharge
strategies, advanced treated recycled water for potable reuse, and desalination. In
November 2015, the Santa Cruz City Council unanimously adopted the
recommendations of the Water Supply Advisory Committee, and Water Department
staff is three years in to the implementation of the five year work plan with a
recommendation of a supplemental supply project or portfolio of projects due to the
Council in 2020.
Soquel Creek Water District, the MGA member agency with the greatest risk and
the most to lose from salt water intrusion impacting its municipal production wells,
has made significant progress on exploring projects included in its Community
Water Plan, with current efforts focused on initiating a pilot project for in lieu water
transfers with the City later in November and working to finalize an Environmental
Impact Report for the Pure Water Soquel project in the coming months.
A key design condition of the Pure Water Soquel project is to halt the further
progress of sea water intrusion in the District’s service area. Modeling results
showing how the project could achieve this goal are covered in the published draft
See the Soquel Creek Water District’s Community Water Plan at:
https://www.soquelcreekwater.org/cwp
5 See the Water Supply Advisory Committee’s Final Report on Agreements and Recommendations at:
http://www.santacruzwatersupply.com/meeting/wsac-final-reportrecommendation-appendices
4
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EIR. If the Pure Water Soquel project ultimately proceeds to construction, the
project timeline indicates that it could be on line as early as 2022.
Preliminary modeling results for the City’s potential to develop a groundwater
storage project in the Santa Cruz Mid-County Basin using some combination of in
lieu and aquifer storage and recovery (ASR) recharge projects were presented to the
Advisory Committee at its October 24, 2018 meeting. Those results showed how
various combinations of in lieu and ASR would affect groundwater levels with a
focus on the effects on protective groundwater elevations for the salt water
intrusion sustainability indicator. Because the City’s focus has been on developing
drought storage for its customers, preliminary analyses focus on how water stored
through in lieu and aquifer storage and recovery could contribute to the City’s need
for improved supplies during periods of drought. Some modeling results presented
to the Advisory Committee indicated water levels in key monitoring wells dropping
below protective elevations during periods of drought withdrawals.
The City is also evaluating potential for drought storage and withdrawal in the
Santa Margarita Basin, which may prove more or less suitable than the Mid-County
Basin for the development of drought storage.
As the City’s timeline for decision-making on its supplemental supply project is still
a couple of years off, work is continuing on defining and refining potential
approaches that would meet both the City’s need for drought supply and contribute
to achieving the sustainability goal for the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater
Basin.
C. BACKGROUND – Status Report on GSP Advisory Committee Process
and Next Steps
The Advisory Committee has reached the stage in its process where preliminary
metrics for key parameters, such as minimum thresholds and undesirable results
for the six sustainability indicators have been identified. The sea water intrusion
sustainability indicator and the coastal groundwater level indicator have been
identified as being strongly linked. This means that achieving protective
groundwater levels will be critically important to reducing the threat of further sea
water intrusion into the aquifers.
Modeling work is being done and presented to the Committee to demonstrate how
management actions, such as reducing pumping or relocating pumping inland and
projects such as water transfers and water exchanges could influence groundwater
levels along the coast where the threat of sea water intrusion is most critical. This
work is designed to provide Advisory Committee members with a feel for how the
model can be used to inform decision making.

Page 174 of 199

Board of Directors
November 15, 2018
Page 7 of 10
The next steps call for modeling simulations based upon actual project proposals as
part of the Committee’s work. In theory at least, there are at least two options for
how projects could be identified for the next steps of the Advisory Committee’s
work:
1. The Committee could pick from among any (or all) of the potential options
described at the July 19th MGA meeting and/or any other ideas that might
come to light through other means and the technical consultants would use
the chosen management actions and projects in the modeling; or
2. The MGA Board could direct the Advisory Committee to specifically include
one or more management action or projects being explored by a MGA member
agency for implementation.
D. BACKGROUND – Details of the Specific Requirements for GSP Sections
4 and 5
The Advisory Committee needs to begin working with specific management actions
and projects and some or all of those projects will end up in the GSP as items in
Section 4, which requires listing, describing and analyzing projects and
management actions needed to achieve the GSP’s sustainability goal. Presumably,
projects and management actions that end up being included in Section 5, the GSP’s
required section on Plan Implementation, which includes information about the cost
of and schedule for implementation, will be drawn from those included in Section 4.
For context, the following is a detailed list of the information about each project and
management action needed to achieve the basin’s sustainability goal that must be
included in Section 4 of the GSP. 6 For each potential management action or
project included discussed in the GSP, DWR guidance requires:
4.1 Project description
• Measureable objective that is expected to benefit from the project or
management action;
• Circumstances for implementation;
• Public noticing;
• Overdraft mitigation projects and management actions;
• Permitting and regulatory process;
• Time-table for initiation and completion and the accrual of expected benefits;
• Expected benefits and how they will be evaluated;

6

CCR Title 23, Division 2 Chapter 1.5 Subchapter 2 Article 5 Subarticle 5, Section 354.44
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•

•
•
•
•

How the project or management action will be accomplished. If the project or
management actions rely on water from outside the jurisdiction of the
Groundwater Sustainability Agency, an explanation of the source and
reliability of that water shall be included;
Legal authority required;
Estimated costs for the projects and management and plans to meet those
costs (economic analysis and finance strategy for projects and management
actions);
Management of groundwater extractions and recharge; and
Relationship to additional GSP elements as described in water code §10727.4.

The information listed above must be provided on each of the projects or
management actions included in GSP Section 4.
Section 5 of the GSP focuses on Plan Implementation. Specifically Section 5 must
cover the following:
5.1 Estimate of GSP Implementation Costs (Reg. §354.6)
5.2 Schedule for Implementation
5.3 Annual Reporting
• GSA’s plan for required annual reporting
5.4 Periodic Evaluations
• GSA’s process for required periodic evaluations.
Section 5 of the GSP needs to identify and lay out a schedule for implementing
projects and management actions that will achieve and maintain basin
sustainability within 20 years.
Discussion Questions for the MGA Board related to Projects and
Management Actions to Include in the GSP
To assist the Advisory Committee in moving ahead with its work, staff suggests the
MGA Board discuss and see if the Board has agreement on the following questions:
Management Actions and Projects to include in GSP Section 4 7
1. Given the District’s various projects in its Community Water Plan and
particularly the Pure Water Soquel project’s level of development and its
See details of required elements of Sections 4 and 5 at: https://water.ca.gov/-/media/DWRWebsite/Web-Pages/Programs/Groundwater-Management/Sustainable-GroundwaterManagement/Best-Management-Practices-and-Guidance-Documents/Files/GSP-AnnotatedOutline.pdf
7
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timeline for potential implementation, does the MGA Board want the
Community Water Plan Projects included in those potential management actions
and projects to be described in Section 4 of the GSP?
2. Given the City’s various projects from the Council adopted recommendations of
the WSAC and particularly water transfer/water exchange projects involving in
lieu and ASR projects, does the MGA Board want WSAC recommended projects
included in those potential projects to be described in Section 4 of the GSP?
3. Are there any other projects or management actions from Attachment 2 or from
other sources that the MGA Board wants included in those potential projects to
be described in Section 4 of the GSP?
For the Board’s consideration, staff’s perspective is that being inclusive in the
projects and management actions described in Section 4 is probably a wise approach
for a variety of reasons. First, given the various levels of project development,
associated uncertainties, and the local history of projects that were pursued but
ultimately not implemented, keeping the options open is probably a good idea.
Second, having a wide range of potential projects and management actions included
in the GSP may make it easier to acquire funding for future projects because the
project or management action was included in the list of projects in an approved,
adopted GSP. And, third, while the list of projects included in Attachment 2 is
large, the exercise of completing the required project description in Section 4 will
have the advantage, at a minimum, of developing common descriptive information
for all the options that have been being worked on over the last few years.
Management Actions and Projects to Include in GSP Section 5, Plan
Implementation
1. Given the District’s various projects in its Community Water Plan, does the
MGA Board want to direct the Advisory Committee to include one or more of the
projects in the Soquel Creek Water District’s Community Water Plan in the
implementation focused Section 5 of the GSP?
2. Given the City’s various projects from the Council adopted recommendations of
the Water Supply Advisory Committee (WSAC) does the MGA Board want to
direct the Advisory Committee to include one or more of the projects WSAC’s
recommendations in the implementation focused Section 5 of the GSP?
3. Are there any other projects or management actions from Attachment 2 or from
other sources that the MGA Board wants included in the implementation
focused Section 5 of the GSP?
Staff does not have a recommendation for the Board for either the Board’s
discussion of its potential role in developing and implementing projects or for the
Board’s potential direction to the Advisory Committee on projects or management
actions to include in Section 5 of the GSP. Board action on both of these topics
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needs to emerge from Board discussion of the questions provided here as well as any
others that may arise as part of the Board’s discussion. There is no right or wrong
answer to either question.
Following the relevant discussions, staff recommends that the Board provide
direction to staff and the Advisory Committee in each of the following areas:
1. By MOTION, provide direction to staff on the Board’s current thinking of the MGA’s
role in developing and implementing projects; and
2. By MOTION, provide direction to the Advisory Committee on the Board’s
preferred approach to including projects and management actions in GSP
Sections 4 and 5.

By

___________________________________
Rosemary Menard, Director
City of Santa Cruz Water Department
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Table 1. Summary of Substantive Proposed Amendments to the Bylaws

ARTICLE AND TOPIC

SECTION

ARTICLE 1 - THE AGENCY
SqCWD as Parent Agency

1.4

ARTICLE 2 - BOARD OF DIRECTORS
PWO Terms
2.2.7

Agenda Item 5.5.6

PROPOSED CHANGE & REASON
At its inaugural meeting on March 17, 2016, the MGA Board designated the SqCWD as the Parent
Agency of the MGA. At that meeting, the Board determined when the MGA does not have a governing
policy or procedure, it will by default adhere to those of the SqCWD. This is now been added to the
Bylaws.
This section clarifies the terms for PWO Directors, with a term of appointment for four years, and
provides additional details regarding appointment, expiration of a term, and the establishment of
staggered terms.

ARTICLE 4 - OFFICERS
Elected Officers

4.1

Consistent with amendments to the JPA, Chair, Vice Chair and Secretary are defined as Elected
Officers, distinguished from the Treasurer, who is appointed. The new text clarifies this distinction.

Treasurer

4.7

Relocates former section 6.2 (Treasurer) to 4.7 since the Treasurer is an Officer. Adds reference to
Government Code 6505.6 which includes references to the duties and roles. (further defined in Section
4.7.1)
Adds language regarding the appointment of the treasurer and the appointment and functions of an
auditor; this auditor refers to the staff person performing the functions of an auditor or controller (this
is separate from the independent auditor). Per Gov. Code Section 6505.5 an Agency appoints separate
individuals from the same agency perform these roles. Per Section 6505.6, the Agency may combine
the roles and both roles may be held by one officer or employee.

Treasurer Appointment, Removal

4.7.1

ARTICLE 5 - BD COMMITTEES, ETC.
Committees
5.1

JPA and Bylaws have been aligned to provide more clarity regarding committees. JPA Article 12 now
authorizes the appointment of committees to assist in carrying out the purposes of the MGA, as well as
a few other basic requirements. JPA Article 5 refers to the Bylaws for specifics.

ARTICLE 6 - ADMINISTRATION, MANAGEMENT, STAFFING
Staffing Support for Agency
6.1.1
This section now more clearly defines the terms "Executive Team" and "Executive Staff". Adds language
Officers and Board Members
to further define eligible membership in the Agency’s collaborative management executive team,
Staffing support for
Implementation of the Agency
work plan

6.1.2

In-Kind Contribution of Staff

6.1.2.1

Suggested language to clarify and differentiate between in-kind contributions of Member Agency staff
to the Administrative, Management and Operation of the GSA and the involvement individual or small
groups of Member Agency staff in implementing or supporting implementation of programs and projects
that support the organization as a whole.
Adds language to clarify the In-Kind Contribution of Staff
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ARTICLE AND TOPIC

SECTION

PROPOSED CHANGE & REASON

Reimbursable Contribution of Staff

6.1.2.2

This section has been added to allow compensation to a Member Agency for an MGA activity that
requires a substantial and disproportionate amount of involvement of Member Agency staff in
implementing or supporting the implementation of Agency programs and projects that support the
MGA for which the In-Kind Contribution of Staff (Section 6.1.2.1) is not applicable or equitable.

Reimbursable Contribution of
Treasurer and Finance Staff

6.1.2.3

This section allows for the reimbursement of the Treasurer and finance staff for services in support of
the MGA. This was previously included within the Section 6.2.1.

Administrative Support Staff.

6.1.4

Language added to eliminate the specific reference to the Community Foundation and replace it with a
more general reference providing that executive staff can identify any appropriate approaches to
providing for necessary administrative support for the agency and make recommendations to the Board
to authorize those actions as needed.
Treasurer
6.2
This section was moved Section 4.7 and slightly modified as described above.
6.3
This section was deleted. This Staffing Strategy Review was conducted and is as part of the Board
Staffing Strategy Review
meeting 3/18/21 packet Item 5.5.
ARTICLE 10 - ETHICS AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
Records Retention

9.5

This section adds specifying language regarding disclosures that would violate the privacy rights of
others, would result in or be in furtherance of a conflict of interest, or would be inconsistent with
information protected by the attorney-client privilege, attorney work product, or privileged information
under the Public Records Act.

ARTICLE 10 - ETHICS AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
Conflict of Interest

10.1

Revision bifurcates Article 10 into Sections 10.1 and 10.2. Section 10.1 was updated to reflect that the
MGA adopted a Conflict of Interest Code (COI) and reviews the COI as required by law.

10.2

Added to clarify that each Director is subject to FPPC ethics requirements for elected and local officials,
to provide that a status report on Board FPPC compliance shall be submitted annually to the Baord,
confirm that each Member Agency Director is governed by the ethics policy of the Member Agency it
represents, and that PWO Directors are governed by the ethics policy of the Parent Agency.
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ARTICLE AND TOPIC SECTION

Agenda Item 5.5.7

PROPOSED CHANGE & REASON

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS

1.3

Definitions are updated for clarity and/or for consistency to references to sections of the JPA or Bylaws.

2.1

Language amended to both accurately document prior actions and detail ongoing compliance after an amendment to
the JPA.

2.3

The principal office of the Agency was previously stated in Article 7, Officers (7.3). Article 2 is a more appropriate
location for this information. (organizational)

ARTICLE 2 - THE AGENCY

ARTICLE 6 - BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Appointment of Directors 6.3 & 6.5 Sections 6.3.1 through 6.3.4, and Section 6.5, required that appointments to the MGA Board of Directors be by a
resolution of the board of each Member Agency. The proposed amendment removes the requirement that
appointments be made resolution and allows a Member Agency to follow its appointment protocol.

Term of Appointment

6.5.1

The JPA established that appointments to the MGA Board were for a term of four years, however the standard
protocol for some Member Agencies is to make annual appointments to boards and committees, including the MGA
Board. To reconcile the JPA with the Member Agency practices, the proposed amendment provides that the term of
each director appointed by a Member Agency is established by that Member Agency.

6.5.1

Bifurcates section 6.5 into 6.5.1 Appointments and 6.5.2 Removals for clarity.

6.5.2

Bifurcates section 6.5 into 6.5.1 Appointments and 6.5.2 Removals for clarity.

6.6

To improve clarity, this bifurcate section 6.5 into 6.6.1 Vacancies for Member Agency Directors and 6.6.2 Vacancies
for Private Well Owner Directors.

6.6.1

Bifurcates section 6.5 into 6.6.1 Vacancies for Member Agency Directors and 6.6.2 Vacancies for Private Well Owner
Directors to clarify the distinction between the processes.

6.6.2

Proposed change clarifies that in the event of a Private Well Owner vacancy that the Alternate Director shall fill the
vacancy and serve for the remainder of the term of the departing Director.

OFFICERS

Election and
Appointment of Officers

Article 7 was changed to make a distinction between the Chair, Vice Chair, and Secretary, all officers who are elected
by the Board to annual terms, and the Treasurer, who is appointed pursuant to state law. Article 7 now defines the
Chair, Vice Chair and Secretary as "Elected Officers".

ARTICLE 13 - ACCOUNTING PRACTICES
Fiscal Year
13.1
Updates the JPA to be consistent with fiscal year to be July 1 - June 30 as approved by the Board and in the Bylaws;
all of the Member Agencies use the same fiscal year.
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Table 2. Summary of Substantive Proposed Amendments to the JPA

ARTICLE AND TOPIC SECTION
Appointment Treasurer
and Auditor

Former
14.3

PROPOSED CHANGE & REASON
This provision, regarding the appointment of the Treasurer and Auditor, was moved from Article 13, Accounting
Practices, to Officers, Article 7.
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Agenda Item 5.5.8

Month, Date, Year
RESOLUTION NO. ##
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SANTA CRUZ MIDCOUNTY GROUNDWATER AGENCY
Resolved by the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency consistent with the
approved Bylaws Article 2 the term of appointment for the three Private Well Owner
Director representatives and the Alternate Director are established as the following:
Private Well Owner
Director Seat
Director 1
Director 2
Director 3
Alternate Director

Initial
Term Duration
4 years
4 years
2 years
2 years

Subsequent
Terms Duration
4 years
4 years
4 years
4 years

Effective Date of
Initial Term
Month/Day/Year
Month/Day/Year
Month/Day/Year
Month/Day/Year

Passed and adopted at a meeting of the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency
on Month Date Year.
AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
ABSTAIN:
Authorized Original Signature:

_________________________________

Printed Name: Name
Title: Board Chair

CERTIFICATION
I do hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true, and correct copy of a resolution duly
and regularly adopted at a meeting of the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency
on Month, Date, Year.
Original Signature: _________________________________
Printed Name: Name
Title: Board Secretary
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March 18, 2021
MEMO TO THE MGA BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Subject:

Agenda Item 5.6

Title:

Adopt MGA Board Resolution for ACWA/JPIA Nomination

Attachments:
1.
Letter to MGA dated February 10, 2021
2.
Draft MGA Board Resolution
The attached letter from the General Manager of the San Bernardino Valley Water
Conservation District was received by the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater
Agency (MGA) on March 5, 2021. The letter requests an MGA Board resolution in
support of the nomination of Melody A. McDonald to continue in her position on the
Executive Committee of the Association of Water Agencies/Joint Powers Insurance
Association (AWCA/JPIA).
Director Marani requested that the recommended nomination be placed on the MGA
Board Agenda.
Recommended Board Action:
1. By MOTION and roll call vote, adopt MGA Board Resolution No. 21-01 in
support of the nomination of Melody A. McDonald for a position on the
Executive Committee of the AWCA/JPIA.

By

___________________________________
Tim Carson
Program Director
Regional Water Management Foundation
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Agenda Item 5.6.1
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Agenda Item 5.6.2

March 18, 2021
RESOLUTION NO. 21-01
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SANTA CRUZ MIDCOUNTY GROUNDWATER AGENCY
Resolved by the Board of Directors of the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency
to support of the nomination of Melody A. McDonald as a candidate for the Executive
Committee of the Association of Water Agencies/Joint Powers Insurance Authority
(AWCA/JPIA) for an election to be held at the JPIA Spring 2021 Conference.
Passed and adopted at a meeting of the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency
on March 18, 2021.
AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
ABSTAIN:
Signature:

_________________________________

Printed Name: Dr. Tom LaHue
Title: Board Chair
CERTIFICATION
I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true, and correct copy of a resolution duly
and regularly adopted at a meeting of the Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency
on March 18, 2020.

Signature: _________________________________
Printed Name: Mr. Jim Kerr
Title: Board Secretary
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March 18, 2021
MEMO TO THE MGA BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Subject:

Agenda Item 6.1

Title:

Treasurer’s Report

Attachment:
1. Treasurer’s Report for the Period Ending February 28, 2021
Attached is the Treasurer’s Report for November 2020 through February 2021. The
report contains three sections:
•

•

•

Statement of Changes in Revenues, Expenses and Net Position
o This interim financial statement provides information on the revenue
that has been invoiced to the member agencies and the expenses that
have been recorded as of February 28, 2021.
Statement of Net Position
o This interim financial statement details the cash balance at Wells Fargo
Bank, the membership revenue still owed through accounts receivable,
prepaid expenses such as insurance, and the resulting net income as
reported on the Statement of Changes in Revenues, Expenses and Net
Position from the preceding page.
Warrants
o The list of warrants reflects all payments made by the MGA, either by
check or electronic means, for the period covered by the Treasurer’s
Report.

The Treasurer’s Report will be provided at each board meeting according to statutory
requirement and to promote transparency of the agency’s financial transactions.
Note: the 6th page of the Treasurer’s Report is blank due to text spacing issues but
has not been removed from the packet to maintain page count transparency.
Recommended Board Action:
1. Informational, no action necessary.

By

___________________________________
Leslie Strohm
Treasurer
Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency
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Treasurer's Report

Agenda Item 6.1.1

Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency
For the period ended February 28, 2021

Prepared on

March 2, 2021

Page 190 of 199

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
November 2020 - February 2021

Total
INCOME
Total Income
GROSS PROFIT
EXPENSES
5100 Groundwater Management Services
5210 Rain & Stream Gage Services
5300 Administrative Personnel Services
5315 Office Services
5340 Computer Services
5345 Professional Organizations
5415 Outreach Services
5417 Outreach Services - Design
5515 Audit & Accounting Services
5520 Legal Services
Total Expenses
NET OPERATING INCOME
OTHER INCOME
4400 Grant Revenue

0.00
19,995.00
3,818.55
68,911.36
216.00
780.00
1,397.50
82.96
285.00
7,000.00
1,125.00
103,611.37
-103,611.37
104,601.60

Total Other Income

104,601.60

NET OTHER INCOME

104,601.60

NET INCOME

Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency

$990.23
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2/6

Statement of Net Position
As of February 28, 2021

Total
ASSETS
Current Assets
Bank Accounts
1100 Wells Fargo Business Checking
Total Bank Accounts
Other Current Assets
1400 Prepaid Expenses
Total Other Current Assets
Total Current Assets
TOTAL ASSETS

1,847,154.09
1,847,154.09
1,678.75
1,678.75
1,848,832.84
$1,848,832.84

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable
2100 Accounts Payable

3,920.00

Total Accounts Payable

3,920.00

Total Current Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Equity
3100 Retained Earnings
Net Income
Total Equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency

3,920.00
3,920.00
1,967,046.05
-122,133.21
1,844,912.84
$1,848,832.84
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Warrants
November 2020 - February 2021

Date

Transaction Type

Num Name

Memo/Description

Clr

Amount

Bill Payment (Check)
02/25/2021

Bill Payment (Check)

Errol L Montgomery &
10223 Associates Inc

GSP services

-19,995.00
-19,995.00

02/25/2021

Bill Payment (Check)

Regional Water Management
10224 Foundation

Administration/GSP support

-9,118.01
-9,118.01

02/25/2021

Bill Payment (Check)

10225 Soquel Creek Water District (2) Quickbooks, Mailchimp, Audit

-3,772.97
-3,772.97

02/25/2021

Bill Payment (Check)

10226 Trout Unlimited Inc

Stream monitoring

-3,818.55
-3,818.55

01/22/2021

Bill Payment (Check)

Regional Water Management
10222 Foundation

Administration/GSP support

R

-26,264.05
-26,264.05

12/08/2020

Bill Payment (Check)

County of Santa Cruz (County
10217 Counsel)

Legal services

R

-500.00
-500.00

Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency
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4/6

Date

Transaction Type

12/08/2020

Bill Payment (Check)

Num Name
10218 Mary Edith Ingraham

Memo/Description

Clr

Amount

Website updates

R

-285.00
-285.00

12/08/2020

Bill Payment (Check)

Regional Water Management
10219 Foundation

Administration/GSP support

R

-33,529.30
-33,529.30

12/08/2020

Bill Payment (Check)

Quickbooks, Mailchimp, Audit,
10220 Soquel Creek Water District (2) Webhosting

R

-4,179.98
-4,179.98

12/08/2020

Bill Payment (Check)

10221 Trout Unlimited Inc

Stream monitoring

R

-5,434.23
-5,434.23

Expense
01/06/2021

Expense

US002PR77Q Google - Online Payments

G Suite Subscription

R

Google Payment - G Suit

12/07/2020

Expense

US002Mydhd Google - Online Payments

G Suite Subscription

72.00

R

Google Payment - G Suit

11/13/2020

Expense

US002Kbihl Google - Online Payments

G Suite Subscription

-72.00
72.00

R

Google Payment - G Suit

Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency

-72.00

-72.00
72.00
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5/6

Date

Transaction Type

Santa Cruz Mid-County Groundwater Agency

Num Name

Memo/Description

Clr

Amount
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Agenda Item 8.1

Public Comment for MidCounty Groundwater Agency
Board Meeting November 19, 2020 Agenda
Inbox
Becky Steinbruner <ki6tkb@yahoo.com>

Sun, Nov 22, 2020,
12:40 AM

to MidCounty, Becky
Dear MidCounty Groundwater Administrator,
I thought that my comments below had been sent to the MGA Board in advance of the Novemer 19, 2020
meeting, but in now reviewing my correspondence, I have discovered that there was a problem with my
internet service and it was not sent. Therefore, I am sending this now, with additional comment included
relevant to actions taken by the Board in order to register my opinions and questions in writing for the
record.
Since most of the questions and requests for clarification that I posed in oral testimony to the Board
during the November 19 meeting were not addressed, I respectfully request that you answer in
writing the questions that I ask below.

I continue to feel the issue of the deadline for public correspondence to the Board is unrealistic. On
November 13, I received the agenda packet for the November 19 Board meeting. However, in order for
me effectively correspond in writing on any issue on the agenda, it was too late. I would have had to
submit my letter on Monday, November 9 by 4pm.
While I appreciate the updates to the Public Participation Policy, requiring the administrator to check for
e-mail messages regularly after the public might receive the meeting materials, there is nothing in the
policy to require the administrator to forward actual communication to the Directors as "Late
Correspondence".
Please include a further update regading the issue of "Late Correspondence", requiring the actual
correspondence be forwarded to the Board, rather than a notification that it exists on the website.
I also wonder how the public is to submit materials to the Board during the meetings, now that the
meetings are held only remotely? There is no instruction provided for real-time submission of
correspondence to the Board that would guarantee the Board would receive it immediately before or
during the meeting should someone want to submit critical information at that time.
Who is the recipient of the "comment@midcountygroundwater.org"? The U.S. Mail address provided is
directed to Ms. Emma Olin, the Board Clerk for Soquel Creek Water District, and therefore one must
assume that she is the person also handling the e-mail correspondence. Her office duties cease at 5pm
and therefore seemingly any email correspondence sent to "comment" after 5pm on the day of the MGA
Board meeting would not be seen until the next business day.
Here is the new Public Participation Policy your Board just approved:
NEW GUIDELINES FOR COMMUNICATION (Agenda Item 4.3.1)
Deadlines for Submittal:
• Written communications received by 4:00 p.m. on the Tuesday of the week prior to a regularly
scheduled (Thursday) Board meeting will be posted on the MGA website and included in the Board
meeting materials packet.
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• Written communications received after the 4:00 p.m. deadline will be posted on the MGA website and
Board members informed of the communications at the earliest opportunity.
• Written communications received after the Board meeting materials packet has been distributed will be
posted on the MGA website and Board members informed of the communications at the earliest
opportunity.
• Please note, communications received after 9:00am the day before the Board Meeting may not have
time to reach Board members, nor be read by them prior to consideration of an item.
• Written communications received at a Board meeting will be distributed to Board members and posted
on the MGA website at the earliest possibility.

Item 5.1
Approve Consultant Selection and Planning and Technical Services for Groundwater Sustainability Plan
Implementation and Reporting Professional Services Agreement
I am disappointed the MGA Executive Committee chose to award the contract to Montgomery &
Associates and question whether there is a Conflict of Interest involved regarding Soquel Creek Water
District's potential benefit of work for the PureWater Soquel Project. M & A did all the modeling work for
the PureWater Soquel Project, and could likely have a conflict in assuming the data analysis of any work
for the MidCounty Groundwater Agency to support their modeling of the PureWater Soquel Project.
19. Conflict of Interest. (page 37)
Consultant, for Consultant and on behalf of Consultant’s agents, employees, and subcontractors
warrants that by execution of this Agreement that they have no interest, present or contemplated,
in the projects affected by this Agreement. Consultant further warrants that neither Consultant, nor
Consultant’s agents, employees, and subcontractors have any ancillary real property, business interests,
or income that shall be affected by this Agreement or, alternatively, that Consultant shall file with MGA
an affidavit disclosing this interest.
The MGA hosted an optional online question and answer session on October 5, 2020. Representatives
from multiple firms attended, including: Montgomery & Associates (M&A); EKI Environment & Water, Inc.;
cbec, inc. eco engineering; and Freeman Hydrologic Data Services, LLC.
(page 17)
Accordingly, the criteria for selecting the contract recipient for this work is (page 30):
4.3 SoQ Ranking and Award The MGA evaluation committee will open and review the proposals in
confidence and may request additional information from the respondents. Consultants will be evaluated
on all information collected by the MGA. Evaluation criteria and weighting used to select the consultant
will include the following:
1. Qualifications of Consultant and proposed key personnel (20%)
2. Knowledge of SGMA and Reporting Requirements (20%)
3. Consultant’s demonstrated experience with similar projects or programs (40%)
4. Client References: Apparent ability to provide services as needed (10%)
5. Clarity and completeness of the SoQ (10%)
This Board agenda packet does not include any information submitted by the other companies
interested in this contract. How can the MidCounty Groudwater Agency Board make an effective
decision to award the contract if there is abolutely no information provided to you regarding the
other potential contractors who submitted and SoQ?
It seems the reason the other contractors did not submit an SoQ was because the MGA Executive
Committee had unanimously decided that Montgomery & Associates was the best qualified.

Page 197 of 199

The Novbember 19, 2020 Board agenda packet should have included the other contaractor
information that lead to supporting the Executive Committee's unanimous decision, subsequently
limiting the SoQ responses.
I feel that Soquel Creek Water District General Manager Ron Duncan, who is part of the Executive
Committee, had a conflict of interest in participating in this unanimous decision because
Montgomery & Associates is under contract by the District to do all the supportive modeling for
the District's PureWater Soquel Project. Work that the MGA will pay to have done would directly
benefit the District, possibly reducing the costs for work that would need to be done inherent to
permitting and mitigations related to their Project.
I respectfully request that the MGA Board continue this matter until complete information is submitted for
your review to justify awarding the contract to Montgomery & Associates, and that you publicly discuss
the issue of potential conflict of interest regarding that contractor.

ITEM 5.3
Affirm the Approach to Near-Term Groundwater Sustainability Plan (GSP) Implementation Activities for
Basin Monitoring and Data Management
I am concerned about the costs of the proposed private well metering program and how the costs
to install meters are seemingly not supported by the MGA. Who will pay for the private well
metering, data collection and analysis? Small water company owners are already taxed for time
and resources.
How will the County administer and maintain this program?
What will the MGA/County do if no private well owners are willing to cooperate?
What will happen when the $165,000 grant funding is exhausted? The Board did not discuss this
publicly during the November 19, 2020 meeting.
How will the MGA implement the proposed well metering program?

(page 140):
Groundwater Extraction Metering Program Consistent with the GSP (Section 3.3.4.3 Groundwater
Extraction Monitoring Data Gaps), the MGA will develop and implement a well metering program to
facilitate consistent and reliable reporting of volumetric data on groundwater usage from certain non-de
minimis users (users with annual groundwater extraction greater than 2 acre-feet) in the Basin. The
program will apply to two categories of users: (1) all pumping operations expected to extract more than 5
acre-feet per year, and (2) all non-de minimis pumping operations within priority management zones as
defined by the County of Santa Cruz and pending approval from the MGA Board. This program is
intended to provide reliable extraction data to inform management and groundwater modeling of the
Basin and to provide new data on pumping that may impact seawater intrusion or an interconnected
stream where groundwater dependent ecosystems are identified in the GSP.
Grant funding will support technical consultant(s) and the County of Santa Cruz Environmental Health
Water Resources Division staff in conducting this task. Additional support, as needed, may also be
provided by MGA member agency staff. This work will be principally funded by the Sustainable
Groundwater Management Program grant from DWR. Work will initiate in 2021. A Groundwater Extraction
Metering Plan is anticipated to be done in summer 2021, followed by launch of the Program. The Year 1
annual reporting summary is anticipated in late summer 2022.
New Monitoring Wells
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Will the historic information gathered by the USGS stream monitoring be made available for the
data analysis and baseline models?
Collaboration with Neighboring GSA's (page 140)
GSAs (Partner Agencies) to develop a Countywide DMS. The approach provides greater efficiencies in
terms of cost and effort and provides greater utility overall in terms of data available to inform
management of both basins and access to data. The MGA informed the DWR SGMA Program managers
of the proposed approach and they indicated their support for the GSAs coordinated approach. MGA
representatives also meet with staff from PV Water, the GSA for the Pajaro Valley Basin, to inform them
of the coordinated approach and gage their potential interest in participating. PV Water is not interested in
participating at this time but staff expressed interest in being kept informed of the progress on the DMS
development.
Why doesn't the MGA use the same platform as the Pajaro Valley Water Management Agency to
encourage that agency to participate in seamless data sharing for a Countywide Data
Management System?

If the MGA is going to pay for implementing the Data Management System program, why is the
County sending the award of the contract to the Board of Supervisors for approval in January,
2021 without the MGA Board review and approval?
(page 151): Timeline
Proposals Due November 12, 2020 at 4:00 p.m.
Interviews November 18, 2020
Selection Recommendation November 20, 2020
Contract to Board of Supervisors January, 2021
WORK PLAN FROM GRANT (page 153)
Constrtuct new stream gauges and monitoring wells
. Install a minimum of five (5) groundwater wells and a minimum of three (3) stream gages at RMPs
identified in the GSP
Is there enough money from the State Dept. of Water Resources Grant to fund this construction?

Item 5.3: Approval to apply for Prop. 68 GSP Implementation Grant
I protest the MGA Board approval to spend a 25% match to apply for a grant application to support
PureWater Soquel Project by $2-$5 million when there is a real financial need to implement new
monitoring well and stream guage projects that would benefit the Basin GSP process. The Board has
consistently stated the MGA does not do projects, and that it is up to the agencies within the MGA
to fund their own projects.
If the MGA is awarded $5 million in Prop. 68 grant funding, the MGA would have to spend $1,250,000 to
help pay for the PureWater Soquel Project. That would be absolutely counter to MGA policy.
The Board's approval of this item, without any oversight regarding the projects included in the application,
sets a dangerous precedent for any and all other member jurisdictions to return to the Board in the future
to ask for funding their jurisdictional projects. I respectfully request that the only projects included in the
Prop. 68 Round 1 grant application for Basin GSP implementation be the new monitoring wells and
stream gauge stations described in the draft GSP currently under consideration by the State.
Please respond in writing to my questions stated herein. Thank you.
Sincerely,
Becky Steinbruner
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